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UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K

A ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934.

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 20:

a TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE

ACT OF 1934.
For the transition period from to
Commission file number 000-50350
NETGEAR, Inc.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its cegrt
Delaware 77-0419172
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
incorporation or organization Identification No.,

350 East Plumeria Drive,
San Jose, California 95134
(Address of principal executive offict (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code
(408) 907-8000

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) dlfie Act:

Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registered
Common Stock, par value $0.0 The NASDAQ Stock Market LL(
(NASDAQ Global Select Marke

Securities registered pursuant to 12(g) of the ActNone
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a vielbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405edBdturities Act.  Yesd No

O

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuiegd to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®ecl5(d) of the Act. Yes[ No
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant @b filed all reports required to be filed by Sewti® or 15(d) of the Securities Excha
Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (ordioch shorter period that the registrant was requaodile such reports), and (2) has been
subject to such filing requirements for the pastigs. Yes™ No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant lisnétted electronically and posted on its corpo¥absite, if any, every Interactive
Data File required to be submitted and posted fumsto Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (8232.405 of dtiapter) during the preceding 12 months
(or for such shorter period that the registrant veagiired to submit and post such files). YEk No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquiletrs pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K i¢ oontained herein, and will not be
contained, to the best of Registrant’s knowledgeldfinitive proxy or information statements incorated by reference in Part 1l of this
Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-Kl

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlerge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, noa-accelerated filer, or a smaller
reporting company. See definitions of “large acakd filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller refiog company” in Rule 12b-2 of the
Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated fileid Accelerated filer O Non-accelerated filerJ Smaller reporting company
Indicate by check mark whether the registrantseell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the )Actyes O No M

The aggregate market value of the voting and ndmg@ommon equity held by non-affiliates of thegirant as of July 3, 2011 was
approximately $905.9 million. Such aggregate maviedie was computed by reference to the closingepf the common stock as reported on
the Nasdaq Global Select Market on July 1, 2014 I@bkt business day of the Registrant’s most rgceaimpleted fiscal second quarter).
Shares of common stock held by each executiveasféiad director and each entity that owns 5% orenobthe outstanding common stock
have been excluded in that such persons may beadktnioe affiliates. The determination of affilistatus is not necessarily a conclusive
determination for other purpose



The number of outstanding shares of the regiss@@®mmon Stock, $0.001 par value, was 37,803,28@&slas of February 21, 2012.
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PART I

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Form 10-K”), imdling Management’s Discussion and Analysis of FarglrCondition and Results
of Operations in Part Il, ltem 7 below, includes/dard-looking statements within the meaning of ®&c7A of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchangef 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”).sdditements other than statements of
historical facts contained in this Form 10-K, irdihg statements regarding our future financial fp@sj business strategy and plans and
objectives of management for future operationsf@mgard-looking statements. The words “believayidy,” “will,” “estimate,” “continue,”
“anticipate,” “i should,” “plan,” “expectand similar expressions, as they relate to usn&eaded to identify forward-looking

” o ”

intend,
statements. We have based these forward-lookibgnséants largely on our current expectations angeptions about future events and
financial trends that we believe may affect ouafinial condition, results of operations, businésgegy and financial needs. These forward-
looking statements are subject to a number of riskeertainties and assumptions described in “Rédtors” in Part |, Iltem 1A below, and
elsewhere in this Form 10-K, including, among otimémgs: the future growth of the commercial buss)eetail, and broadband service
provider markets; speed of adoption of wirelessvoeting worldwide; our business strategies and tigraent plans; our successful
introduction of new products and technologies; fertoperating expenses and financing requirementscampetition and competitive factors
in the commercial business, retail, and broadbamndce provider markets. In light of these riskscertainties and assumptions, the forward-
looking events and circumstances discussed irFiris 10-K may not occur and actual results coutiizidmaterially from those anticipated or
implied in the forward-looking statements. All faavd-looking statements in this Form 10-K are basedthformation available to us as of the
date hereof and we assume no obligation to upagteech forwardeoking statements. The following discussion shdaddead in conjunctic
with our consolidated financial statements andatt@mpanying notes contained in this Form 10-K.

Item 1. Business
General

We are a global networking company that deliver®irative products to consumers, businesses anitsgmoviders. In the second fisi
quarter of 2011, we made organizational changesatbdelieve enable us to better focus our effontgore customer segments and allow us to
be more nimble and opportunistic as a company dv€rar business is now managed in three specifgiriess units: retail, commercial, and
service provider. The retail business unit congiétsigh performance, dependable and easy-to-use metworking, storage and digital media
products to connect users with the Internet anil tomtent and devices. The commercial businegscamnisists of business networking, storage
and security solutions without the cost and comiptedf Big IT. The service provider business urdnsists of made-to-order and retail proven,
whole home networking solutions sold to servicevters for sale to their customers. Additionally the first fiscal quarter of 2011, we
combined our North American, Central American andt8§ American sales forces to form the Americasttey. Previously, North America
was its own geographic region and the Central Acagrand South American territories were categonizéltin the Asia Pacific (“APAC”)
geographic region. Following this change, we ane nogganized into the following three geographiciteries: Americas, Europe, Middle-East
and Africa (‘EMEA”") and APAC. For further detailefer to Note 12Segment Information, Operations by Geographic Aneé Customer
Concentration in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statementgeim 8 of Part Il of this Annual Report on Form KO-

We were incorporated in Delaware on January 8, 1928 principal executive offices are located & &ast Plumeria Drive, San Jose,
California 95134, and our telephone number atltiattion is (408) 907-8000. Our website addresensv.netgear.com.

In the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010, ar@, 2@0generated net revenue of $1.18 billion, $b@allion, and $686.6 million,
respectively.
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Markets

Our goal is to be the leading provider of innovathetworking products to the consumer, businesssarvice provider markets. A
number of factors are driving today’s demand fdwoeking products within these markets. As the nandf computing devices, such as PCs,
smart phones and tablet computers, has increasedént years, networks—especially WiFi networkse-zging deployed more broadly in
order to share information and resources among @set devices. This information and resource sparacurs internally, through a local area
network, or externally, via the Internet. To takivantage of complex applications, advanced comnatioic capabilities and rich multimedia
content, users are upgrading their Internet commesby deploying high-speed broadband access témdies. Users also seek the convenience
and flexibility of operating their PCs, laptops,atnphones, tablet computers and related compdgnges while accessing their content in a
more mobile, or wireless, manner. In addition, neademand for television connectivity products imaseased significantly as well, where
users seek to connect their televisions to thereteand for entertainment content. Finally, asus&ge of networks, including the Internet, has
increased, users have become much more focusdek @eturity of their connections and the protecatibtihe data within their networks.

Consumers, businesses and service providers demeomplete set of wired and wireless networking lamédband products that are
tailored to their specific needs and budgets agd i@lcorporate the latest networking technolodi&®se users require the continual
introduction of new and refined products and ofterk extensive IT resources and technical knowled@gerefore, they demand ‘plug-and-
play’ or easy-to-install and use products that meglittle or no maintenance, and customer sergitg support. We believe that these users also
prefer the convenience of obtaining a networkingtsan from a single company with whom they are iiéar as these users expand their
networks, they tend to be loyal purchasers oflthand. In addition, purchasing decisions of usethése markets are also driven by the
affordability of networking products. To providdiable, easy-to-use products at an attractive prieebelieve a successful supplier must have
a company-wide focus on the unique requirementsexfe markets, operational discipline and costiefit infrastructure and processes that
allow for efficient product development, manufagtgrand distribution.

Sales Channels

We sell our products through multiple sales chasmerldwide, including traditional retailers, ordimetailers, wholesale distributors,
direct market resellers (“DMRSs”), value-added rkegsl(“VARS”), and broadband service providers.

Wholesale DistributionOur distribution channel supplies our productsetaiters, e-commerce resellers, Direct Market Rexseénd
Value Added Resellers. We sell directly to ourriisttors, the largest of which are Ingram Microg.land Tech Data Corporation.

Retailers.Our retail channel primarily supplies products taia sold into the consumer market. We sell diyect| or enter into
consignment arrangements with, a number of ouittoadl retailers. The remaining traditional re¢ad, as well as our online retailers, are
fulfilled through wholesale distributors. We workettly with our retail channels on market devel@mnactivities, such as co-advertising, in-
store promotions and demonstrations, instant rglraigrams, event sponsorship and sales asso@atimty, as well as establishing “store
within a store” websites and banner advertising.

DMRs and VAR3$Ne primarily sell into the commercial business neppkace through an extensive network of DMRs andRgAOur
DMRs include companies such as CDW and Insight. ¥ARIlude our network of registered Powershift Rend, and resellers that are not
registered in our Powershift partner program. DNMIRd VARs may receive sales incentives, marketipgpstt and other program benefits fr
us. Our DMRs and VARs generally purchase our prtsicough our wholesale distributors.

Broadband Service Providerd/e also supply our products directly to broadbaaratise providers in the United States and
internationally. Service providers supply our proguo their business and home subscribers.

2
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The largest portion of our net revenues was derik@d Americas sales in the year ended Decembe2@ll]. The Americas sales as a
percentage of net revenue decreased from 51.7Beipetar ended December 31, 2010 to 49.7% in theeymbed December 31, 2011. We have
committed resources to expanding our internatioparations and sales channels. Accordingly, wealbgect to a number of risks related to
international operations such as macroeconomiar@ombeconomic conditions, geopolitical instabilipreference for locally branded products,
exchange rate fluctuations, increased difficultynanaging inventory, challenges of staffing and agamg foreign operations, the effect of
international sales on our tax structure, and ceatiglocal tax laws. See Note B=2gment Information, Operations by Geographic Axnec
Customer Concentrationin Notes to Consolidated Financial Statementgeim 8 of Part Il of this Annual Report on Form KQfor further
discussion of net revenues by geographic region.

Retail company Best Buy, Inc. and distributor Ingrilicro, Inc. each accounted for 10% or greatesiofnet revenues in the years en
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009. See Not&d@nent Information, Operations by Geographic Anes Customer Concentratigrn Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8at R of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, for fher details on customer concentrations.

Product Offerings
Our product line consists of wired and wirelessides, including devices that enable commerciali®rss networking, broadband access,
network connectivity, network storage and secuajipliances. These products are available in maltphfigurations to address the needs of
our customers in each geographic region in whighpooducts are sold.
Commercial business networkinghese products include:
» Ethernet switches, which are multiple port devigesd to network PCs and peripherals via Ethernéhgyi

»  Wireless controllers, which are devices used toagarand control multiple WiFi base stations whithuirn provide WiFi
connections to PCs and peripher.

» Internet Security Appliances, which provide Intéraecess through capabilities such as-virus and an-spam; anc

* network attached storage, which enables file sgaimong multiple PCs and other networked devices avocal area networ
Broadband acces&roadband is a transmission medium capable of ngowiare digital content over public high speed neksdhan

traditional low speed telephone lines. Productséhable broadband access include:

* routers, which connect the home or office netwadkthe Internet via broadband model

» gateways, which are routers with integrated modéondnternet acces:

» |P telephony products, used for transmitting vaioenmunications over a network; a

* Media servers, which store files and multimediatennfor access by PCs, laptops, smart phonesthed lmternet enabled device

Network connectivityProducts that enable network connectivity and resosharing include:
» wireless access points and range extenders, whislide a wireless link between a wired network ametless devices
» wireless network interface cards and adapters, wiiable devices to be connected to the networdegisly;
» Ethernet network interface cards and adapters,wdri@ble devices to be connected to the networkEWeernet wiring

3
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» media adapters, which connect non PC entertaindentes such as TVs, audio players, and game cessob network
» powerline adapters and bridges, which enable dst@ee connected to the network over existingtetad wiring; and

» Multimedia over Coax Alliance standar*MoCA”) adapters and bridges, which enable devices to tweeoted to the network ov
existing coaxial wiring

We design our products to meet the specific neétteecconsumer, business and service provider nsrialoring various elements of
the product design, including component speciftegtphysical characteristics such as casing, desigrcoloration, and specific user interface
features to meet the needs of these markets. Wdealsrage many of our technological developméhitd) volume manufacturing, technical
support and engineering infrastructure across @rkets to maximize business efficiencies.

Our products that target the business market arergy designed with an industrial appearancdudiog metal cases and, for some
product categories, the ability to mount the praduithin standard data networking racks. These petgltypically include higher port counts,
higher data transfer rates and other performanasacteristics designed to meet the needs of a coohbusiness user. For example, we offer
data transfer rates up to ten Gigabits per secondur business products to meet the higher capeagjuirements of business users. Some of
these products are also designed to support trasgmimodes such as fiber optic cabling, whicloimmon in more sophisticated business
environments. Security requirements within our jpicid for commercial business broadband accessdiadirewall, virtual private network ar
content threat management capabilities that altmveécure interactions between remote offices aisthbss headquarter locations over the
Internet. Our connectivity product offerings foetbommercial business market include enhancedigeand remote configurability often
required in a business setting. Our ReadyNAS fapfilyetwork attached storage products implementgnéant array of independent disks
data protection, enabling businesses to store aytdqt critical data easily, efficiently and intgéntly.

Our products for the consumer and service provitrkets are generally designed with pleasing viandlphysical aesthetics that are
more desirable in a home environment. Our conniggtiferings for the consumer market are generatlg lower price than higher security
and configurability wireless offerings for the busss market. Our products for facilitating broadbaocess in the home are available with
features such as parental control capabilitiesfaedall security, to allow for safer, more contesl Internet usage in families with children.
Our broadband products designed for the home matketcontain installation software that guidesss Isophisticated user through the
installation process with their broadband servia®/jgler, using a graphical user interface and séngalint and click operations. Our
connectivity product offerings for the consumer kedinclude powerline and MoCA data transmissiorde®) which allow home users to take
advantage of their existing electrical or coaxiaing infrastructure for transmitting data amondwerk components.

Our vision for the home network has always beerugabaving all devices connected to the Internetlatmes. Recently, our focus has
been to continue to introduce new products intotwrebelieve are five new growth areas: First, Dvirectivity products such as our new
Push2TV HD edition announced jointly with Intelthé 2011 International Consumer Electronics Shayep8d, network attached storage
products with enhanced user interfaces, higherdigpand resilience; Third, security applianced thgport more users; Fourth, DOCSIS 3.0
gateways with more integrated functions; and Fiftke, 4G/Long Term Evolution (“LTE”) related repeat@nd routers. We continue to
announce and introduce new products in these ggnifgrowth markets.

Competition

The consumer, business and service provider masketsitensely competitive and subject to rapitinetogical change. We expect
competition to continue to intensify. Our princigalmpetitors include:

» within the consumer markets, companies such aseA@alkin, C-Link, the Linksys division of Cisco Systems, RolkwdaNesterr
Digital; and
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« within the business markets, companies such asd\llielesys, Barracuda, Buffalo, Data Robotics,,@-Link, Fortinet, Hewle*-
Packard, Huawei, Cisco Systems, the Linksys dimisibCisco Systems, QNAP Systems, Seagate TechyndbmmicWALL,
Synology, WatchGuard and Western Digital; i

» within the service provider markets, companies agActiontec, ARRIS, Comtrend, D-Link, Hitron, Hue, Motorola, Pace,
Sagem, Scientific Atlan-a Cisco company, SMC Networks, TechniColor, Ubemn@al Broadband, ZTE and ZyXEl

Other current and potential competitors include etous local vendors such as Devolo, LEA and AVNEirope, Corega and Melco in
Japan and TP-Link in China. Our potential compgsitdso include other consumer electronics vendoecgjding LG Electronics, Microsoft,
Panasonic, Samsung, Sony, Toshiba and Vizio, whttldotegrate networking and streaming capabiliitieés their line of products, such as
televisions, set top boxes and gaming consolespandhannel customers who may decide to offertsalided networking products. We also
face competition from service providers who maydiara free networking device with their broadbaer/ge offering, which would reduce
our sales if we are not the supplier of choicentuse service providers. In the service providecspae are also facing significant and increi
competition from original design manufacturersO@M’s, and contract manufacturers who are selling attempting to sell their products
directly to service providers around the world.

Many of our existing and potential competitors hireyer operating histories, greater name recagniéind substantially greater
financial, technical, sales, marketing and otheoueces. As a result, they may have more advaeobtology, larger distribution channels,
stronger brand names, better customer service@®sito more customers than we do. For exampleleittePackard has significant brand
name recognition and has an advertising preseritastially greater than ours. Similarly, Ciscot8yss is well recognized as a leader in
providing networking products to businesses andshastantially greater financial resources thardaeSeveral of our competitors, such as the
Linksys division of Cisco Systems andLink, offer a range of products that directly cortgperith most of our product offerings. Several af
other competitors primarily compete in a more ledimanner. For example, Hewlett-Packard sells n&ing products primarily targeted at
larger businesses or enterprises. However, the ettinp environment in which we operate change&igpOther large companies with
significant resources could become direct compstiteither through acquiring a competitor or thiougernal efforts.

We believe that the principal competitive factardhie consumer, business and service provider rsafdenetworking products include
product breadth, size and scope of the sales chdraad name, timeliness of new product introdurddi product availability, performance,
features, functionality and reliability, price, easf-installation, maintenance and use, and custeerice and support. We believe our
products are competitive in these markets basdtese factors.

To remain competitive, we believe we must inveghsicant resources in developing new productsemtincing our current products
while continuing to expand our sales channels aamht@ining customer satisfaction worldwide.

Research and Development

As of December 31, 2011, we had 224 employees edgagesearch and development. We believe thasueeess depends on our
ability to develop products that meet changing mesrds and to anticipate and proactively respomddtving technology in a timely and cost-
effective manner. Accordingly, we have made investts in our research and development departmentiar to effectively evaluate new
third-party technologies, develop newhiouse technologies, and develop and test new prgdDar research and development employees
closely with our technology and manufacturing parsrto bring our products to market in a timelghhguality and cost-efficient manner.
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We identify, qualify or self-develop new technolegji and we work closely with our various technoleggpliers and manufacturing
partners to develop products using one or moraeflevelopment methodologies described below.

ODM. Under the original design manufacturer (“ODM"), imetlology, we define the product concept and spetifin and recommend
the technology selection. We then coordinate withtechnology suppliers while they develop the pidneeting our specification. On cert
new products, one or more subsystems of the desigie done in-house and then integrated in wéhrémaining design pieces from the
ODM. Once prototypes are completed, we work withgartners to complete the debugging and systetagriation and testing. After
completion of the final tests, agency approvals @modluct documentation, the product is releasegifoduction.

In-House Developmenitinder the in-house development model, one or mavsystems of the product are designed and developed
utilizing the NEGEAR engineering team. Under thigdal, some of the primary technology is developetduse. We then work closely with
either an ODM or a contract manufacturer to congpleé development of the entire design, perforrmmessary testing, and obtain regula
approvals before the product is released for proloc

OEM. Under the original equipment manufacturer (“OEMtjethodology, which we use for a limited number mfducts, we define the
product specification and then purchase the proflast OEM suppliers that have existing productsriit our design requirements. In some
cases, once a technology supplier’s product ictalewe work with the OEM supplier to complete tlosmetic changes to fit into our
mechanical and packaging design, as well as ourrdentation and graphical user interface (“GUI"anstard. The OEM supplier completes
regulatory approvals on our behalf. When all desigrrification and regulatory testing is completda product is released for production.

Our internal research and development efforts facudeveloping and improving the usability, rellapi functionality, cost and
performance of our products. Our total researchdaw&lopment expenses were $48.7 million in 2040,&million in 2010 and $30.1 million
in 2009.

Manufacturing

Our primary manufacturers are Cameo Communications Delta Networks Incorporated, Hon Hai Preaisindustry Co., Ltd. (more
commonly known as Foxconn Corporation), SerComnp@ation, and Unihan Corporation (which was spunodlASUSTek Computer, Inc.
in January 2008), all of which are headquarterefaimvan. The actual manufacturing of our producsues primarily in mainland China and
Vietnam, with pilot and low-volume manufacturingTiaiwan on a select basis. We distribute our martufang among these key suppliers to
avoid excessive concentration with a single suppBecause substantially all of our manufacturingws in mainland China and Vietnam, any
disruptions from natural disasters, health epideraitd political, social and economic instabilityuMbaffect the ability of our ODMs to
manufacture our products. In addition, our ODM€&hina have continued to increase our costs of mtimhy particularly in the recent year.
These increased costs have affected our marginataliy to lower prices for our products to staympetitive. If our manufacturers or
warehousing facilities are disrupted or destroyeslwould have no other readily available alterregifor manufacturing our products and our
business would be significantly impacted. In additio their responsibility for the manufacturingaafr products, our manufacturers purchase
all necessary parts and materials to produce cdmglrished goods. To maintain quality standamtsolir suppliers, we have established our
own product quality organization based in Hong Kang mainland China. They are responsible for angland inspecting process and pro
quality on the premises of our ODMs and OEMSs.

We obtain several key components from limited de sources. For example, many of the semiconduettiameta materials used in our
products are designed for use in our products amdlatained from sole source suppliers on a puscheger basis. In addition, some
components that are used in all our products atiesroda
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from limited sources. These components include eotan jacks, plastic casings and physical layersitaivers. We also obtain switching fat
semiconductors, which are used in our Ethernetche#t and Internet gateway products, and wireless &rea network chipsets, which are
in all of our wireless products, from a limited nipen of suppliers. Our third party manufacturersegelty purchase these components on our
behalf on a purchase order basis. If these sofadds satisfy our supply requirements, our abitid meet scheduled product deliveries would
be harmed and we may lose sales and experien@agez component costs.

We currently outsource warehousing and distribukimistics to five main third-party providers wheaesponsible for warehousing,
distribution logistics and order fulfillment. In diion, these parties are also responsible for soonéiguration and r@ackaging of our produc
including bundling components to form kits, insegtiappropriate documentation, disk drive configorgtand adding power adapters. APL
Logistics Americas, Ltd. in City of Industry, Calihia serves the Americas region, Kerry Logistitd. lin Hong Kong serves the Asia Pacific
region, DSV Solutions B.V. and ModusLink B.V. irethetherlands serve the EMEA, region and Agilityistics Pty Ltd. in Matraville, NSV
Australia which serves Australia and New Zealand.

Sales and Marketing

As of December 31, 2011, we had 357 employees edgagsales and marketing. We work directly with oustomers on market
development activities, such as co-advertisingstare promotions and demonstrations, instant rglragrams, event sponsorship and sales
associate training. We also participate in majdustry trade shows and marketing events. Our mackeepartment is comprised of our
product marketing and corporate marketing groups.

Our product marketing group focuses on productessa product development roadmaps, the new prddtroduction process, product
lifecycle management, demand assessment and coingatialysis. The group works closely with ouresadnd research and development
groups to align our product development roadmapéet customer technology demands from a strateggppctive. The group also ensures
that product development activities, product laws;ithannel marketing program activities, and amggdemand and supply planning occur in
a well-managed, timely basis in coordination withi development, manufacturing, and sales groupsetisas our ODM, OEM and sales
channel partners.

Our corporate marketing group is responsible fdiniteg and building our corporate brand. The gréaguses on defining our mission,
brand promise and marketing messages on a worldveédis. This group also defines the marketing agves in the areas of advertising,
public relations, events, channel programs andaalr delivery mechanisms. These marketing messagkamproaches are customized for the
commercial business, home user, and broadbandegravider markets through a variety of delivemcimanisms designed to effectively
reach end-users in a cost-efficient manner.

We conduct most of our international sales and etar§ operations through wholly-owned subsidiavignéch operate via sales and
marketing subsidiaries and branch offices worldwide

Customer Support

We design our products with “plug and pladse of use. We respond globally to customer questhrough a variety of venues incluc
phone, chat and email. Customers can also gehshifservice through the comprehensive knowledgebad the user forum on our website.
Customer support is provided through a combinatifom limited number of permanent employees andfiseibcontracted, out-sourced
resources. Our permanent employees design ouritatisapport database and are responsible foritigaend managing our outsourced sub-
contractors. They also handle escalations fromothsourced resources. We utilize the informationeghfrom customers by our customer
support organization to enhance our product offgrimcluding further simplifying the installatigmocess.
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Intellectual Property

We believe that our continued success will depeirdarily on the technical expertise, speed of tetbgy implementation, creative ski
and management abilities of our officers and keplegees, plus ownership of a limited but importseit of copyrights, trademarks, trade
secrets and patents. We primarily rely on a contlainaf copyright, trademark and trade secret aatenqt laws, nondisclosure agreements
employees, consultants and suppliers and otheramgngl provisions to establish, maintain and ptoterr proprietary rights. We hold 43 iss|
United States patents that expire between year3 @0d 2028 and 19 foreign patents that expire 2012 and 2026. In addition, we
currently have a number of pending United Statesfareign patent applications related to technolaggl products offered by us. We also rely
on third-party licensors for patented hardware softlvare license rights in technology that are ipooated into and are necessary for the
operation and functionality of our products. Oucess will depend in part on our continued abtlithave access to these technologies.

We have trade secret rights for our products, stingi mainly of product design, technical produstumentation and software. We also
own, or have applied for registration of trademanksonnection with our products in the Unitedt8saand internationally, including
NETGEAR, the NETGEAR logo, NETGEAR Green, the NETAREGreen logo, NETGEAR Digital Entertainer, the NEEAR Digital
Entertainer logo, Genie, the Genie logo,ReadysiNee, TV, the Neo TV logo, NETGEAR Stora, the NETEEAtora logo, Connect with
Innovation, ProSafe, RangeMax, ReadyNAS, Smart WijAaroSecure, the ProSecure logo, Push2TV, Wakroline, Liteline, Envoy
Service Management System, Versalink, Wirespeedf Networks, and X-RAID. We have registered a nundfénternet domain names that
we use for electronic interaction with our custosiacluding dissemination of product informatiorgnieting programs, product registration,
sales activities, and other commercial uses.

Seasonal Business

We have historically experienced increased nessaleur third and fourth fiscal quarters as coregdo other quarters in our fiscal year
due to seasonal demand of consumer markets reated beginning of the school year and the holgkgson. However, because of irregular
and significant purchases from customers in othenkets, such as the service provider market, diitem has not been consistent. As such
pattern should not be considered a reliable indiaatt our future net sales or financial performance

Backlog

We believe the actual amount of product backlogngtparticular time is not a meaningful indicatmfrour future business. Our backlog
consists of products for which customer purchadersrhave been received and that are scheduledtoe process of being scheduled for
shipment. While we expect to fulfill the order blatkwithin the current year, most orders are sutjecescheduling or cancellation with little
or no penalties. Because of the possibility of comtr changes in product scheduling or order caatgatl, our backlog as of any particular date
may not be an indicator of net sales for any sulsetperiod. Accordingly, backlog should not besidared a reliable indicator of our ability
to achieve any particular level of revenue or fitiahperformance.

Environmental Laws

Our products and manufacturing process are sutgjgaimerous governmental regulations, which coeth the use of various materials
as well as environmental concerns. Environmensalds such as pollution and climate change haveigadicant legislative and regulatory
efforts on a global basis, and there are expectbe additional changes to the regulations in thesas. These changes could directly increase
the cost of energy which may have an impact owtne we manufacture products or utilize energy twpce our products. In addition, any
new regulations or laws in the environmental ar@ghirincrease the cost of raw materials we useumpooducts. Other regulations in the
environmental area may require us to continue toitooand ensure
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proper disposal or recycling of our products. Te tiest of our knowledge, we maintain compliancé ait current government regulations
concerning our production processes, for all lacetiin which we operate. Since we operate on aagjlwdsis, this is also a complex process
which requires continual monitoring of regulaticared an ongoing compliance process to ensure thandeur suppliers are in compliance
with all existing regulations.

Employees

As of December 31, 2011, we had 791 full-time empés, with 357 in sales, marketing and technicapett, 224 in research and
development, 96 in operations, and 114 in finaimfermation systems and administration. We alslizetia number of temporary staff to
supplement our workforce. We have never had a wtmfipage among our employees and no personna@esented under collective
bargaining agreements.

Long-lived assets by geographic location are listeder Note 12 Segment Information, Operations by Geographiafmed Customer
Concentrationjn Notes to Consolidated Financial StatementseémI8 of Part Il of this Annual Report on Form 10vihich information is
incorporated into this Item 1 by reference.

Available Information

We file reports, proxy statements and other infdiomawith the Securities and Exchange Commissioi§EC, in accordance with the
Exchange Act. You may read and copy our reportsqypstatements and other information filed by uthatSEC’s Public Reference Room
located at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C420®lease call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for éuritiformation about the Public
Reference Room. Our filings are also availabldpublic over the Internet at the SEC’s websitettgt//www.sec.gov.

Our website provides a link to our SEC filings, ethiare available on the same day such filings ax@emThe specific location on the
website where these reports can be found is fittype8tor.netgear.com/sec.cfm. Our website alsoipgesva link to Section 16 filings which are
available on the same day as such filings are mattemation contained on these websites is natra gf this Form 10-K.

Executive Officers of the Registrant
The following table sets forth the names, agespasitions of our executive officers as of Februarg012.

Name Age Position

Patrick C.S. Lo 55 Chairman and Chief Executive Offic

Christine M. Gorjanc 55 Chief Financial Office

Mark G. Merrill 57 Chief Technical Office

Shane J. Buckle 44 Senior Vice President and General Manager of ComialeéBusiness Uni
Michael P. Cleg 51 Senior Vice President and General Manager of Se®iovider Business Ur
David S.G. Soare 45 Senior Vice President and General Manager of RBtainess Uni

Michael F. Falcor 55 Senior Vice President of Worldwide Operations anggrt

Charles T. Olsol 56 Senior Vice President of Engineeri

Andrew W. Kim 41 Vice President, Legal and Corporate Developmentp@ate Secretal

Patrick C.S. Las our co-founder and has served as our ChairmdrCaref Executive Officer since March 2002. Patrficknded
NETGEAR with Mark G. Merrill with the singular vish of providing the appliances to enable everyorté world to connect to the hi
speed Internet for information, communication, hess transactions, education, and entertainmest EB83 until 1995, Mr. Lo worked at
Hewlett-Packard Company,
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where he served in various management positiosales, technical support, product management, amkleting in the U.S. and Asia. Mr. Lo
was named the Ernst & Young National Technologyépreneur of the Year in 2006. Mr. Lo received 8.Rlegree in electrical engineering
from Brown University.

Christine M. Gorjandhas served as our Chief Financial Officer sinceidan2008, Chief Accounting Officer from Decemb@08 to
January 2008 and Vice President, Finance from Néeer2005 to December 2006. From September 1996dghrdovember 2005,
Ms. Gorjanc served as Vice President, Controlleea$urer and Assistant Secretary for Aspect Comeations Corporation, a provider of
workforce and customer management solutions. Frotoli@r 1988 through September 1996, Ms. Gorjancdeas the Manager of Tax for
Tandem Computers, Inc., a provider of fault-toléi@mputer systems. Prior to that, Ms. Gorjancegim management positions at Xidex
Corporation, a manufacturer of storage devices speat eight years in public accounting with a nemdf accounting firms. Ms. Gorjanc ha
a B.A. in Accounting (with honors) from the Univigysof Texas at El Paso and a M.S. in Taxation fl@pniden Gate University.

Mark G. Merrill is our co-founder and has served as our Chief T@obg Officer since January 2003. From Septemb8818 January
2003, he served as Vice President of Engineeridgsarved as Director of Engineering from Septeni®85 to September 1999. From 1987 to
1995, Mr. Merrill worked at SynOptics Communicatioi@ local area networking company, which latergedmwith Wellfleet to become Bay
Networks, where his responsibilities included systiesign and analog implementations for SynO’ first L0BASE-T products. Mr. Merrill
received both a B.S. degree and an M.S. degrekeatrieal Engineering from Stanford University.

Shane J. Buckldyas served as our Senior Vice President and GeMaradger of Commercial Business since April 201t &enior Vice
President and General Manager Small/Medium Busiftess October 2009 to March 2011. Prior to joinimgy Mr. Buckley served as
President & CEO of Rohati Systems from November72000ctober 2009, COO of Aviram Networks, Inc.r(fierly Nevis Networks) from
July 2006 to November 2007, Vice President WW BEnise at Juniper Networks from June 2005 to A&, President International at
Peribit Networks from February 2002 to July 200&CCat Conduit Software from December 2000 to Falyr@@02, and EMEA Vice Preside
at 3Com Corp from 1998 to 2000. Mr. Buckley hold3.8& Degree in Engineering from the Cork Institotd echnology in Ireland.

Michael P. Clegdhas served as our Senior Vice President and GeMarsdger of Service Provider Business since Aug08b. Prior to
joining NETGEAR, Mr. Clegg served as VP EngineeriagEntrisphere (now part of Ericsson) from Feby 2003 to January 2005, and C(
and CTO at Virtual Access from September 1999 tdl2002. From March 1999 to September 1999, Medgdlserved as Vice President DSL
Solutions at Fujitsu Telecommunications Europe Whicquired the Westell Europe subsidiary, which ®egg led as Managing Director fr
May 1995 to September 1999. Prior to May 1995, GMegg served as Senior Consultant at ScientificeBes (now Sagentia) from December
1989 to April 1994. Mr. Clegg received both a Bi8gree in Electrical Engineering and an M.S. degrézigital Systems Design from the
University of the Witwatersrand, South Africa.

David S.G. Soarelsas served as our Senior Vice President and GeMarsger of Retail Business Unit since April 20add Senior Vic
President of Worldwide Sales from August 2004 tad®ia2011. Mr. Soares joined us in January 1998 saneed as Vice President of EMEA
sales from December 2003 to July 2004, EMEA Mamga@irector from April 2000 to November 2003, Unit&éthgdom and Nordic Regional
Manager from February 1999 to March 2000 and Uritedydom Country Manager from January 1998 to Jan899. Prior to joining us,
Mr. Soares was at Hayes Microcomputer Productsamufacturer of dial-up modems, where he was heddeaf retail, e-commerce and DMR
channels in the UK. Mr. Soares attended Ridley&ga] Ontario Canada.

Michael F. Falcorhas served as our Senior Vice President of Worldvdgerations and Support since January 2009, S¥iuer
President of Operations from March 2006 to Jan@a6g, and Vice President of Operations from Novern2B®2 to March 2006. Prior to
joining us, Mr. Falcon was at Quantum Corporatiwhere he served as Vice President of OperationSapgly Chain Management frc
September 1999 to
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November 2002, Meridian Data (acquired by QuantwrpGration), where he served as Vice Presidentpafrations from April 1999 t
September 1999, and Silicon Valley Group, wheredrged as Director of Operations, Strategic Plapamd Supply Chain Management from
February 1989 to April 1999. Prior to February 1989. Falcon served in management positions atS$Gtems, an electronics manufacturer,
Xerox Imaging Systems, a provider of scanning &xtl tecognition solutions, and Plantronics, Ingravider of lightweight communication
headsets. Mr. Falcon received a B.A. degree in &wics with honors from the University of Californiaanta Cruz and has completed
coursework in the M.B.A. program at Santa Claraversity.

Charles T. Olsotnas served as our Senior Vice President of Engimgeeince March 2006 and our Vice President of Begiing from
January 2003 to March 2006. Prior to joining NETGEAr. Olson was at Hewlett-Packard Company, fray 1978 to January 2003, where
he served as Director of Research and DevelopmefrbCurve networking from 1998 to 2003, as Redeand Development Manager for
Enterprise Netserver division from 1997 to 1998],an various other engineering management roléteiwlett-Packard’s Unix server and
personal computer product divisions prior to 1998. Olson received a B.S. degree in Electrical Begring from the University of California,
Davis and an M.B.A. from Santa Clara University.

Andrew W. Kinhas served as our Vice President, Legal and Cam@ravelopment and Corporate Secretary since OciE and as
our Associate General Counsel from March 2008 twkper 2008. Prior to joining NETGEAR, Mr. Kim sedras Special Counsel in the
Corporate and Securities Department of Wilson Soi@oodrich & Rosati, a private law firm, where tepresented public and private
technology companies in a wide range of mattecduding mergers and acquisitions, debt and eqinnting arrangements, securities law
compliance and corporate governance from 2000 ®3 2did 2006 to 2008. In between his two terms d&diSonsini Goodrich & Rosati,
Mr. Kim served as Partner in the Business and Eia@epartment of the law firm Schwartz Cooper Girad in Chicago, Illinois, and was an
Adjunct Professor of Entrepreneurship at the libnostitute of Technology. Mr. Kim holds a J.Dofin Cornell Law School, and received a
B.A. degree in history from Yale University.

Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

Investing in our common stock involves a high degrferisk. The risks described below are not extiaei®f the risks that might affect
our business. Other risks, including those we aufyredeem immaterial, may also impact our businAsg. of the following risks could
materially adversely affect our business operatjoasults of operations and financial condition aswlld result in a significant decline in our
stock price. Before deciding to purchase, holdedr aur common stock, you should carefully consttierrisks described in this section. This
section should be read in conjunction with the odidated financial statements and accompanyingsititereto, and Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition d@esults of Operations included in this Annual ReparForm 1(-K.

We expect our operating results to fluctuate on auprterly and annual basis, which could cause our etk price to fluctuate or decline.

Our operating results are difficult to predict andy fluctuate substantially from quarter-to-quadeyear-toyear for a variety of reasor
many of which are beyond our control. If our actiesults were to fall below our estimates or thgeexations of public market analysts or
investors, our quarterly and annual results woelchégatively impacted and the price of our stoakadecline. Other factors that could affect
our quarterly and annual operating results inchidse listed in the risk factors section of thiga® and others such as:

» changes in the pricing policies of or the introdluetof new products by us or our competitc
* unanticipated shift or decline in profit by geodgnagal region that would adversely impact our tabey

» slow or negative growth in the networking prodyersonal computer, Internet infrastructure, honeetebnics and relate
technology markets, as well as decreased demarndtérnet acces:

11
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operational disruptions, such as transportatioaydedr failure of our order processing system,iqaerly if they occur at the end
a fiscal quarter

geopolitical disruption leading to delay or evenpgtage of our operations in manufacturing, trarsgpion, technical support and
research and developme

delay or failure of our service provider customerpurchase at the volumes that they forec
foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations injtimesdictions where we transact sales and experaditin local currency

changes in or consolidation of our sales chanmalsaholesale distributor relationships or failusentanage our sales channel
inventory and warehousing requiremel

delay or failure to fulfill orders for our produats a timely basis

allowance for bad debts exposure with our existingtomers and new customers, particularly as warekpto new international
markets;

disruptions or delays related to our financial anterprise resource planning syste

our inability to accurately forecast product demg

component supply constraints from our vend

unfavorable level of inventory and turt

unanticipated shift in overall product mix from hgr to lower margin products that would adverselpact our margins
terms of our contracts with customers or supplieas cause us to incur additional expenses or assuiditional liabilities
the inability to maintain stable operations by suppliers and other parties with which we have cenamal relationships
delays in the introduction of new products by usnairket acceptance of these produ

an increase in price protection claims, redemptafrmaarketing rebates, product warranty and stotktion returns or allowance 1
doubtful accounts

litigation involving patent infringemen
epidemic or widespread product failure, or unaptited safety issues, in one or more of our prod

challenges associated with integrating acquisittbas we make, or with realizing value from oulagtgic investments in oth
companies

failure to effectively manage our third party custy support partners which may result in custoroenglaints and/or harm to the
NETGEAR brand

our inability to monitor and ensure compliance withr anti-corruption compliance program and donsemstid international anti-
corruption laws and regulations, whether in retato our employees or with our suppliers or custcy

labor unrest at facilities managed by our t-party manufacturer:
unanticipated increase in costs, including airgingi associated with shipping and delivery of owduoicts;

our failure to implement and maintain the apprdpriaternal controls over financial reporting whitiay result in restatements
our financial statements; al

any changes in accounting rul

As a result, period-tperiod comparisons of our operating results maybeaneaningful, and you should not rely on theraragdicatior
of our future performance.

12
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Our stock price may be volatile and your investmenin our common stock could suffer a decline in vale.

With the continuing uncertainty about economic dtiads in Europe, the United States and elsewhesznationally, there has been
significant volatility in the market price and tiad volume of securities of technology and othenpanies, which may be unrelated to the
financial performance of these companies. Thesadnoarket fluctuations may negatively affect theketprice of our common stock.

Some specific factors that may have a significéfieiceon our common stock market price include:
» actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operatiegults or our competit¢C’ operating results
» actual or anticipated changes in the growth rath@fyeneral networking sector, our growth ratesusrcompetitor’ growth rates

« conditions in the financial markets in general lvamges in general economic conditions, includingegoment efforts to stabilize
currencies

* interest rate or currency exchange rate fluctuati
» our ability or inability to raise additional cagiti
« our ability to report accurate financial resultour periodic reports filed with the SE

» disclosures of previously non-public informationconnection with our segment reporting, which comeeel in the second fiscal
quarter of 2011; an

» changes in stock market analyst recommendatiorsdig our common stock, other comparable compamiesir industry
generally.

Some of our competitors have substantially greataesources than we do, and to be competitive we mag required to lower our prices
or increase our sales and marketing expenses, whicbuld result in reduced margins and loss of markeshare.

We compete in a rapidly evolving and fiercely cotitpee market, and we expect competition to congita be intense, including price
competition. Our principal competitors in the cormai@ business market include Allied Telesys, Beuda, Buffalo, Data Robotics, Dell, D-
Link, Fortinet, Hewlett-Packard, Huawei, Cisco ®yss, the Linksys division of Cisco Systems, QNABt&ms, Seagate Technology,
SonicWALL, Synology, WatchGuard and Western Digi@ur principal competitors in the home marketrfetworking devices and television
connectivity products include Apple, Belkin, D-Lintke Linksys division of Cisco Systems, Roku anéstérn Digital. Our principal
competitors in the broadband service provider maraude Actiontec, ARRIS, Comtrend, D-Link, HitroHuawei, Motorola, Pace, Sagem,
Scientific Atlanta-a Cisco company, SMC NetworksgchniColor, Ubee, Compal Broadband, ZTE and ZyX@ther current and potential
competitors include numerous local vendors sudbdeamlo, LEA and AVM in Europe, Corega and Melcalapan and TP-Link in China. Our
potential competitors also include other consunestenics vendors, including LG Electronics, Misoft, Panasonic, Samsung, Sony, Tos
and Vizio, who could integrate networking and stnéay capabilities into their line of products, suhtelevisions, set top boxes and gaming
consoles, and our channel customers who may dexioféer self-branded networking products. We désme competition from service
providers who may bundle a free networking devidh their broadband service offering, which wouddluce our sales if we are not the
supplier of choice to those service providershigervice provider space, we are also facingfsgnit and increased competition from orig
design manufacturers, or ODM’s, and contract masiufars who are selling and attempting to sellrthedducts directly to service providers
around the world.

Many of our existing and potential competitors hireyer operating histories, greater name recagniéind substantially greater
financial, technical, sales, marketing and otheoueces. These competitors may, among other thimgkertake more extensive marketing
campaigns, adopt more aggressive pricing policiegin more favorable pricing from suppliers anchafacturers, and exert more influence
sales channels than
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we can. We anticipate that current and potentiaipetitors will also intensify their efforts to pdrege our target markets. For example, price
competition is intense in our industry in certagographical regions and product categories. Sgadifiin the service provider space, many of
our competitors price their products significariiBlow our product costs in order to gain marketash@verage sales prices have declined i
past and may again decline in the future. Thesepetitors may have more advanced technology, mdensive distribution channels, stronger
brand names, greater access to shelf space ihlog&tions, bigger promotional budgets and laestomer bases than we do. These
companies could devote more capital resourcesvtelole, manufacture and market competing produets te could. If any of these
companies are successful in competing againstuwsabdes could decline, our margins could be neggtimpacted and we could lose market
share, any of which could seriously harm our bussrand results of operations.

Economic conditions are likely to materially adversly affect our revenue and results of operations.

Our business has been and may continue to be edfeégta number of factors that are beyond our obatrch as general geopolitical,
economic and business conditions, conditions iffittencial services markets, and changes in theathdemand for networking products. A
severe and/or prolonged economic downturn coule@iesdy affect our customers’ financial conditiorddhe levels of business activity of our
customers. Continued uncertainty about currentajlebonomic conditions could cause businessessippoe spending in response to tighter
credit, negative financial news and/or declinemaome or asset values, which could have a mateeigative effect on the demand for
networking products.

The recent economic problems affecting the bankirsiem and financial markets and the recent uringrtiaa global economic
conditions has resulted in a number of adverse&fiacluding tightening in the credit marketspe llevel of liquidity in many financial
markets, extreme volatility in credit, equity, emcy and fixed income markets, instability in thec& market and high unemployment. For
example, the recent challenges faced by the Eunoge#n to stabilize some of its member econonsash as Greece, Portugal, Spain,
Hungary and even ltaly, has had international ingtlons affecting the stability of global financrabrkets and hindering economies
worldwide. Should the European Union monetary potieasures be insufficient to restore confidenakesability to the financial markets, the
recovery of the global economy, including the Lh&d European Union economies where we have aisigmifpresence, could be hindered or
reversed, which could have a material adverse teffecis. There could also be a number of followeffacts from these economic
developments and negative economic trends on @inéss, including the inability of customers toadbtcredit to finance purchases of our
products; customer insolvencies; decreased custoomdidence to make purchasing decisions; decreasg#dmer demand; and decreased
customer ability to pay their trade obligations.

If conditions in the global economy, including Epecand the U.S., or other key vertical or geogmaptarkets remain uncertain or
weaken further, such conditions could have a neltadverse impact on our business, operating eeantl financial condition. In addition, if
we are unable to successfully anticipate changoogemic and political conditions, we may be unableffectively plan for and respond to
those changes, which could materially adverselycafbur business and results of operations.

Our business is subject to the risks of internatioal operations.

We derive a significant portion of our revenue fromternational operations. As a result, our finahcondition and operating results
could be significantly affected by risks associatéith international activities, including econonaind labor conditions, political instability, tax
laws, changes in the value of the U.S. dollar veteoal currencies, and natural disasters. Maminsales of our products in foreign countries,
and on sales of products that include componeritsr@ from foreign suppliers, could be materialtiversely affected by foreign currency
exchange rate fluctuations and by internationalenagulations. Additionally, certain foreign cotes have complex regulatory requirements
as conditions of doing business. For example, thigeld Kingdom Anti-Bribery Act of 2010 is broad istation that prohibits bribery and
applies to our operations
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worldwide. This foreign legislation follows in thepirit of the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Actl docuses additional governmental efforts
anticorruption efforts worldwide. Meeting theseuggments may increase our operating expenses asntimue to expand internationally.

If we do not effectively manage our sales channelientory and product mix, we may incur costs assoaied with excess inventory, or
lose sales from having too few products.

If we are unable to properly monitor, control andrmage our sales channel inventory and maintaimppropriate level and mix of
products with our wholesale distributors and witbur sales channels, we may incur increased arxpeoted costs associated with this
inventory. We generally allow wholesale distribst@and traditional retailers to return a limited amiof our products in exchange for other
products. Under our price protection policy, if reeluce the list price of a product, we are ofteuired to issue a credit in an amount equal to
the reduction for each of the products held in imwey by our wholesale distributors and retailéreur wholesale distributors and retailers are
unable to sell their inventory in a timely mannee, might lower the price of the products, or thpagies may exchange the products for newer
products. Also, during the transition from an erigtproduct to a new replacement product, we mestirately predict the demand for the
existing and the new product.

We determine production levels based on our fotsesdemand for our products. Actual demand farpoducts depends on many
factors, which makes it difficult to forecast. Wavie experienced differences between our actuabantbrecasted demand in the past and
expect differences to arise in the future. If wgioperly forecast demand for our products we ceuld up with too many products and be
unable to sell the excess inventory in a timely nganif at all, or, alternatively we could end ufthatoo few products and not be able to satisfy
demand. This problem is exacerbated because waitte closely match inventory levels with proddetmand leaving limited margin for
error. If these events occur, we could incur insegbexpenses associated with writing off excessivisolete inventory, lose sales, incur
penalties for late delivery or have to ship produmt air freight to meet immediate demand incuriimgemental freight costs above the sea
freight costs, a preferred method, and sufferiegraesponding decline in gross margins.

If we fail to continue to introduce new products that achieve broad market acceptance on a timely basiwe will not be able to compete
effectively and we will be unable to increase or matain net revenue and gross margins.

We operate in a highly competitive, quickly chamgenvironment, and our future success depends oability to develop and introduce
new products that achieve broad market accept@aefuture success will depend in large part upanability to identify demand trends in
the commercial business, retail, and service pewvidarkets and quickly develop, manufacture andosetiucts that satisfy these demands in a
cost effective manner. In order to differentiate products from our competitors’ products, we nugsttinue to increase our focus and capital
investment in research and development, includiftyvaere development. Successfully predicting demamads is difficult, and it is very
difficult to predict the effect introducing a newopluct will have on existing product sales. We wio need to respond effectively to new
product announcements by our competitors by quickhpducing competitive products.

We have experienced delays and quality issuedéasimg new products in the past, which resultddwrer quarterly net revenue than
expected. In addition, we have experienced, andim#ye future experience, product introductioret fiall short of our projected rates of
market adoption. Any future delays in product depetent and introduction or product introductionstttho not meet broad market acceptance
could result in:

* loss of or delay in revenue and loss of marketest
* negative publicity and damage to our reputation lznachd;
» adecline in the average selling price of our pobsit
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» adverse reactions in our sales channels, suctdaseé shelf space, reduced online product vigibitit loss of sales channel; a
» increased levels of product retur

Throughout 2010 and 2011, we have significantlyéased the rate of our new product introductioinwel cannot sustain the rapid pace
of innovation, we may not be able to maintain @réase the market share of our products. In additieve are unable to successfully
introduce new products with higher gross margins,net revenue and overall gross margin would Yikigcline.

We obtain several key components from limited or de sources, and if these sources fail to satisfy supply requirements, we may lose
sales and experience increased component costs.

Any shortage or delay in the supply of key procdtarnponents would harm our ability to meet schedplediuct deliveries. Many of the
semiconductors used in our products are speckicsigned for use in our products and are obtdired sole source suppliers on a purchase
order basis. In addition, some components thatised in all our products are obtained from limgedrces. These components include
connector jacks, plastic casings and physical laggisceivers. We also obtain switching fabric semductors, which are used in our Ethernet
switches and Internet gateway products, and wisdtesal area network chipsets, which are used iof @ur wireless products, from a limited
number of suppliers. Semiconductor suppliers hapergenced and continue to experience componemtafes themselves, such as with
substrates used in manufacturing chipsets, whitbrmadversely impact our ability to procure sesniductors from them. Our third-party
manufacturers generally purchase these componeraardbehalf on a purchase order basis, and wetbave any contractual commitments
or guaranteed supply arrangements with our sugplifdemand for a specific component increasesnag not be able to obtain an adequate
number of that component in a timely manner. Initaatd if worldwide demand for the components irases significantly, the availability of
these components could be limited. Further, oupkens may experience financial or other difficeftias a result of uncertain and weak
worldwide economic conditions. It could be diffitutostly and time consuming to obtain alternativerces for these components, or to ch:
product designs to make use of alternative compsnémnaddition, difficulties in transitioning froemn existing supplier to a new supplier could
create delays in component availability that wcdde a significant impact on our ability to fulfdrders for our products.

If we are unable to obtain a sufficient supply ofmponents, or if we experience any interruptiothiznsupply of components, our prod
shipments could be reduced or delayed or our dashtaining these components may increase. Compahentages and delays affect our
ability to meet scheduled product deliveries, daenagr brand and reputation in the market, and casise lose sales and market share. For
example, component shortages in the fourth quaft2009 limited our ability to supply all the wovlide demand for our products and our
revenue was affected.

Another example relates to the recent record flogdth Thailand in the third quarter of 2011. Mangjor manufacturers of hard disk
drives and their component suppliers maintain §igamt operations in Thailand in areas affectedigyflooding. These include most, if not all,
of our direct and indirect suppliers of hard diskes for our ReadyNAS product line. All of our magirect and indirect suppliers of hard disk
drives informed us that our supply chain would bestrained for an indefinite amount of time, in gocases up to six months. Some have
therefore declared a force majeure event and hatedsthat, in addition to and because of the supmhstraints, pricing for hard disk drives
has and will likely continue to increase signifidgruntil they are able to stabilize the situatidWie experienced increased prices in the cost of
hard disk drives and we believe those increasesamatinue. As a result, the Company ceased aceeptiy additional orders containing
ReadyNAS products with hard disk drives at thementrprices and all shipments of ReadyNAS prodwitts hard disk drives were placed on
hold. In addition, all sales and marketing promagiinvolving ReadyNAS products were and continuegiderminated indefinitely. Further, 1
Company declared the existence of a force majetemteinder our contracts with certain customersofdingly, our business was harmed.
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In addition, the earthquakes in Northern Japan andid 2011 and the resultant nuclear threats améisis created uncertainty of supply
for certain components and raw materials for oodpcts. We have made alternative arrangementsarelgianned accordingly but there is
guarantee that our ancillary planning will be efifiee to maintain production of our products.

The average selling prices of our products typical decrease rapidly over the sales cycle of the pradt, which may negatively affect our
net revenue and gross margins.

Our products typically experience price erosiofgidy rapid reduction in the average unit selliprices over their respective sales cycles.
In order to sell products that have a falling ageranit selling price and maintain margins at time time, we need to continually reduce
product and manufacturing costs. To manage manufagtcosts, we must collaborate with our thirdtpananufacturers to engineer the most
cost-effective design for our products. In additiase must carefully manage the price paid for congmds used in our products. We must also
successfully manage our freight and inventory ctusteduce overall product costs. We also needmdirtually introduce new products with
higher sales prices and gross margins in orderaiotain our overall gross margins. If we are unablmanage the cost of older products or
successfully introduce new products with highersgrmargins, our net revenue and overall gross marguld likely decline.

Changes in tax rates, adverse changes in tax lawsexposure to additional income tax liabilities cold affect our future profitability.
Factors that could materially affect our futureseffve tax rates include but are not limited to:
» Changes in the regulatory environme
» Changes in accounting and tax standards or prax
* Changes in the composition of operating incomealyjurisdiction; anc
e Our operating results before tax

We are subject to income taxes in the United Statelsnumerous foreign jurisdictions. Our effectise rate has fluctuated in the past
may fluctuate in the future. Future effective tates could be affected by changes in the compogiti@arnings in countries with differing tax
rates, changes in deferred tax assets and liabilitir changes in tax laws.

We are also subject to examination by the InteRelenue Service (“IRS”) and other tax authoritiesluding state revenue agencies and
foreign governments. In 2011, the IRS commenceekamination of the Company’s 2008 and 2009 taxsyaafthile we regularly assess the
likelihood of favorable or unfavorable outcomesutésg from examinations by the IRS and other tatharities to determine the adequacy of
our provision for income taxes, there can be narasge that the actual outcome resulting from tleeseninations will not materially advers
affect our financial condition and operating resulkdditionally, the IRS and other tax authorities/e increasingly focused attention on
intercompany transfer pricing with respect to salegroducts and services and the use of intangibdets. Tax authorities could disagree with
our intercompany charges, cross-jurisdictionalgfanpricing or other matters and assess additi@xals. Any such disagreements may affect
our profitability.

We are subject to, and must remain in compliance wh, numerous governmental regulations concerning th manufacturing and use of
our products, as well as any such future regulatiost Some of our customers also require that we conyplith their own unique
requirements relating to these matters. Any failureto comply with such regulations and requirementsand any associated unanticipate:
costs, may adversely affect our business, financiebndition and results of operations.

We manufacture and sell products which containtedaic components, and such components may comtaiarials that are subject to
government regulation in both the locations thatmanufacture and assemble our
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products, as well as the locations where we selpoaducts. For example, certain regulations litmé use of lead in electronic components. To
the best of our knowledge, we maintain complianih @il current government regulations concernimg materials utilized in our products,

all the locations in which we operate. Since werafgeon a global basis, this is a complex procdsshwrequires continual monitoring of
regulations and an ongoing compliance processgorerthat we and our suppliers are in compliandle &li existing regulations. There are
areas where future regulations may be enacted vdoicld increase our cost of the components thaitiliee or require us to expend additiol
resources to ensure compliance. For example, thariies and Exchange Commission has proposed ules in December 2010 regarding
investigation and disclosure of the use of certe@mflict materials” in our products and final rglenay be forthcoming in the first half of 2012.
If final rules are adopted, we contemplate thatrthes may apply to our business and accordingéymay need to expend additional resources
to ensure compliance. While we do not currentiywmd any other proposed regulation regarding coreptsiin our products which would
have a material impact on our business, if theenignanticipated new regulation which significaithpacts our use of various components or
requires more expensive components, that would hawaterial adverse impact on our business, fimhgondition and results of operations.

One area which has a large number of regulatiotigignvironmental area. Environmental areas ssigfolution and climate change
have had significant legislative and regulatorpef on a global basis, and there are expected amltlitional changes to the regulations in
these areas. These changes could directly inctbasmst of energy which may have an impact omting we manufacture products or utilize
energy to produce our products. In addition, any regulations or laws in the environmental areahmnigcrease the cost of raw materials we
use in our products. Other regulations in the emvirental area may require us to continue to moaitdrensure proper disposal or recyclin
our products. While future changes in regulatigmsears likely, we are currently unable to pred@wtany such changes will impact us and if
such impacts will be material to our businesshéiré is a new law or regulation that significanmtigreases our costs of manufacturing or causes
us to significantly alter the way that we manufagetaur products, this would have a material advaffeet on our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

In addition to government regulations, many of oustomers require us to comply with their own regmients regarding manufacturing,
health and safety matters, employee treatmentcantiiption, use of materials and environmentalceons. Some customers may require us to
periodically report on compliance with their uniqguirements, and some customers reserve thetoightdit our business for compliance.
are increasingly subject to requests for compliamite these customer requirements. For examplegthas been significant focus from our
customers as well as the press regarding corpsoaial responsibility policies. We regularly audlitr manufacturers. However, any
deficiencies in compliance by our manufacturers ifmayn our business and our brand. In addition, \&g not have the resources to maintain
compliance with these customer requirements aharéaio comply may result in decreased sales teetloeistomers, which may have a material
adverse affect on our business, financial condisiod results of operations.

We rely on a limited number of retailers and wholeale distributors for most of our sales, and if theyefuse to pay our requested prices
or reduce their level of purchases, our net revenueould decline.

We sell a substantial portion of our products tiglovetailers, including Best Buy Co., Inc. andatfliates, and wholesale distributors,
including Ingram Micro, Inc. and Tech Data Corpamat We expect that a significant portion of out revenue will continue to come from
sales to a small number of retailers and wholeadigteibutors for the foreseeable future. In addifibecause our accounts receivable are
concentrated with a small group of purchasersfaihgre of any of them to pay on a timely basisaball, would reduce our cash flow. We are
also exposed to increased credit risk if any on@de limited numbers of retailers and wholesad&ildutors fails or becomes insolvent. We
generally have no minimum purchase commitmentsmg-term contracts with any of these retailersistrithutors. These purchasers could
decide at any time to discontinue, decrease ol db&ir purchases of our products. These custohers a variety of suppliers to choose from
and therefore can make substantial demands onalsding demands on product pricing and on contiedderms, which often results in the
allocation of risk to us as the supplier. Accordijnghe prices that they pay for our products angject to negotiation and could change at any
time. Our ability to maintain strong relationshipih
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our principal customers is essential to our fupggormance. If any of our major retailers or wisale distributors reduce their level of
purchases or refuse to pay the prices that weoselur products, our net revenue and operatindtsesould be harmed. If our retailers or
wholesale distributors increase the size of theidpct orders without sufficient lead-time for osprocess the order, our ability to fulfill
product demands would be compromised.

Additionally, if there is consolidation among owstomer base, certain customers may be able to aachincreased leverage in
negotiating prices and other terms of sale, whaliadtadversely affect our profitability. In additigif, as a result of increased leverage,
customer pressures require us to reduce our prizing that our gross margins are diminished, wédodecide not to sell our products to a
particular customer, which could result in a deseeia our revenue. Consolidation among our custdrase may also lead to reduced demand
for our products, replacement of our products whihse of our competitors and cancellations of ardeach of which would harm our operat
results.

We depend on large, recurring purchases from certai significant customers, and a loss, cancellationr delay in purchases by these
customers could negatively affect our revenue.

The loss of recurring orders from any of our magai§icant customers could cause our revenue aaofitability to suffer. Our ability to
attract new customers will depend on a varietyaotdrs, including the cost-effectiveness, relighilscalability, breadth and depth of our
products. In addition, a change in the mix of austomers, or a change in the mix of direct andréadisales, could adversely affect our reve
and gross margins. During the year ended Decenihe2(3.1, sales to Best Buy and its affiliates aoted for approximately 11% of our net
revenue and sales to Ingram Micro and its affiiatecounted for approximately 10% of our net reeemuring the year ended December 31,
2010, sales to Best Buy and its affiliates accadifde approximately 15% of our net revenue andsseddngram Micro and its affiliates
accounted for approximately 11% of our net reveibile these customers each accounted for appraeiynd0% or greater than 10% of our
net revenue during the year ended December 31, 20drk is no assurance that either of them wiltioae to purchase our products at the
same rate for any future periods.

Although our financial performance may depend ogdarecurring orders from certain customers asdllers, we do not generally have
binding commitments from them. For example:
» our reseller agreements generally do not requipstaatial minimum purchase
e our customers can stop purchasing and our reseb@rstop marketing our products at any time;
» our reseller agreements generally are not exclu
Further, our revenue may be impacted by significerg-time purchases which are not contemplatee tepeatable, such as the one-time
approximately $10 million dollar order from a seeviprovider customer in the second fiscal quaft@0a&1. While such purchases are reflected

in our financial statements, we do not rely on dadot forecast for continued significant one-tipugchases. As a result, lack of repeatable
one-time purchases will adversely affect our reeenu

Because our expenses are based on our revenuadtwez substantial reduction or delay in salesipproducts to, or unexpected returns
from, customers and resellers, or the loss of &myificant customer or reseller, could harm or otise disrupt our business. Although our
largest customers may vary from period to periogl anticipate that our operating results for anyegiperiod will continue to depend on large
orders from a small number of customers.

We depend substantially on our sales channels, awdr failure to maintain and expand our sales chanrle would result in lower sales
and reduced net revenue.

To maintain and grow our market share, net revemaebrand, we must maintain and expand our sabemelfs. Our sales channels
consist of traditional retailers, online retaildiiRs, VARSs, and broadband
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service providers. Some of these entities purchasg@roducts through our wholesale distributor costrs. We generally have no minimum
purchase commitments or long-term contracts withafrthese third parties.

Traditional retailers have limited shelf space praimotional budgets, and competition is intensdtiese resources. If the networking
sector does not experience sufficient growth, letsimay choose to allocate more shelf space t&r attnsumer product sectors. A competitor
with more extensive product lines and stronger didentity, such as Cisco Systems, may have greatgaining power with these retailers.
Any reduction in available shelf space or increasampetition for such shelf space would requiréousicrease our marketing expenditures
simply to maintain current levels of retail shgdfise, which would harm our operating margin. Tleenétrend in the consolidation of online
retailers and DMR channels has resulted in inteedsdompetition for preferred product placementhsas product placement on an online
retailer’s Internet home page. Expanding our presémthe VAR channel may be difficult and expeesie compete with established
companies that have longer operating historied@mgistanding relationships with VARs that we wofildl highly desirable as sales channel
partners. We also sell products to broadband sepricviders. Competition for selling to broadbaad/&e providers is intense. Penetrating
service provider accounts typically involves a l@@des cycle and the challenge of displacing inemhBuppliers with established relationst
and field-deployed products. If we were unable @irtain and expand our sales channels, our growthdabe limited and our business would
be harmed.

We must also continuously monitor and evaluate gingrsales channels. If we fail to establish agmes in an important developing
sales channel, our business could be harmed.

We depend on a limited number of third-party manufecturers for substantially all of our manufacturing needs. If these third-party
manufacturers experience any delay, disruption or gality control problems in their operations, we cold lose market share and our
brand may suffer.

All of our products are manufactured, assemblelettand generally packaged by a limited numberiginal design manufacturers
(“ODMs”) and original equipment manufacturers (“OEM We rely on our manufacturers to procure congms and, in some cases,
subcontract engineering work. Some of our prodatsmanufactured by a single manufacturer. We ddaze any long-term contracts with
any of our third-party manufacturers. Some of thege-party manufacturers produce products foraampetitors. Due to weak economic
conditions, the viability of some of these third4gamanufacturers may be at risk. Our ODM'’s argéasingly refusing to work with us on
certain projects, such as projects for manufacgupiroducts for our service provider customers. Bseaur service providers command
significant resources, including for software suppand demand extremely competitive pricing, oNDs are starting to refuse to engage on
service provider terms. The loss of the serviceangfof our primary thirgearty manufacturers could cause a significant gison in operation
and delays in product shipments. Qualifying a neamuofacturer and commencing volume production ieagjve and time consuming. As we
contemplate moving manufacturing into differenigdictions, we will be subject to additional sigo#nt challenges in ensuring that quality,
processes and costs, among other issues, areteonhsvith our expectations. For example, while wpezt our manufacturers to be responsible
for penalties assessed on us because of exceasiued of the products, there is no assuranceanbatill be able to collect such
reimbursements from these manufacturers, whichesaus to take on additional risk for potentialdesls of our products.

Our reliance on third-party manufacturers also sggaus to the following risks over which we haweitéd control:
* unexpected increases in manufacturing and repais;
» inability to control the quality and reliability dinished products
* inability to control delivery schedule
» potential lack of adequate capacity to manufacllrer a part of the products we require;
» potential labor unrest affecting the ability of tiérd-party manufacturers to produce our produ
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All of our products must satisfy safety and regogtstandards and some of our products must atsve government certifications. Our
ODMs and OEMs are primarily responsible for obtagnimost regulatory approvals for our productsulf @DMs and OEMs fail to obtain
timely domestic or foreign regulatory approvalsertificates, we would be unable to sell our pradand our sales and profitability could be
reduced, our relationships with our sales chanogldcbe harmed, and our reputation and brand wsuwfigr.

Specifically, substantially all of our manufactugioccurs in mainland China and any disruptions fratural disasters, health epidemics
and political, social and economic instability wabalffect the ability of our ODMs to manufacture puoducts. In addition, our ODM'’s in
China have continued to increase our costs of ptimhy particularly in 2010 and 2011. These inceglasosts have affected our margins and
ability to lower prices for our products to staymguetitive. Recent labor unrest in China may al$ecafour ODMs as workers may strike and
cause production delays. If our ODMs and OEMsttaihaintain good relations with their employeesanmtractors, and production and
manufacturing of our products is affected, thenmay be subject to shortages of products and qualipyoducts delivered may be affected.
Further, if our manufacturers or warehousing ftiesi are disrupted or destroyed, we would havetherageadily available alternatives for
manufacturing our products and our business woeldignificantly harmed.

If we lose the services of our Chairman and Chief ¥ecutive Officer, Patrick C.S. Lo, or our other keypersonnel, we may not be able to
execute our business strategy effectively.

Our future success depends in large part upondahtncied services of our key technical, sales, etarl, finance and senior managen
personnel. In particular, the services of PatricR.C.o, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officehosas led our company since its incept
are very important to our business. We do not raairdny key person life insurance policies. The lofsany of our senior management or @
key research, development, sales or marketing peesoparticularly if lost to competitors, couldriraour ability to implement our business
strategy and respond to the rapidly changing neétlee commercial business, consumer, and servimader markets. While we have adopted
an emergency succession plan for the short ternave not formally adopted a long term successian.\s a result, if we suffer the loss of
services of any key executive, our long term bussresults may be harmed. In addition, becauseowmthave a formal long term succession
plan, we may not be able to have the proper peedoniplace to effectively execute our long ternsibess strategy if Patrick Lo or other key
personnel retire, resign or are otherwise termthate

We are currently involved in numerous litigation maters and may in the future become involved in addional litigation, including
litigation regarding intellectual property rights, which could be costly and subject us to significartability.

The networking industry is characterized by thestxice of a large number of patents and frequairthsland related litigation regarding
infringement of patents, trade secrets and othieléctual property rights. In particular, leadicgmpanies in the data communications marl
some of which are our competitors, have extensaterg portfolios with respect to networking tectogy. From time to time, third parties,
including these leading companies, have assertednary continue to assert exclusive patent, copyriggdemark and other intellectual
property rights against us demanding license oaltgypayments or seeking payment for damages, étigmrelief and other available legal
remedies through litigation. These also includedtparty non-practicing entities who claim to owatgnts or other intellectual property that
cover industry standards that our products comiitly.Wf we are unable to resolve these mattersbdaia licenses on acceptable or
commercially reasonable terms, we could be su&deanay be forced to initiate litigation to protectr rights. The cost of any necessary
licenses could significantly harm our businessrafieg results and financial condition. We may alboose to join defensive patent
aggregation services in order to prevent or sktigmtion against such non-practicing entities awvdid the associated significant costs and
uncertainties of litigation. These patent aggregasiervices may obtain, or have previously obtaitieenses for the alleged patent
infringement claims against us and other paterdtaghat could be used offensively against us.chs¢s of such defensive patent aggregation
services, while potentially lower than the costéit@fation, may be
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significant as well. At any time, any of these rmacticing entities, or any other third-party couldiate litigation against us, or we may be
forced to initiate litigation against them, whicbutd divert management attention, be costly to migfer prosecute, prevent us from using or
selling the challenged technology, require us &igtearound the challenged technology and causeribe of our stock to decline. In addition,
third parties, some of whom are potential compedjtbave initiated and may continue to initiatgéition against our manufacturers, suppliers,
members of our sales channels or our service peodidstomers, alleging infringement of their prefary rights with respect to existing or
future products. In the event successful claims of infeimgnt are brought by third parties, and we are lertatobtain licenses or independe!
develop alternative technology on a timely basis,may be subject to indemnification obligationsubable to offer competitive products, or
be subject to increased expenses. Finally, consalass-action lawsuits related to the marketing gerlormance of our home networking
products have been asserted and may in the futuasderted against us. For additional informatgaurding certain of the lawsuits in which
we are involved, see the information set forth udiete 9,Commitments and Contingencie@sNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements in
Item 8 of Part Il of this Annual Report on Form KO we do not resolve these claims on a favorddalsis, our business, operating results and
financial condition could be significantly harmed.

We will be investing increased additional in-houseesources on software research and development, wvehicould disrupt our ongoing
business and present risks not originally contemptad.

We plan to continue to evolve our historically haede-centric business model towards a model tltitdes more software offerings. As
such, we will further evolve the focus of our orgation towards the delivery of more integrateddweaare and software solutions for our
customers. While we have invested in software agraknt in the past, we will be expending additiomaburces in this area in the future.
Such endeavors may involve significant risks anckaainties, including distraction of managemeatrfrcurrent operations, insufficient
revenue to offset liabilities assumed and expeasesciated with the strategy, inadequate returcapital, and unidentified issues not
discovered in our due diligence. Software develamneeinherently risky for a company such as ouith & historically hardware-centric
business model, and accordingly, our efforts itveafe development may not be successful. Thisatnrg for increased investment in software
research and development may materially adverstdgtahe Company’s financial condition and opergtresults.

We may spend a proportionately greater amount fiware research and development in the futurdhdf@ompany cannot
proportionately decrease our cost structure inaesp to competitive price pressures, our grossimargl, therefore, our profitability could be
adversely affected. In addition, if our softwaréusions, pricing and other factors are not suffitig competitive, or if there is an adverse
reaction to our product decisions, we may lose etaskare in certain areas, which could adverségctbur revenue and prospects.

Software research and development is complex. W&t make long-term investments, develop or obtapr@griate intellectual property
and commit significant resources before knowingtiveeour predictions will accurately reflect cusemdemand for our products and servi
We must accurately forecast mixes of software gmigtand configurations that meet customer requéres) and we may not succeed at doing
so within a given product’s life cycle or at alln}Adelay in the development, production or marlgtha new software solution could result in
us not being among the first to market, which cdulther harm our competitive position. In additi@ur regular testing and quality control
efforts may not be effective in controlling or detiag all quality issues and defects. We may béleto determine the cause, find an
appropriate solution or offer a temporary fix taleeks defects. Finding solutions to quality issuredefects can be expensive and may result in
additional warranty, replacement and other costgersely affecting our profits. If new or existingstomers have difficulty with our software
solutions or are dissatisfied with our services,@perating margins could be adversely affected,va@ could face possible claims if we fail to
meet our customers’ expectations. In addition, iquasues can impair our relationships with neveristing customers and adversely affect
our brand and reputation, which could adverselgafbur operating results.
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We are required to evaluate our internal controls mder Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 20@2d any adverse results from
such evaluation could impact investor confidence ithe reliability of our internal controls over financial reporting.

Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002, we are required to furnish a report by management on our internal control
over financial reporting. Such report must contimong other matters, an assessment of the effaetgeof our internal control over financial
reporting as of the end of our fiscal year, inchgda statement as to whether or not our internatrobover financial reporting is effective. This
assessment must include disclosure of any mateeiaknesses in our internal control over finan@alorting identified by management.

During the second quarter of fiscal 2009, in cotivacwith the restatement of our previously isstiedncial statements for the period
ended March 29, 2009, and our assessment of czloslise controls and procedures, management cattlindt as of March 29, 2009, our
disclosure controls and procedures were not effeethd that we had a material weakness in intearatol over financial reporting. The
material weakness related to the accounting farmetaxes. Specifically, we did not maintain aisigfit complement of tax personnel with
the required proficiency to identify, evaluate,iesv, and report complex tax accounting matterartter to remediate the material weakness,
we hired additional personnel in the tax departmtit sufficient knowledge and experience in tastiengthen the controls around the tax
provision. We also engaged tax specialists to asgsis the preparation and review of the inconxeptavision. As a result of these actions,
management has concluded that we have remediaeadaterial weakness related to income taxes agoémber 31, 2009.

Continued performance of the system and processneatation and evaluation needed to comply witliGed04 is both costly and
challenging. During this process, if our managenigrtifies one or more material weaknesses irirgarnal control over financial reporting,
we will be unable to assert such internal consdffective. If we are unable to assert that oterimal control over financial reporting is
effective as of the end of a fiscal year or if mdependent registered public accounting firm iahle to express an opinion on the effectivel
of our internal control over financial reportingewould lose investor confidence in the accuradya@mpleteness of our financial reports,
which may have an adverse effect on our stock price

If our products contain defects or errors, we couldncur significant unexpected expenses, experienpeoduct returns and lost sales,
experience product recalls, suffer damage to our land and reputation, and be subject to product liality or other claims.

Our products are complex and may contain defeotsrseor failures, particularly when first introdect or when new versions are relea:
The industry standards upon which many of our petelare based are also complex, experience chamgeime and may be interpreted in
different manners. Some errors and defects maydoevkered only after a product has been instaltetused by the end-user. For example, in
January 2008, we announced a voluntary recalleXif103 Powerline Ethernet Adapter made for Eulpe other countries using 220-240
volt power sources and sold individually or in antled kit.

In addition, epidemic failure clauses are foundentain of our customer contracts, especially @mtérwith service providers. If invoked,
these clauses may entitle the customer to returrefdacement or obtain credits for products angiiory, as well as assess liquidated damage
penalties and terminate an existing contract andealguture or then current purchase orders. I sustances, we may also be obligated to
cover significant costs incurred by the customspeisted with the consequences of such epidenticdaincluding freight and transportation
required for product replacement and out-of-pocksts for truck rolls to end user sites to colteetdefective products. Costs or payments we
make in connection with an epidemic failure mayemnatly adversely affect our results of operatians financial condition. If our products
contain defects or errors, or are found to be noviant with industry standards, we could experéedecreased sales and increased product
returns, loss of customers and market share, amedsed service, warranty and insurance costsiditi@n, our reputation and brand could be
damaged, and we could face legal claims regardingducts. A product liability or other claim dduesult in negative publicity and harm
our reputation, resulting in unexpected
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expenses and adversely impacting our operatindtse§or instance, if a third party were able tocssfully overcome the security measurt
our products, such a person or entity could misameite customer data, third party data storedusycastomers and other information,
including intellectual property. In addition, thparations of our end-user customers may be interdupf that happens, affected end-users or
others may file actions against us alleging prodiability, tort, or breach of warranty claims.

If disruptions in our transportation network occur or our shipping costs substantially increase, we nyabe unable to sell or timely
deliver our products and our operating expenses cddi increase.

We are highly dependent upon the transportatiotesyswe use to ship our products, including suréaaair freight. Our attempts to
closely match our inventory levels to our produeinénd intensify the need for our transportationesys to function effectively and without
delay. On a quarterly basis, our shipping volunse &nds to steadily increase as the quarter mesgsewhich means that any disruption in our
transportation network in the latter half of a geawill likely have a more material effect on dursiness than at the beginning of a quarter.

The transportation network is subject to disruptiortongestion from a variety of causes, includatwpr disputes or port strikes, acts of
war or terrorism, natural disasters and congesgsulting from higher shipping volumes. Labor digguamong freight carriers and at ports of
entry are common, particularly in Europe, and weeex labor unrest and its effects on shipping eadpcts to be a continuing challenge for
Our international freight is regularly subjectedrispection by governmental entities. If our delivémes increase unexpectedly for these or
any other reasons, our ability to deliver prodwstgdime would be materially adversely affected eggiilt in delayed or lost revenue as well as
customer imposed penalties. In addition, if incesas fuel prices occur, our transportation cosisla likely increase. Moreover, the cost of
shipping our products by air freight is greatemtiogher methods. From time to time in the pastuitiag in the fourth quarter of 2009, we have
shipped products using extensive air freight totmeexpected spikes in demand, shifts in demanadsat product categories and to bring t
product introductions to market quickly. If we rehore heavily upon air freight to deliver our protky our overall shipping costs will increa
A prolonged transportation disruption or a sigrfitincrease in the cost of freight could sevedidyupt our business and harm our operating
results.

We are exposed to the credit risk of some of our stomers and to credit exposures in weakened market&hich could result in material
losses.

A substantial portion of our sales are on an opeditbasis, with typical payment terms of 30 todg@s in the United States and, bec:
of local customs or conditions, longer in some regsloutside the United States. We monitor individuatomer financial viability in granting
such open credit arrangements, seek to limit speim @redit to amounts we believe the customergpagnand maintain reserves we believe
adequate to cover exposure for doubtful accounts.

In the past, there have been bankruptcies amongsustomer base. Although any resulting loss loadeen material to date, future
losses, if incurred, could harm our business anve lamaterial adverse effect on our operating tesuld financial condition. To the degree
the recent turmoil in the credit markets makesaterdifficult for some customers to obtain finargiour customers’ ability to pay could be
adversely impacted, which in turn could have a nitadverse impact on our business, operatindteesand financial condition.

If we fail to successfully overcome the challengessociated with profitably growing our broadband sevice provider sales channel, our
net revenue and gross profit will be negatively imacted.

We sell a substantial portion of our products tigtobroadband service providers worldwide. Our serpirovider business unit accour
for a significant portion of our growth in 2011. Vi&ee a number of challenges associated with petivegr marketing and selling to the
broadband service provider channel that differ frehat we have traditionally faced with the otheawhels. Difficulties and challenges in
selling to service providers include a longer salgde, more stringent product testing and valmatiequirements, a higher level of
customization demands, requirements that supphéeson a larger share of the risk with respect to
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contractual business terms, competition from estlagdl suppliers, pricing pressure resulting in log®ss margins, and irregular and
unpredictable ordering habits. For example, eveveihave a product which a service provider customay wish to purchase, we may choose
not to supply products to the potential servicevigher customer if the contract requirements, sichavice level requirements, penalties, and
liability provisions, are too onerous. Accordingbyr business may be harmed and our revenues mayglbeed. In addition, because our
service providers command significant resourcesuding for software support, and demand extreroempetitive pricing, our ODM’s are
starting to refuse to engage on service providengeAccordingly, as our ODM'’s increasingly declioetake orders for manufacturing our
service provider products, our service providerifess will be harmed.

Further, as the deployment of DOCSIS 3.0 technolgproadband service providers increases worlddidéeng 2011 and 2012, we
anticipate competing in an extremely price sensitharket and our margins may be affected. Orders &ervice providers generally tend to be
large but sporadic, which causes our revenues fhem to fluctuate and challenges our ability touaately forecast demand from them. In
particular, managing inventory and production af products for our service provider customerséhallenge. Many of our service provider
customers have irregular purchasing requiremerss@ customers may decide to cancel orders fooroiztd products specific to that
customer, and we may not be able to reconfiguresetidhose products in other channels. In additibese customers may issue unforecasted
orders for products which we may not be able talpee in a timely manner and as such, we may nablketo accept and deliver on such
unforecasted orders. In certain cases, we may cbtarfiked-price, long term purchase orders, witblsorders priced in foreign currencies
which could lose value over time in the event ofeade changes in foreign exchange rates. Even ére/selected as a supplier, typically a
service provider will also designate a second soaupplier, which over time will reduce the aggtegarders that we receive from that service
provider. For example, we have been at the foréfmbdeveloping and selling DOCSIS 3.0 producteudo service provider customers in 2010
and 2011. As our competitors develop DOCSIS 3.@yets, our service provider customers may use tb@sgetitor products as an alternate
source for this technology. Our service providestomers may then require us to lower our pricab@y may choose to purchase more
DOCSIS 3.0 products from our competitors. Accorflingur business may be harmed and our revenuesdmeagduced.

If we were to lose a service provider customerafoy reason, we may experience a material and imateeckduction in forecasted
revenue that may cause us to be below our net uevand operating margin expectations for a pagiquériod of time and therefore adversely
affect our stock price. For example, many of ounpaetitors in the service provider space aggressiwete their products in order to gain
market share. We may not be able to match the lpwees offered by our competitors. Many of thevgrr provider customers will seek to
purchase from the lowest cost provider, notwithdtag that our products may be higher quality or praducts were previously validated for
use on their proprietary network. Accordingly, wayrose customers who have lower, more aggressigi@ and our revenues may be
reduced. In addition, service providers may chdogwioritize the implementation of other technaésgor the roll out of other services than
home networking. Weakness in orders from this imfusould have a material adverse effect on oummss, operating results, and financial
condition. We have seen slowdowns in capital exjieres by certain of our service provider customerthe past, and believe there may be
potential for similar slowdowns in the future. Aspwdown in the general economy, over supply, chdation among service providers,
regulatory developments and constraint on capikérditures could result in reduced demand fromiseproviders and therefore adversely
affect our sales to them. If we do not successioligrcome these challenges, we will not be abjgrafitably grow our service provider sales
channel and our growth will be slowed.

As part of growing our business, we have made and&gect to continue to make acquisitions. If we failo successfully select, execute or
integrate our acquisitions, then our business andperating results could be harmed and our stock prie could decline.

From time to time, we will undertake acquisitionsadd new product lines and technologies, gain sedes channels or enter into new
sales territories. For example, we closed our aitipm of the Customer Networking

25



Table of Contents

Solutions division of Westell Technologies, Inc April 2011. Acquisitions involve numerous risksdachallenges, including but not limited to
the following:

» integrating the companies, assets, systems, pmdales channels and personnel that we acc

» growing or maintaining revenues to justify the phwase price and the increased expenses associdtedoguisitions
* entering into territories or markets that we hameteéd or no prior experience wit

» establishing or maintaining business relationshijts customers, vendors and suppliers who may betoeus;

« overcoming the employee, customer, vendor and &rgpknover that may occur as a result of the sitipn;

» diverting manageme’s attention from running the day to day operatioihsur business; ar

* potential pos- closing disputes

As part of undertaking an acquisition, we may aigmificantly revise our capital structure or ogi&maal budget, such as issuing common
stock that would dilute the ownership percentageufstockholders, assuming liabilities or debitjaimg a substantial portion of our cash
resources to pay for the acquisition or signifibairicreasing operating expenses. Our acquisitiae resulted and may in the future result in
charges being taken in an individual quarter as$ asefuture periods, which results in variabilityaur quarterly earnings. In addition, our
effective tax rate in any particular quarter magodbe impacted by acquisitions. Following the eigsif an acquisition, we may also have
disputes with the seller regarding contractual iregients and covenants. Any such disputes mayreedonsuming and distract management
from other aspects of our business.

As part of the terms of acquisition, we may comtmipay additional contingent consideration if cert@venue or other performance
milestones are met. We are required to evaluatéathgalue of such commitments at each reportiate dnd adjust the amount recorded if
there are changes to the fair value.

We cannot ensure that we will be successful inctielg, executing and integrating acquisitions. &ilto manage and successfully
integrate acquisitions could materially harm ousibass and operating results. In addition, if stoeltket analysts or our stockholders do not
support or believe in the value of the acquisitithret we choose to undertake, our stock price neajirce.

We invest in companies for both strategic and finacial reasons, but may not realize a return on oumvestments in every instance.

We have made, and continue to seek to make, ineegsnmn companies around the world to further enatsgic objectives and support
our key business initiatives. These investments imelyde equity or debt instruments of public avate companies, and may be non-
marketable at the time of our initial investmente b not restrict the types of companies in whiehseek to invest. These companies may
range from early-stage companies that are oftérdsfining their strategic direction to more matwompanies with established revenue
streams and business models. If any company inhwhéinvest fails, we could lose all or part of awrestment in that company. If we
determine that an other-than-temporary declindénfair value exists for an equity or debt invesitrie a public or private company in which
we have invested, we will have to write down theestment to its fair value and recognize the relatgte-down as an investment loss. The
performance of any of these investments could réssgignificant impairment charges and gains @s$®n other equity investments. We must
also analyze accounting and legal issues when makase investments. If we do not structure thegestments properly, we may be subje:
certain adverse accounting issues, such as pdteatisolidation of financial results.

Furthermore, if the strategic objectives of an Bimgent have been achieved, or if the investmehtisiness diverges from our strategic
objectives, we may seek to dispose of the investn@ur non-marketable
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equity investments in private companies are nafidigand we may not be able to dispose of thesesinvents on favorable terms or at all. The
occurrence of any of these events could harm @ultee Gains or losses from equity securities coaly from expectations depending on gi
or losses realized on the sale or exchange of iiesusind impairment charges related to debt insénts as well as equity and other
investments.

We are exposed to adverse currency exchange ratedtuations in jurisdictions where we transact in l@al currency, which could harm
our financial results and cash flows.

Because a significant portion of our business iglocted outside the United States, we face expdswadverse movements in foreign
currency exchange rates. These exposures may chaagéme as business practices evolve, and tbelddhave a material adverse impact on
our results of operations, financial position aadltflows. Although a portion of our internatiosales are currently invoiced in United States
dollars, we have implemented and continue to implanfior certain countries and customers both irrgiand payment in foreign currencies.
Our primary exposure to movements in foreign cuoyeexchange rates relates to non-U.S. dollar demat@d sales in Europe, Japan and
Australia as well as our global operations, and-bdB. dollar denominated operating expenses artdineassets and liabilities. In addition,
weaknesses in foreign currencies for U.S. dollaod@nated sales could adversely affect demanddopmducts. Conversely, a strengthening
in foreign currencies against the U.S. dollar cantidtease foreign currency denominated costs. isalt we may attempt to renegotiate
pricing of existing contracts or request paymertieganade in U.S. dollars. We cannot be sure thatwstomers would agree to renegotiate
along these lines. This could result in customeentially terminating contracts with us or in ogci$ion to terminate certain contracts, which
would adversely affect our sales.

We implemented a hedging program in November 260&tige exposures to fluctuations in foreign cuayesxchange rates as a
response to the risks of changes in the valuerefdgo currency denominated assets and liabilitiés.may enter into foreign currency forward
contracts or other instruments, the majority ofahhinature within approximately five months. Oureiign currency forward contracts reduce,
but do not eliminate, the impact of currency exgearate movements. For example, we do not exeout&afd contracts in all currencies in
which we conduct business. In addition, in the sddiscal quarter of 2009, we commenced impleméntaif a hedging program to reduce
impact of volatile exchange rates on net revengiesss profit and operating profit for limited ped®of time. However, the use of such hedging
activities may only offset a portion of the advefisancial effect resulting from unfavorable movenein foreign exchange rates.

If our goodwill or amortizable intangible assets beome impaired we may be required to record a sigrifant charge to earnings.

Under generally accepted accounting principlesreveew our amortizable intangible assets for impaint when events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value may eatgoverable. Goodwill is required to be testedrfigpairment at least annually. Factors 1
may be considered when determining if the carryialgie of our goodwill or amortizable intangible @issmay not be recoverable include a
significant decline in our expected future cashvBor a sustained, significant decline in our stpgke and market capitalization.

As a result of our acquisitions, we have signiftagoodwill and amortizable intangible assets reedrdn our balance sheet. In addition,
significant negative industry or economic trendsshsas those that have occurred as a result séttmat economic downturn, including redu
estimates of future cash flows or disruptions tolmusiness could indicate that goodwill or amotileantangible assets might be impaired. If,
in any period our stock price decreases to thetpdiere our market capitalization is less thankmok value, this too could indicate a poter
impairment and we may be required to record an impnt charge in that period. Our valuation methiogy for assessing impairment requ
management to make judgments and assumptions bagwojections of future operating performance. dgerate in highly competitive
environments and projections of future operatirggts and cash flows may vary significantly frontuad results. As a result, we may incur
substantial impairment charges to earnings in imantial statements should an impairment of ouidgalbor amortizable intangible assets be
determined resulting in an adverse impact on caulte of operations.
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In the second fiscal quarter of 2011, in connectith our reorganization into three specific bussenits (retail, commercial, and sen
provider), we allocated goodwill to each businesis and evaluated those allocations for potentiglairment. No impairment existed as of the
end of the second fiscal quarter of 2011. In thetfofiscal quarter of 2011, we completed our ahimpairment test of goodwill and
determined no impairment existed as of Decembe2@1]. We will continue to test goodwill for impaient at least annually at the business
unit level. The allocation of goodwill may have gter impact for certain of the business segmentspmpared to the other segments.
Accordingly, the performance of a business unit inaydversely affected by the allocation of goodwil

If we are unable to provide our third-party manufacturers a timely and accurate forecast of our compoant and material requirements,
we may experience delays in the manufacturing of eyproducts and the costs of our products may increse.

We provide our third-party manufacturers with dingl forecast of demand, which they use to deteenaiar material and component
requirements. Lead times for ordering materials@rponents vary significantly and depend on variaators, such as the specific supplier,
contract terms and demand and supply for a comp@tengiven time. Some of our components have lead times, such as wireless local
area network chipsets, switching fabric chips, jtaldayer transceivers, connector jacks and neetdlplastic enclosures. If our forecasts are
not timely provided or are less than our actualirements, our third-party manufacturers may beéblento manufacture products in a timely
manner. If our forecasts are too high, our thiestty manufacturers will be unable to use the camepts they have purchased on our behalf.
cost of the components used in our products temdsap rapidly as volumes increase and the teclgiedanature. Therefore, if our third-party
manufacturers are unable to promptly use compomemthased on our behalf, our cost of producinglpects may be higher than our
competitors due to an oversupply of higher-priceghponents. Moreover, if they are unable to use @omapts ordered at our direction, we will
need to reimburse them for any losses they incur.

We rely upon third parties for technology that is citical to our products, and if we are unable to catinue to use this technology and
future technology, our ability to develop, sell, mantain and support technologically innovative prodicts would be limited.

We rely on third parties to obtain non-exclusivéepéed hardware and software license rights inneldgies that are incorporated into
and necessary for the operation and functionafitpast of our products. In these cases, becausatiitectual property we license is available
from third parties, barriers to entry into certenarkets may be lower for potential or existing cetitprs than if we owned exclusive rights to
the technology that we license and use. Moreofrarcompetitor or potential competitor enters iatoexclusive arrangement with any of our
key third-party technology providers, or if anytbése providers unilaterally decide not to do bessnwith us for any reason, our ability to
develop and sell products containing that technoleguld be severely limited. If we are shipping gwots that contain third-party technology
that we subsequently lose the right to license) the will not be able to continue to offer or sugpbose products. In addition, these licenses
often require royalty payments or other considerato the third party licensor. Our success wilpeled, in part, on our continued ability to
access these technologies, and we do not know ettitése third-party technologies will continué#olicensed to us on commercially
acceptable terms, if at all. If we are unable ¢erlise the necessary technology, we may be forcachjgire or develop alternative technology of
lower quality or performance standards, which wdundt and delay our ability to offer new or comjtige products and increase our costs of
production. As a result, our margins, market shame, operating results could be significantly hatme

We also utilize third-party software developmeninganies to develop, customize, maintain and supgadttvare that is incorporated into
our products. If these companies fail to timelyivial or continuously maintain and support the safey as we require of them, we may
experience delays in releasing new products oicdiffes with supporting existing products and oasé¢rs. In addition, if these third-party
licensors fail, then
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we may be unable to continue to sell productsiti@trporate the licensed technologies in additmheaing unable to continue to maintain and
support these products. We do require escrow agraagts with respect to certain third-party softwahéch entitle us to certain limited rights
to the source code, in the event of certain faddng the third party, in order to maintain and suppguch software. However, there is no
guarantee that we would be able to understand sethe source code, as we may not have the exptrtao so. We are increasingly exposed
to these risks as we continue to develop and manke¢ products containing third-party software bsas our TV connectivity, security and
network attached storage products.

If the redemption rate for our end-user promotional programs is higher than we estima, then our net revenue and gross margin will t
negatively affected.

From time to time we offer promotional incentivag;luding cash rebates, to encourage end-usensrahv@se certain of our products.
Purchasers must follow specific and stringent dirids to redeem these incentives or rebates. @ftelified purchasers choose not to apply
the incentives or fail to follow the required redaion guidelines, resulting in an incentive redeioprate of less than 100%. Based on
historical data, we estimate an incentive redemptide for our promotional programs. If the acteglemption rate is higher than our estimated
rate, then our net revenue and gross margin witidggatively affected.

If we are unable to secure and protect our intellecial property rights, our ability to compete could be harmed.

We rely upon third parties for a substantial portad the intellectual property that we use in otoducts. At the same time, we rely on a
combination of copyright, trademark, patent anddraecret laws, nondisclosure agreements with grae#y consultants and suppliers and
other contractual provisions to establish, maingaid protect our intellectual property rights. Despfforts to protect our intellectual property,
unauthorized third parties may attempt to desigmiag, copy aspects of our product design or olatathuse technology or other intellectual
property associated with our products. For examgie,of our primary intellectual property assetthesNETGEAR name, trademark and logo.
We may be unable to stop third parties from adgpsimilar names, trademarks and logos, particularthose international markets where our
intellectual property rights may be less protectadthermore, our competitors may independentlyetigvsimilar technology or design around
our intellectual property. Our inability to secuned protect our intellectual property rights cosilghificantly harm our brand and business,
operating results and financial condition.

Our sales and operations in international markets xpose us to operational, financial and regulatory isks.

International sales comprise a significant amodimtup overall net revenue. International sales V&% of overall net revenue in fiscal
2011 and 50% of overall net revenue in fiscal 2048.continue to be committed to growing our int¢ioreal sales and while we have
committed resources to expanding our internatioparations and sales channels, these efforts nteyersuccessful. International operations
are subject to a number of other risks, including:

» political and economic instability, internationattorism and ar-American sentiment, particularly in emerging mask
» potential for violations of ar-corruption laws and regulations, such as thoseeel@ bribery and fraur

» preference for locally branded products, and lamgslausiness practices favoring local competit

» exchange rate fluctuatior

» increased difficulty in managing inventol

» delayed revenue recognitic

» less effective protection of intellectual propel
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» stringent consumer protection and product compéaegulations, including but not limited to the Riesion of Hazardou:
Substances directive, the Waste Electrical andtileic Equipment directive and the recently ena&eddesign directive (EuP) in
Europe, that may vary from country to country amat tare costly to comply witl

« difficulties and costs of staffing and managingefign operations
» business difficulties, including potential bankreypbr liquidation, of any of our worldwide third g logistics providers; an
» changes in local tax law

We are required to comply with local environmemgaglislation and our customers rely on this compiéim order to sell our products. If
our customers do not agree with our interpretatams requirements of new legislation, such as tivefiean Ecodesign directive (EuP), they
may cease to order our products and our revenuéhvb@uharmed.

We are expanding and reorganizing our operations ahinfrastructure, which may strain our operations and increase our operating
expenses.

We are expanding and reorganizing our operatiodgpansuing market opportunities both domesticatlgl aternationally in order to
grow our sales. We expect that this attempted esiparwill require enhancements to our existing ngamaent information systems, and
operational and financial controls. In additionwi continue to grow, our expenditures will likddg significantly higher than our historical
costs. We may not be able to install adequate alsnitr an efficient and timely manner as our busingrows, and our current systems may not
be adequate to support our future operations. Tfieulties associated with installing and implentieg new systems, procedures and controls
may place a significant burden on our managemget;adional and financial resources. In additionyef grow internationally, we will have to
expand and enhance our communications infrastreichnithe second fiscal quarter of 2011, we redmgahour business into three business
units: retail, commercial, and service providere T@ompany’s reorganization into three businessundy cause significant distraction to our
management and employees. For example, channgriny conflicts may arise in certain territori@s each of our business units may engage
in selling activities which may benefit that busiseunit at the expense of another business uraddition, disclosures of previously npnblic
information in connection with our reorganizatioayraelso provide our competitors with strategic deltiich may put us at a competitive
disadvantage and harm our business. These newslises about our performance may also cause ak gtwe to decline. If we fail to
continue to improve our management informationeayst, procedures and financial controls or encoumexkpected difficulties during
expansion and reorganization, our business coulthbmed.

For example, we have invested, and will continumtest, significant capital and human resourcebéndesign and enhancement of our
financial and enterprise resource planning systerhish may be disruptive to our underlying businé¥e depend on these systems in order to
timely and accurately process and report key corapiznof our results of operations, financial positand cash flows. If the systems fail to
operate appropriately or we experience any dissaptor delays in enhancing their functionality teehcurrent business requirements, our
ability to fulfill customer orders, bill and traaddur customers, fulfill contractual obligations, acately report our financials and otherwise run
our business could be adversely affected. Everiflavnot encounter these adverse effects, the eatmamt of systems may be much more
costly than we anticipated. If we are unable totiomre to enhance our information technology systamplanned, our financial position, res
of operations and cash flows could be negativelyaated.

We have had to restate our historical financial st&ements.

In July 2009, we announced that we had incorreefprted our income tax provision for the three therended March 29, 2009 and,
result of this error, we restated the financiatesteents in our quarterly report on Form 10-Q far tiwee months ended March 29, 2009. The
restatement, which related solely to the correotibn
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the income tax provision for the three months endadch 29, 2009, resulted in adjustments relatéddome taxes in our financial statements.
In our previously filed financial statements foe tthree months ended March 29, 2009, we incorr@atlpyded a particular foreign entity in
calculating our estimated annualized tax provisidns foreign entity should not have been includethe calculation because the anticipated
losses in that entity would not give rise to tardf@s. While our overall annual tax provision wax affected for the entire year, we made an
error in inter-quarter allocations of the tax psion. Material changes to our previously reporiedricial information occurred as a result of
this error.

In connection with this restatement we identifiedtain control deficiencies relating to the appima of applicable accounting literature
related to recordation of tax expenses. Theseidafies constituted a material weakness in intezoatrol over financial reporting as of
March 29, 2009, which led to items requiring coti@tin our financial statements and our conclug@restate such financial statements to
correct those items. Specifically, the control dieficies related to our failure to correctly apihly authoritative guidance for income taxes in
determining the proper allocation of our annualit@dprovision.

Although this material weakness had been remediatddecember 31, 2009, we cannot be certain tleatasures we have taken since
this restatement will ensure that restatementsneilloccur in the future. Execution of restatemdikésthe one described above create a
significant strain on our internal resources anaddcause delays in our filing of quarterly or aahfinancial results, increase our costs and
cause management distraction. Restatements magigfsficantly affect our stock price in an advensanner.

Governmental regulations of imports or exports affeting Internet security could affect our net revene.

Any additional governmental regulation of importseaports or failure to obtain required export ayMai of our encryption technologies
could adversely affect our international and doloesstles. The United States and various foreigregowents have imposed controls, export
license requirements, and restrictions on the itnmoexport of some technologies, particularly gpton technology. In addition, from time to
time, governmental agencies have proposed additiegalation of encryption technology, such as igng the escrow and governmental
recovery of private encryption keys. In responstetoorist activity, governments could enact adaisil regulation or restriction on the use,
import, or export of encryption technology. Thiglabnal regulation of encryption technology codlelay or prevent the acceptance and use of
encryption products and public networks for semmmmunications, resulting in decreased demanduppmducts and services. In addition,
some foreign competitors are subject to less srihgontrols on exporting their encryption techi@s. As a result, they may be able to
compete more effectively than we can in the UnBéates and the international Internet security etark

We are exposed to credit risk and fluctuations inlie market values of our investment portfolio.

Although we have not recognized any material losgesur cash equivalents and short-term investmérttge declines in their market
values could have a material adverse effect orfioancial condition and operating results. Givea tfobal nature of our business, we have
investments with both domestic and internationaficial institutions. Accordingly, we face expostadluctuations in interest rates, which
may limit our investment income. If these finandredtitutions default on their obligations or thefedit ratings are negatively impacted by
liquidity issues, credit deterioration or lossésancial results, or other factors, the value af@ash equivalents and short-term investments
could decline and result in a material impairmevttich could have a material adverse effect on manfcial condition and operating results.

Economic conditions, political events, war, terrorsm, public health issues, natural disasters and ogh circumstances could materially
adversely affect us.

Our corporate headquarters are located in NortBatifornia and one of our warehouses is locate8dathern California, both of which
are regions known for seismic activity. Signifidgrall of our critical enterprise-wide informatiagachnology systems, including our main
servers, are currently housed in colocation
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facilities near our headquarters in Northern Catfifa. While we have moved our critical informatithnology systems in 2010 to colocation
facilities in a different geographic region in tbeited States, our headquarters and warehouse$rsosteptible to seismic activity so long as
they are located in California. In addition, subsitly all of our manufacturing occurs in two geaghically concentrated areas in mainland
China, where disruptions from natural disasteraltheepidemics and political, social and economgtability may affect the region. If our
manufacturers or warehousing facilities are dissdpir destroyed, we would be unable to distributeppoducts on a timely basis, which could
harm our business.

We depend significantly on worldwide economic caiodis and their impact on consumer spending levetgh have recently
deteriorated significantly in many countries angioes, including without limitation the United S¢at and may remain depressed for the
foreseeable future. Factors that could influenedélels of consumer spending include increaséselnand other energy costs, conditions in
the residential real estate and mortgage marlaisy land healthcare costs, access to credit, carstonfidence and other macroeconomic
factors affecting consumer spending behavior.

In addition, war, terrorism, geopolitical uncert#s, public health issues, and other businessriidons have caused and could cause
damage or disruption to international commercetaadjlobal economy, and thus could have a stroggtie effect on us, our suppliers,
logistics providers, manufacturing vendors anda@mstrs. Our business operations are subject taupéon by natural disasters, fire, power
shortages, terrorist attacks, and other hostilg ¢éadbor disputes, public health issues, and @hents beyond our control. For example, labor
disputes at manufacturing facilities in China ocedrin 2010 and have led to workers going on stfilkee recent trend of labor unrest could
materially affect our third-party manufactureadilities to manufacture our products. In additiath of our major direct and indirect suppliers
hard disk drives have been affected by record floggpdh Thailand in the third fiscal quarter of 20hd they informed us that our supply chain
would be constrained for an indefinite amount ofetj up to six months in some cases. Some havedhedeclared a force majeure event and
have stated that, in addition to and because dadupely constraints, pricing for hard disk drivestand will likely continue to increase
significantly until they are able to stabilize thituation. We experienced increased prices in tis¢ af hard disk drives and those increases may
continue. As a result, the Company ceased acceptipngrders containing ReadyNAS products with lths#l drives. In addition, all then
current sales and marketing promotions involvingdR®AS products were terminated indefinitely. Farthhe Company declared the
existence of a force majeure event under our cotstrgith certain customers. Accordingly, our bussye/as harmed. Furthermore, earthquakes
and resultant nuclear threats and tsunamis in Jagdarch 2011 have caused some disruption to opply of raw materials and components
for our products and may impact our operating tesalJapan.

Such events could decrease demand for our produats it difficult or impossible for us to make asheliver products to our customers
or to receive components from our suppliers, aedterdelays and inefficiencies in our supply ch&hould major public health issues,
including pandemics, arise, we could be negatiaffigcted by more stringent employee travel restnst, additional limitations in freight
services, governmental actions limiting the moveheémproducts between regions, delays in produatéonps of new products, and disruptions
in the operations of our manufacturing vendors @rdponent suppliers.

System security risks, data protection breaches antiyber-attacks could disrupt our internal operatiors or information technology or
networking services provided to customers, and anguch disruption could reduce our expected revenu@crease our expenses, damage
our reputation and adversely affect our stock price

Maintaining the security of our computer informatigystems and communication systems is a critisald for us and our customers.
Hackers may develop and deploy viruses, worms #mel onalicious software programs that are desigoedtack our products and systems,
including our internal network, or those of our ders or customers. Additionally, outside parties/ragiempt to fraudulently induce our
employees or users of our products to disclosatsenmformation in order to gain access to outadar our customers’ data. We have not
established a formal business continuity plan. ¥hié have established infrastructure and geograptimdancy for our
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critical systems, our ability to utilize these redant systems requires further testing and we ddmassured that such systems are fully
functional. For example, much of our order fulfimt process is automated and the order informaistored on our servers. A significant
business interruption could result in losses orafges and harm our business. If our computer syst@chservers go down at the end of a fi
quarter, our ability to recognize revenue may Heydsl until we were able to utilize back-up systemd continue to process and ship our
orders. This could cause our stock price to dedigeificantly. Moreover, potential breaches of sacurity measures and the accidental loss,
inadvertent disclosure or unapproved disseminaifgroprietary information or sensitive or confidi@hdata about us or our customers,
including the potential loss or disclosure of sirdbrmation or data as a result of hacking, frauddkery or other forms of deception, could
expose us, our customers or the individuals aftetden risk of loss or misuse of this informatiogsult in litigation and potential liability for
us, damage our brand and reputation or otherwisa bar business.

ltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Commen
None.

ltem 2. Properties

Our principal administrative, sales, marketing aeskarch and development facilities currently ogagproximately 142,700 square feet
in an office complex in San Jose, California, ura@lésase that expires in March 2018.

Our international headquarters occupy approximdt8|®00 square feet in an office complex in Cor&land, under a lease entered int
February 2006 and expiring in December 2026. Owrivational sales personnel are based out of &zdes offices or home offices in Austria,
Australia, Brazil, Canada, China, Czech Republienmbark, France, Germany, Hong Kong, India, Itadpah, Korea, Mexico, New Zealand,
Poland, Russia, Singapore, Spain, Sweden, Switmgrthe Netherlands, the United Arab Emirates,thedJnited Kingdom. We also have
operations personnel using a leased facility ingdong. We also maintain research and developnailitfes in Atlanta, Chicago, Beijing,
Guangzhou, Nanjing, and Shanghai, China, and ipefaraiwan. From time to time we consider varialisrnatives related to our long-term
facilities needs. While we believe our existingilities provide suitable space for our operationd are adequate to meet our immediate needs
it may be necessary to lease additional spacecamamodate future growth. We have invested in irglecapacity and strategic relationships
with outside manufacturing vendors as needed td am&ipated demand for our products.

We use third parties to provide warehousing sesvioaus, consisting of facilities in Southern Gatifia, Australia, Hong Kong and the
Netherlands

Item 3. Legal Proceeding:

The information set forth under the heading “Litiga and Other Legal Matters” in Note @mmitments and Contingenciga Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 of Raftthis Annual Report on Form 10-K, is incorpted herein by reference. For additional
discussion of certain risks associated with legatgedings, see Iltem 1Rjsk Factors

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosure
Not applicable.
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PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registran’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters andusr Purchases of Equity Securiti¢
Market Information

Our common stock has been quoted under the syMNJIGER” on the Nasdaq National Market from July 3Q202 to July 1, 2006, and on
the Nasdag Global Select Market since then. Poithat time, there was no public market for our own stock. The following table sets forth
for the indicated periods the high and low intradaies prices for our common stock on the Nasdaljetea Such information reflects
interdealer prices, without retail markup, markdasyrcommission, and may not represent actual trioses.

Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2010 High Low

First Quarte! $27.3¢ $20.2¢
Second Quarte 28.9¢ 18.6:
Third Quartel 28.1¢ 17.4¢
Fourth Quarte 35.5( 25.8(
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 201 High Low

First Quartel $38.0( $29.91
Second Quarte 44.6( 30.31
Third Quartel 45.31 24.8i
Fourth Quarte 38.41 23.4¢

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides information as of Dedger 31, 2011 about our common stock that mayswedupon the exercise of
options and rights granted to employees or menmtfevar Board of Directors under all existing equitympensation plans, including the 2000
Plan (which was terminated as to new grants in RI2§3), the 2003 Stock Plan, the 2006 Long Termritice Plan and the 2003 Employee
Stock Purchase Plan.

Number of Securities Number of Securities
Remaining Available for
to be Issued Upon Weighted-Average Future Issuance Under
Exercise of Exercise Price of Equity Compensation Plan:
Outstanding Options Outstanding Options,
(Excluding Securities
Plan Category Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights Reflected in Column (&)
_ _ @ ®) ©
Equity compensation plans approved
security holder: 4,126,56:(1) $ 25.8i 1,192,46:(2)
Equity compensation plans not approved
by security holder — $ — —
Total 4,126,56. 1,192,46.

(1) Includes 259,230 shares subject to options outstgnehder the 2003 Plan, 3,867,332 shares sulgjegitions outstanding under the 2
Plan and no outstanding shares under the 2003 Ee®mBtock Purchase Pl

(2) Includes 255,445 shares available for future isseamder the 2003 Plan, 486,349 shares availabfatfare issuance under the 2006 F
and 450,669 shares available for future issuanderue 2003 Employee Stock Purchase F
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Company Performance

Notwithstanding any statement to the contrary ig ahour previous or future filings with the SE@e following information relating to
the price performance of our common stock shallbeotieemed “filed” with the SEC or “soliciting mai&” under the Exchange Act and st
not be incorporated by reference into any suchdsi

The following graph shows a comparison from Decan®ie 2006 through December 31, 2011 of cumulgtit@ return for our common
stock, the Nasdaq Composite Index and the NasdatpGter Index. Such returns are based on histagsallts and are not intended to suggest
future performance. Data for the Nasdagq Composidex and the Nasdaq Computer Index assume reingesthdividends. We have never
paid dividends on our common stock and have nceptgsans to do so.

250 —
= METGEAR, Inc
200 4 == MNASDAGQ Compater Indax
g == MNASDAD Composite Indax
| 150 -
- I i
| 100 — N {0
2 il
20 Lr
0
31-Dec-086 31-Dec-07 31-Dec-08 31-Dec-08 31-Dec-10 30-Dec-11
December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
NETGEAR, Inc. $ 100.0( $ 135.8¢ $ 43.47 $ 82.6: $ 128.3( $ 127.8¢
NASDAQ Computer Inde; $ 100.0( $ 121.8¢ $ 64.9¢ $ 110.9 $ 130.3: $ 130.9¢
NASDAQ Composite Inde $ 100.0( $ 109.8: $ 65.2¢ $ 93.9¢ $ 109.8¢ $ 107.8¢

Holders of Common Stock
On February 21, 2012, there were 28 stockholdersaufrd.
The number of record holders is based upon thebotumber of holders registered on our books ab siate and does not include hold

of shares in “street names” or persons, partnesshigsociations, corporations or other entitiestitied in security position listings maintained
by depository trust companies.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash dividends ooapital stock. We currently intend to retain f@tearnings, if any, to finance the
operation and expansion of our business, and wetlanticipate paying cash dividends in the forabtefuture.
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Repurchase of Equity Securities by the Company

Total Number of Share:

Total Number of Average Price Maximum Number of Shares
Purchased as Part of

Shares Paid per Publicly Announced that May Yet Be Purchased

Period Purchased Share Plans or Programs Under the Plans or Program:
October 3, 201-November 2

2011 917 $ 29.7¢ — 4,831,22I
November 3, 201-December

2,2011 — — — 4,831,22I
December 3, 2011-Decemb

31, 2011 — — — 4,831,22I

917 $  29.7¢ —

On October 21, 2008, our Board of Directors autteztimanagement to repurchase up to 6,000,000 sbfawas outstanding common
stock. Under this authorization, the timing anduathumber of shares subject to repurchase are atiscretion of management and are
contingent on a number of factors, such as levieteish generation from operations, cash requiresrfentacquisitions and our share price.
During the years ended December 31, 2011, 2012@08, we did not repurchase any shares of comnoah sinder this repurchase
authorization. However, we repurchased approxima&®|000 shares or $926,000 of common stock retatdioe lapse of RSUs during the y
ended December 31, 2011.

Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Da

The following selected consolidated financial data qualified in their entirety, and should be readonjunction with, the consolidated
financial statements and related notes thereto;Madagement’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€ahdition and Results of Operations”
included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

We derived the selected consolidated statemenperfations data for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 and the selected
consolidated balance sheet data as of Decemb@031,and 2010 from our audited consolidated firerstatements appearing elsewhere in
this Form 10-K. We derived the selected consoldiatatement of operations data for the years eBeéegmber 31, 2008 and 2007 and the
selected consolidated balance sheet data as ofribece31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 from our audited dateted financial statements, which are
not included in this Form 10-K. Historical resudt® not necessarily indicative of results to beeetgd for future periods.
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Consolidated Statement of Operations Date
Net revenue
Cost of revenue(z
Gross profil
Operating expense
Research and development
Sales and marketing(
General and administrative(
Restructuring and other charg
In-process research and developn
Technology license arrangeme
Litigation reserves, ne
Total operating expens:
Income from operation
Interest income, ne
Other income (expense), r
Income before income tax
Provision for income taxe
Net income

Net income per shar
Basic(1)
Diluted(1)

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
(In thousands, except per share data)

$1,181,01 $902,05: $686,59! $743,34¢ $727,78"
811,57: 602,80! 480,19! 502,32( 485,18(
369,44¢ 299,24 206,40( 241,02 242,60°
48,69¢ 39,97: 30,05¢ 33,77: 28,07(
154,56: 131,57( 106,16: 121,68’ 117,93¢
39,42: 36,22( 32,72 31,73¢ 27,22(
2,09¢ (89) 80¢ 1,92¢ =
— — — 1,80( 4,10(

— — 2,50(C — —
(201) 211 2,08( 711 167
244,57 207,88¢ 174,33« 191,63 177,49¢
124,86¢ 91,36: 32,06¢ 49,391 65,11:
477 42¢€ 62¢ 4,33¢ 8,42¢
(1,136) (564) (12€) (8,389 3,29¢
124,21( 91,22« 32,567 45,34: 76,83¢
32,84: 40,31 23,23¢ 27,29: 30,88:
$ 91,36¢ $ 50,90¢ $ 9,33 $ 18,05( $ 45,95/
$ 246 $ 144 $ 027 $ 051 $ 1.3
$ 2.41 $ 141 $ 0.27 $ 0.51 $ 1.2¢

(1) Information regarding calculation of per shedega is described in Note et Income Per Shardn Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements in Item 8 of Part Il of this Annual Remm Form 1-K.

(2) Stoclk-based compensation expense was allocated as fo

Cost of revenu

Research and developmt
Sales and marketir
General and administrati\

Consolidated Balance Sheet Dat¢

Cash, cash equivalents and s-term investment

Working capital

Total asset

Total current liabilities
Total nor-current liabilities
Total stockholdel equity

$ 99¢ $ 91: $ 95¢ $ 864 $ 632
2,47¢ 2,271 1,97: 3,21¢ 2,391
5,13¢ 4,71( 4,143 3,40¢ 3,01z
5,151 4,307 3,94t 3,83¢ 2,84:
December 31
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
(In thousands)
$353,69!  $270,73° $247,10(  $203,00¢  $205,34:
$525,26¢ $413,32:  $339,11¢ $312,84: $311,08:
$971,37(  $780,32: $633,12. $586,20¢ $551,10¢
$308,96. $254,720 $195,60¢ $176,50* $168,50°
$ 23,65 $ 25,16: $ 23,35¢ $ 18,74¢ $ 11,07¢
$638,75° $500,43¢ $414,15: $390,95¢ $371,52¢
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ltem 7. Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition drkResults of Operation

You should read the following discussion of ouafiicial condition and results of operations togettdth the audited consolidated
financial statements and notes to the financialesteents included elsewhere in this Forr-K. This discussion contains forward-looking
statements that involve risks and uncertaintieg fbinward-looking statements are not historicaltéadut rather are based on current
expectations, estimates, assumptions and projecabout our industry, business and future finanaults. Our actual results could differ
materially from the results contemplated by these/érd-looking statements due to a number of fagtmcluding those discussed under “Risk
Factor<” in Part I, Item 1A above.

Business Overview

We are a global networking company that deliver®irative products to consumers, businesses anitegmoviders. For consumers, we
make high performance, dependable and easy-toame hetworking, storage and digital media prodtetsonnect people with the Internet
and their content and devices. For businessesrowide networking, storage and security solutiofitheut the cost and complexity of Big IT.
We also supply leading service providers with tetelnole home networking solutions for their custas Our products are built on a variet
proven technologies such as wireless, Ethernepanrline, with a focus on reliability and easeust.

Our product line consists of wired and wirelessices that enable networking, broadband access onletvonnectivity, network storage
and security appliances. These products are alailabnultiple configurations to address the neafdsur end-users in each geographic region
in which our products are sold.

We sell our networking products through multipléesachannels worldwide, including traditional réges, online retailers, wholesale
distributors, direct market resellers (“DMRs”), vatadded resellers (“VARSs”), and broadband semioeiders. Our retail channel includes
traditional retail locations domestically and imationally, such as Best Buy, Fry’s ElectronicsgdiRe&Shack, Staples, Wal-Mart, Argos (U.K.),
Dixons (U.K.), PC World (U.K.), MediaMarkt (Germaniustria), Dick Smith (Australia), JB HiFi (Austia) and Elkjop (Norway). Online
retailers include Amazon.com, Dell, Newegg.com Bogt.com. Our DMRs include CDW Corporation, Insighdarporation and PC Connection
in domestic markets and Misco throughout Europeadadition, we also sell our products through br@edbservice providers, such as multiple
system operators (“MSOs”), DSL, and other broaditactinology operators domestically and internatign&ome of these retailers and
broadband service providers purchase directly faggrwhile others are fulfilled through wholesalstdbutors around the world. A substantial
portion of our net revenue to date has been defived a limited number of wholesale distributorglaatailers, including Ingram Micro and
Best Buy. We expect that these wholesale distrilsiaad retailers will continue to contribute a gigant percentage of our net revenue for the
foreseeable future. Our service provider businassgnown substantially and it is difficult to ageér a seasonal pattern given that the business
is less predictable than our other core businesses.

In the second fiscal quarter of 2011, we made drgdinnal changes that resulted in changes to theiwwhich the CODM manages a
evaluates the business. Our business is now marageete specific business units: retail, comradrend service provider. The retail
business unit consists of high performance, defgdadmd easy-to-use home networking, storage aithdinedia products to connect people
with the Internet and their content and deviceg @timmercial business unit consists of businesganking, storage and security solutions
without the cost and complexity of Big IT. The seevprovider business unit consists of made-to+oade retail proven, whole home
networking solutions sold to service provider falesto their customers. Each business unit is methag a Senior Vice President/General
Manager. There is no change in the CODM beforeadisd the reorganization of the segments. We belthis new structure enables us to
better focus our efforts on our core customer segsnand allows us to be more nimble and opportiecrest a company overall. Additionally, in
the first fiscal quarter of 2011, we combined owrtd American, Central American and South Amerisales forces to form the Americas
territory. Previously, North America was its owrpgeaphic region and the Central American and Séntlerican territories were categorized
within the Asia Pacific (“APAC”) geographic regioRollowing this change, we are now organized ihfbllowing three geographic
territories: Americas, Europe, Middle-East
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and Africa (“"EMEA”) and APAC. For further detailefer to Note 12Segment Information, Operations by Geographic Axecé Customer
Concentration in Item 8 Part Il of this Annual Report on For@+K.

Our net revenue increased 30.9% during the yeagceBecember 31, 2011. The increase in net reveasevincipally attributable to
higher sales in several of our product categoridhé Americas, Europe, Middle-East and Africa (“EM’) and Asia Pacific (“APAC”). These
include wireless-N products sold to retailers axidtang service provider customers, Powerline patsluReadyNAS products, and switch
products.

Our gross margin decreased to 31.3% for the yededeBDecember 31, 2011 from 33.2% for the year edw@dmber 31, 2010. The
decrease in gross margin was primarily attributédle higher percentage of our total revenue derik@m sales to service providers, which
generally carry lower gross margins. Operating asps for the year ended December 31, 2011 were&24iHlion, or 20.7% of net revenue,
compared to $207.9 million, or 23.1% of net reverfiaethe year ended December 31, 2010. This iser@as primarily attributable to
increases of $24.0 million in salary and other emeé related expenses due to headcount growtt@&adnillion in outside service costs
related to increased investments in research avelaament projects and increased call center aysten by greater sales volume. In addition,
the increase was also attributable to a $2.2 milliwrease in restructuring and other charges pilyndue to employee severance resulting
from the reorganization into three specific businesits.

Net income increased $40.5 million, or 79.5%, t@.89million for the year ended December 31, 208dmf$50.9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2010. This increase was priyradtiibutable to an increase in gross profit o® £7/million and a decrease in the provision
for income tax of $7.5 million, which was partialiffset by an increase in operating expenses of7/d3dlion.

The commercial business, consumer, and broadbavides@rovider markets are intensely competitivd anbject to rapid technological
change. We expect our competition to continue tienisify. We believe that the principal competitfaetors in these markets for networking
products include product breadth, size and scopleeso$ales channel, brand name, timeliness of medupt introductions, product availability,
performance, features, functionality and reliapjl@ase-of-installation, maintenance and use, astbmer service and support. To remain
competitive, we believe we must continue to aggvessinvest resources in developing new produats @nhancing our current products wi
continuing to expand our channels and maintainirgjamer satisfaction worldwide.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements have beepapee in accordance with accounting principles gahyeaccepted in the United States
of America and pursuant to the rules and regulatifrthe SEC. The preparation of these financé&kstents requires management to make
assumptions, judgments and estimates that canshaigmificant impact on the reported amounts oésdiabilities, revenues and expenses.
We base our estimates on historical experienceoandrious other assumptions believed to be agpécand reasonable under the
circumstances. Actual results could differ sigrafidy from these estimates. These estimates maygehas new events occur, as additional
information is obtained and as our operating emvirent changes. On a regular basis we evaluatessungptions, judgments and estimates
make changes accordingly. We also discuss oucalkriiccounting estimates with the Audit Committééhe Board of Directors. Note The
Company and Summary of Significant Accounting Radicof the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemdesribes the significant
accounting policies used in the preparation ofcthesolidated financial statements. We have liseddvb our critical accounting policies that
believe to have the greatest potential impact arconsolidated financial statements. Historicadlyr assumptions, judgments and estimates
relative to our critical accounting policies hawa differed materially from actual results.
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Revenue Recognition

Refer to Note 1The Company and Summary of Significant Accountoigies, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemehthkis
Annual Report on Form 10-K for a discussion of mwenue recognition policies. Revenue from prodates is generally recognized at the
time the product is shipped, provided that persigasvidence of an arrangement exists, title arkdafidoss has transferred to the customer, the
selling price is fixed or determinable and collentof the related receivable is reasonably ass@edently, for some of our customers, title
passes to the customer upon delivery to the parbontry of destination, upon their receipt of greduct, or upon the customer’s resale of the
product. At the end of each fiscal quarter, weneste and defer revenue related to product wheeehtits not transferred. The revenue conti
to be deferred until such time that title passehi¢ocustomer. We have not made any material clsangee accounting methodology we use to
estimate deferred revenue related to product wiittgdnas not transferred. We do not believe thvétiebe a material change in the future
estimates or assumptions used in our estimatefefrdd revenue. We assess collectability basedram@er of factors, including general
economic and market conditions, past transactistohi with the customer, and the creditworthindshe customer. If we determine that
collection of the corresponding receivable is matsonably assured, we defer the revenue untilpiesEpayment.

Allowances for Product Warranties, Returns due tto8k Rotation, Sales Incentives and Doubtful Accdan

Our standard warranty obligation to our direct oostrs generally provides for a right of return oy @roduct for a full refund in the
event that such product is not merchantable ariad to be damaged or defective. At the time regéauecognized, an estimate of future
warranty returns is recorded to reduce revenubdratmount of the expected credit or refund to logiged to our direct customers. At the time
we record the reduction to revenue related to vagyreeturns, we include within cost of revenue &avdown to reduce the carrying value of
such products to net realizable value. Our standardanty obligation to end-users provides for aepment of a defective product for one or
more years. Factors that affect the warranty obtiganclude product failure rates, material usage] service delivery costs incurred in
correcting product failures. The estimated cospeiased with fulfilling the warranty obligation #nd-users is recorded in cost of revenue.
Because our products are manufactured by thirdspaainufacturers, in certain cases we have recaare third-party manufacturer for
replacement or credit for the defective products. e consideration to amounts recoverable frontlued-party manufacturers in
determining our warranty liability. Our estimatdtbevances for product warranties can vary from akttesults and we may have to record
additional revenue reductions or charges to costwdnue, which could materially impact our finahgiosition and results of operations.

In addition to warranty-related returns, certaistidbutors and retailers generally have the righteturn product for stock rotation
purposes. Upon shipment of the product, we redecenue for an estimate of potential future stod¢&tion returns related to the current period
product revenue. We analyze historical returnsnobhinventory levels, current economic trends eimahges in customer demand for our
products when evaluating the adequacy of the athoedor sales returns, namely stock rotation retudur estimated allowances for returns
due to stock rotation can vary from actual resaiftd we may have to record additional revenue réshstwhich could materially impact our
financial position and results of operations.

We accrue for sales incentives as a marketing esepigénve receive an identifiable benefit in exchaagd can reasonably estimate the
value of the identifiable benefit received; othessyiit is recorded as a reduction of revenues.eStimated provisions for sales incentives can
vary from actual results and we may have to reaolditional expenses or additional revenue redusti@pendent on the classification of the
sales incentive.

We maintain an allowance for doubtful accountsefstimated losses resulting from the inability of oustomers to make required
payments. We regularly perform credit evaluatiohew customers’ financial condition and considsetbrs such as historical experience,
credit quality, age of the accounts receivableriada, and geographic or country-specific riskseswhomic conditions that may affect a
customer’s ability to pay. The allowance for doub#ccounts is reviewed quarterly and adjusteédfessary based on our
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assessments of our customers’ ability to pay.dffthancial condition of our customers should detete or if actual defaults are higher than
our historical experience, additional allowancey @ required, which could have an adverse impactp®zrating expenses.

Valuation of Inventory

We value our inventory at the lower of cost or nedrkost being determined using the first-in, fvat method. We continually assess the
value of our inventory and will periodically writkown its value for estimated excess and obsoletntory based upon assumptions about
future demand and market conditions. On a quarteryjs, we review inventory quantities on hand amarder under non-cancelable purchase
commitments, including consignment inventory, imgarison to our estimated forecast of product dehfanthe next nine months to
determine what inventory, if any, are not saleaBler analysis is based on the demand forecastkestinto account market conditions,
product development plans, product life expectaaray other factors. Based on this analysis, we wioten the affected inventory value for
estimated excess and obsolescence charges. Abititeoploss recognition, a new, lower cost basisthat inventory is established, and
subsequent changes in facts and circumstancestdeguit in the restoration or increase in that Iyexgtablished cost basis. As demonstrated
during prior years, demand for our products caatfiate significantly. If actual demand is lowerntaur forecasted demand and we fail to
reduce our manufacturing accordingly, we coulddzpiired to write down additional inventory, whiclowmd have a negative effect on our
gross profit.

Goodwill and Intangibles

We apply the authoritative guidance for intangildes perform an annual goodwill impairment tesb8t certain events or indicators of
impairment occur between annual impairment testsyill perform the impairment test as those eventsdicators occur.

Refer to Note 1The Company and Summary of Significant Accountoigies, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemehthkis
Annual Report on Form 10-K for a complete discussibour goodwill policies. In September 2011, B#SB issued ASU 2011-08,
“Intangibles — Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): TiagtGoodwill for Impairment.” ASU 2011-08 permita antity to make a qualitative
assessment of whether it is more likely than nat ghreporting unit’s fair value is less than ésrging amount as a basis for determining if
performing the two-step goodwill impairment teshecessary. ASU 2011-08 is effective for annualiatetim goodwill impairment tests
performed for fiscal years beginning after Decentigr2011; however, early adoption is permitted. &éeted to adopt the updated standard
for the purpose of our goodwill impairment testinghe fourth fiscal quarter of 2011.

In the fourth fiscal quarter of 2011, we completieel annual impairment test of goodwill. We assesdeether it was more likely than n
(that is, a likelihood of more than 50%) that eeghorting unit’s fair value was less than its carmgyamount including goodwill by considering
the following factors: macroeconomic conditiongjustry and market considerations, cost factorsiadveompany financial performance,
events affecting the reporting units, and changesir share price. Based on these factors ancet@at impairment testing in the second fiscal
guarter of 2011, we determined that it is not nilik&ly than not that each reporting unit’s fair walwas less than its carrying amount, and
therefore performing the first step of the two-s@pairment test for each reporting unit was unssagy. No goodwill impairment was
recognized in the years ended December 31, 2010, &02009. We do not believe it is likely thatrievill be a material change in the
estimates or assumptions we use to test for imgaithosses on goodwill. However, if the actual hssare not consistent with our estimates or
assumptions, we may be exposed to an impairmengelhat could be material.

Purchased intangible assets with finite lives ameréized using the straight-line method over tharested economic lives of the assets,
which range from less than one year to ten yeanthased intangible assets determined to haveiiigefiseful lives are not amortized. Long-
lived assets, including property and equipmentiatahgible assets, are reviewed for impairment velrenevents or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of such assetsmotbe recoverable. Such conditions may include@nomic downturn or a
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change in the assessment of future operationsridtation of recoverability is based on an estin@dtendiscounted future cash flows
resulting from the use of the asset and its evédigposition. Measurement of an impairment logddag-lived assets that management
expects to hold and use is based on the fair \@fltiee asset. Long-lived assets to be disposedeafegorted at the lower of carrying amount or
fair value less costs to sell. The carrying valfithe asset is reviewed on a regular basis foestigtence of facts, both internal and external,
that may suggest impairment.

During the years ended December 31, 2011, 2012@04, there were no events or changes in circurmasatiat indicated the carrying
amount of our long-lived assets may not be recdolerimom their undiscounted cash flows. Conseqyenté did not perform an impairment
test or record an impairment of our long-lived &sskiring those periods.

We will continue to evaluate the carrying valueoaf long-lived assets and if we determine in tharithat there is a potential further
impairment, we may be required to record additiatarges to earnings which could affect our finahesults.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes under an asset anititiiadpproach. Under this method, income tax exgeeis recognized for the amount
taxes payable or refundable for the current yeaaddition, deferred tax assets and liabilitiesrao®gnized for the expected future tax
consequences of temporary differences resulting fildferent treatments for tax versus accountingesfain items, such as accruals and
allowances not currently deductible for tax purgodehese differences result in deferred tax assetdiabilities, which are included within the
consolidated balance sheet. We must then asselkdiiteood that our deferred tax assets will beoreered from future taxable income and to
the extent we believe that recovery is not moreljikhan not, we must establish a valuation allaveas of December 31, 2011, we believe
that all of our deferred tax assets are recoveralolever, if there were a change in our abilitydoover our deferred tax assets, we would be
required to take a charge in the period in whichdetrmined that recovery was not more likely thah

Uncertain tax provisions are recognized under quidahat provides that a company should use a tikalg-than-not recognition
threshold based on the technical merits of therretax position taken. Income tax positions tha¢ttiee more-likely-than-not recognition
threshold should be measured in order to deterthiméax benefit to be recognized in the finandiatesnents. We include interest expense and
penalties related to uncertain tax positions adtiaddl tax expense.

42



Table of Contents

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth the Consolidatedt&teents of Operations and the percentage changetfr® preceding year for the
periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

Percentagt Percentagt
2011 Change 2010 Change 2009
(In thousands, except percentage dat:

Net revenue $1,181,01! 30.€% $902,05: 31.2% $686,59!

Cost of revenu 811,57: 34.€% 602,80! 25.5% 480,19!

Gross profil 369,44t 23.5% 299,24 45.(% 206,40(
Operating expense

Research and developmt 48,69¢ 21.8% 39,97: 33.(% 30,05¢

Sales and marketir 154,56: 17.5% 131,57( 23.% 106,16:

General and administrati\ 39,42 8.8% 36,22( 10.7% 32,72%

Restructuring and other charc 2,09¢ *x (88) ** 80¢

Technology license arrangeme — *x — (100.(%) 2,50(

Litigation reserves, ne (200 *x 211 (89.€%) 2,08(

Total operating expens: 244,57 17.%% 207,88! 19.2% 174,33¢

Income from operation 124,86¢ 36.7% 91,36: 184.%% 32,06¢

Interest income, ne 477 12.(% 42€ (32.2%) 62¢

Other income (expense), r (1,13¢) 101.% (569 340.6% (129¢)

Income before income tax 124,21( 36.2% 91,22¢ 180.1% 32,561

Provision for income taxe 32,84: (18.5%) 40,31¢ 73.5% 23,23¢

Net income $ 91,36¢ 79.5% $ 50,90¢ 445.%% $ 9,33

**  Percentage change not meaning
The following table sets forth the Consolidatedt&teents of Operations, expressed as a percentage mdvenue, for the periods presented:

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009

Net revenue 10C% 10C% 10C%
Cost of revenu 68.7 66.¢ 69.€
Gross margit 31.5 33.2 30.1

Operating expense

Research and developmt 4.1 4.t 4.4
Sales and marketir 13.1 14.¢ 15.4
General and administrati\ 3.3 4.C 4.8
Restructuring and other charg 0.2 0.C 0.1
Technology license arrangeme 0.C 0.C 0.4
Litigation reserves, ne 0.C 0.C 0.3
Total operating expens 20.7 23.1 25.4
Income from operatior 10.€ 10.1 4.7
Interest income, ne 0.C 0.1 0.1
Other income (expense), r 0.1 (0.1 (0.9
Income before income tax 10.5 10.1 4.7
Provision for income taxe 2.8 4.5 3.3

Net income 7.7% 5.6% 1.4%
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Net Revenue

Year Ended December 31

Percentag: Percentagt
2011 Change 2010 Change 2009
(In thousands, except percentage dat:
Net revenug $1,181,01! 30.% $902,05: 31.4&% $686,59!

Our net revenue consists of gross product shipmkss allowances for estimated returns for stot&tion and warranty, price protecti
end-user customer rebates and other sales incemtdemed to be a reduction of net revenue anchaeges in deferred revenue.

2011 Net Revenue Compared to 2010 Net Revenue

Net revenue increased $278.9 million, or 30.9%1@ billion for the year ended December 31, 26tin $902.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 2010. The increase in net rewsas due to strong growth in our retail and conwméproduct lines, and exceptional
growth in service provider revenue. Refer to theedssion of segment information for additional désgon of net revenue by business unit.

In the first quarter of 2011, in order to achieypexational efficiencies, we combined our North Aican, Central American and South
American sales forces to form the Americas teryit®reviously North America was its own geograpieigion and the Central American and
South American territories were categorized withien Asia Pacific geographic region. Following tbienge, we are organized into the
following three geographic territories: Americas/EA and Asia Pacific. We have reclassified the ldisare of net revenue by geography for
prior periods to conform to the current period’sgentation. The change did not result in materifdrénces from what was previously
reported. Net revenue by geography comprises gevesnue less such items as marketing incentivestpaiustomers, sales returns and price
protection.

Net revenue by geographic location is as follows:

Twelve Months Ended

December 31 Percentagt December 31
2011 Change 2010
(In thousands, except percentage data)

Americas $ 587,05t 25.£% $ 466,54:
Percentage of net reven 49.7% 51.7%

Europe, MiddI-East and Africe $ 477,71 40.2% $ 340,24¢
Percentage of net reven 40.4% 37.7%

Asia Pacific $ 116,24¢ 22.(% $ 95,26
Percentage of net reven 9.8% 10.6%

2010 Net Revenue Compared to 2009 Net Revenue

We experienced very strong net revenue growth 2600 to 2010. The increase in net revenue was pijnthue to exceptional growth
in our retail and commercial product lines, whiéedce provider revenue was down slightly. Refetti® discussion in thBegment Informatio
section for additional discussion of net revenudbginess unit.
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Net revenue by geographic location is as follows:

Twelve Months Ended

December 31 Percentagt December 31
2010 Change 2009
(In thousands, except percentage dat:

Americas $ 466,54. 46.%% $ 318,57:
Percentage of net reven 51.7% 46.4%

Europe, MiddI-East and Africe $ 340,24¢ 16.2% $ 292,34(
Percentage of net reven 37.7% 42.6%

Asia Pacific $ 95,26 25.9% $ 75,68:
Percentage of net reven 10.6% 11.0%

Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin

Year Ended December 31,

Percentag¢ Percentag¢
2011 Change 2010 Change 2009
(In thousands, except percentage data)
Cost of revenu $811,57: 34.6% $602,80! 25.5% $480,19!
Gross margin percentag 31.3% 33.2% 30.1%

Cost of revenue consists primarily of the followitige cost of finished products from our third-gartanufacturers; overhead costs
including purchasing, product planning, inventooyntrol, warehousing and distribution logistics; dnind freight; warranty costs associated
with returned goods; write-downs for excess analats inventory; and amortization expense of cerdaiquired intangibles. We outsource our
manufacturing, warehousing and distribution logstWe believe this outsourcing strategy allowsousetter manage our product costs and
gross margin. Our gross margin can be affectedrynaber of factors, including fluctuation in foraigxchange rates, sales returns, changes ir
net revenues due to changes in average sellinggprnddser customer rebates and other sales incentimds;tenges in our cost of goods ¢
due to fluctuations in prices paid for componen&s,of vendor rebates, warranty and overhead dostsund freight, conversion costs, and
charges for excess or obsolete inventory.

2011 Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin Compareddb®Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin

Cost of revenue increased $208.8 million, or 34.6894811.6 million for the year ended December28il,1, from $602.8 million for the
year ended December 31, 2010. Our gross margirased to 31.3% for the year ended December 31, #@bi 33.2% for the year end
December 31, 2010.

The decrease in gross margin was primarily attabletto a higher percentage of our total revenueett from sales to service providers,
which generally carry lower gross margins. Forytbhars ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, the safessérvice providers represented 31%
and 20% of net revenue, respectively.

2010 Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin Compared@02Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin

Cost of revenue increased $122.6 million, or 25.694602.8 million for the year ended December2B11,0, from $480.2 million for the
year ended December 31, 2009. Our gross margiaased to 33.2% for the year ended December 31, 2010 30.1% for the year end:
December 31, 2009.

The increase in gross margin was primarily attdbig to a higher percentage of our total revenueirmg from higher sales of retail and
commercial business products, which generally daigher gross margins. For the years ended Dece®ih@010 and 2009, the sales from
service providers represented 20% and 27% of nenree, respectively.
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Operating Expenses
Research and Development Expense

Year Ended December 31,

Percentagt Percentagt
2011 Change 2010 Change 2009
(In thousands, except percentage data)
Research and development expe $48,69¢ 21.&% $39,97: 33.(% $30,05¢
Percentage of net reven 4.1% 4.5% 4.4%

Research and development expenses consist prinodplgrsonnel expenses, payments to suppliersefsigd services, safety and
regulatory testing, product certification expenditito qualify our products for sale into speaifiarkets, prototypes and other consulting fees.
Research and development expenses are recognitleelyeare incurred. We have invested in buildingresearch and development
organization to enhance our ability to introduceowative and easy-to-use products. In the futusebalieve that research and development
expenses will increase in absolute dollars as war into new networking product technologies ammtien our core competencies.

2011 Research and Development Expense Compare®1® Research and Development Expense

Research and development expenses increased $Bonnoir 21.8%, to $48.7 million for the year edd@ecember 31, 2011, from $40.0
million for the year ended December 31, 2010. Tloedase was primarily attributable to increasedscofs$5.5 million related to an increase in
payroll and other employee expenses driven by mthdit headcount. Research and development headrmneased by 46 employees to 224
employees at December 31, 2011 compared to 178gegd at December 31, 2010. Furthermore, the iseneas attributable to higher
outside service costs of $2.5 million, primarilyated to our increased research and developmejegiso

2010 Research and Development Expense Compare®®® Research and Development Expense

Research and development expenses increased 38 nair 33.0%, to $40.0 million for the year end@ecember 31, 2010, from $30.1
million for the year ended December 31, 2009. Huoedase was primarily attributable to increasedscofk$7.2 million related to an increase in
payroll and other employee expenses principallyltieg from increased variable compensation, as agincreased overall research and
development headcount. Research and developmemtde® increased by 29 employees to 178 employtd@s@mber 31, 2010, comparel
149 employees at December 31, 2009. We note tha@seminimal variable compensation expense in thegeded December 31, 2009. Also
included in the $9.9 million was an increase of680 due to acquisition-related contingent comagnss related to our May 2007 acquisition
of Infrant Technologies, Inc. earned during theryaaded December 31, 2010 that did not occur dutiagyear ended December 31, 2009.
Furthermore, the increase was attributable to mighéside service costs of $1.2 million, primariéfated to our increased research and
development projects.

Sales and Marketing Expense

Year Ended December 31

Percentag¢ Percentage
2011 Change 2010 Change 2009
(In thousands, except percentage data)
Sales and marketing exper $154,56: 17.5% $131,57( 23.9% $106,16:
Percentage of net reven 13.1% 14.6% 15.4%

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarilgleérising, trade shows, corporate communicatiowsather marketing expenses,
product marketing expenses, outbound freight cpstsonnel expenses for sales and marketing stdffexhnical support expenses.
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2011 Sales and Marketing Expense Compared to 20aeSand Marketing Expense

Sales and marketing expenses increased $23.0mitiial 7.5%, to $154.6 million for the year endeztBmber 31, 2011, from $131.6
million for the year ended December 31, 2010. @&f ithcrease, $13.8 million was related to an insega payroll and other employee expenses
primarily attributable to increased overall saled anarketing headcount. Sales and marketing heatlamareased by 54 employees to 357
employees at December 31, 2011 compared to 303gegsd at December 31, 2010. Further, $7.2 millfath® increase was due to marketing
costs resulting from increased marketing campaigng,call center and freight costs, resulting fgneater sales volumes.

2010 Sales and Marketing Expense Compared to 208@$Sand Marketing Expense

Sales and marketing expenses increased $25.4mitid23.9%, to $131.6 million for the year endeztBmber 31, 2010, from $106.2
million for the year ended December 31, 2009. @& ithcrease, $15.1 million was related to an insegia payroll and other employee expenses
primarily attributable to increased overall salad anarketing headcount, increased variable compiensand an increase in travel expenses.
Sales and marketing headcount increased by 35 gagddo 303 employees at December 31, 2010, cothpa@68 employees at December
31, 2009. Additionally, marketing expenses and othaside service costs increased by $6.8 millioa t increased marketing campaigns.

General and Administrative Expense

Year Ended December 31

Percentagt Percentagt
2011 Change 2010 Change 2009
(In thousands, except percentage data)
General and administrative expel $39,42: 8.8% $36,22( 10.7% $32,727
Percentage of net reven 3.3% 4.0% 4.8%

General and administrative expenses consist ofisaland related expenses for executive, finandeaanounting, human resources,
professional fees, allowance for doubtful accoamts other corporate expenses.

2011 General and Administrative Expense Compare@@.0 General and Administrative Expense

General and administrative expenses increasedndiBi@n, or 8.8%, to $39.4 million for the year esdiDecember 31, 2011, from $36.2
million for the year ended December 31, 2010. Tioedase was primarily due to an increase in pagrall other employee expenses primarily
attributable to increased headcount. General amdragtrative headcount increased by 16 employedd4oemployees at December 31, 2011
compared to 98 employees at December 31, 2010.

2010 General and Administrative Expense Compare@®®9 General and Administrative Expense

General and administrative expenses increasednilién, or 10.7%, to $36.2 million for the yeardad December 31, 2010, from $32.7
million for the year ended December 31, 2009. @f #mount, $6.1 million was related to an incraageayroll and other employee expenses
primarily attributable to increased variable comgsion. We note there was minimal variable comp@nsaxpense in the year ended
December 31, 2009. Partially offsetting this inseeavas a $2.4 million decrease in fees for outeigal and other professional services
primarily attributable to decreased legal paterfienlge costs.

Restructuring and Other Charges

Restructuring and other charges increased $2.®millo an expense of $2.1 million during the yeaded December 31, 2011, from a
benefit of $88,000 for year ended December 31, 20f@he $2.2 million increase, we incurred $1.@ion in restructuring costs for employee
severance related to the reorganization into three

47



Table of Contents

specific business units during the year ended Dbee®il, 2011. In addition, we incurred $464,00€amsition services in connection with the
acquisition of the Customer Networking Solutiongision of Westell Technologies, Inc. during the iyeaded December 31, 2011. For a
further discussion of our restructuring expensésage see Note Restructuring and Other Chargesf the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.

In July 2008, we ceased using buildings leasedim&Clara and Fremont, California, and consol@iatepersonnel and operations from
those locations to our new corporate headquame®an Jose, California. The last of these operdgiages expired in December 2010. During
the year ended December 31, 2010, we realized &fiben$88,000 related to these facilities in $a6tara and Fremont due to lower than
expected common area maintenance fees. Duringetilegnded December 31, 2009, we expensed $80%E@6d to these excess facilities.
For a detailed discussion of our restructuring esps, please see NoteRkstructuring and Other Charges,Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements in Item 8 of Part Il of this Annual Remm Form 10-K.

Technology License Arrangements
We did not incur any expenses related to techndlicgynse arrangements in the years ended Decerib@031 and 2010.

During the year ended December 31, 2009, we entete@ $2.5 million arrangement to license sofeveachnologies that we may
integrate into certain future products. At thatdinve had not yet established the technologicailidiy of these products, and we did not
believe the software had an alternative future Asesuch, we expensed the entire technology licansegement amount of $2.5 million in the
year ended December 31, 20

Litigation Reserves and Payments

During the year ended December 31, 2011, we redadigigation reserve benefit of $201,000 for mstied costs related to the settlen
of potential lawsuits or lawsuits already filed exgh us. For a detailed discussion of our litigatinatters, please see NoteC@mmitments and
Contingencies in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statementteim 8 of Part Il of this Annual Report on Form KO-

During the year ended December 31, 2010, we redadigigation reserve expense of $211,000 fomestiéd costs related to the
settlement of potential lawsuits or lawsuits algefid against us.

During the year ended December 31, 2009, we redardtlitigation reserves expense of $2.1 millibhis expense was primarily
comprised of $2.6 million in estimated costs raldtethe settlement of various lawsuits againstusch includes $2.1 million related to a one-
time settlement payment made to the Commonwealtmgfic and Industrial Research Organization (“R6I') and $350,000 related to a one-
time settlement payment made to Network-1 Sec@itjtions, Inc. (“Network-1"). These expenses waffset by a reduction in previously
accrued legal settlement costs of $500,000 duestoranary judgment ruling in our favor on anotheeca

Interest Income and Other Income (Expense)

Year Ended December 31
2011 2010 2009
(In thousands)

Interest income and other income (expenst

Interest income, ne $ 477 $ 42¢€ $ 62¢
Other income (expense), r (1,136 (564) (12§)
Total interest income and other income (expe $ (659) $(13€) $ 501
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Interest income represents amounts earned on shy cash equivalents and short-term investments.

Other income (expense), net, primarily represeaitssgand losses on transactions denominated ifgfoceirrencies and other
miscellaneous expenses.

2011 Interest Income and Other Income (Expense) Guared to 2010 Interest Income and Other Income (EExze)

Interest income increased $51,000, or 12.0%, t@ $OD for the year ended December 31, 2011, fro26 $00 for the year ended
December 31, 2010. The increase in interest incoageprimarily attributable to an increase in owerage balance of cash, cash equivalents,
and short-term investments during the year endexiber 31, 2011, as compared to the year endedribece1, 2010, which was partially
offset by falling interest rates.

Other expense, net, increased $572,000 to expéifdelomillion for year ended December 31, 201adnfrexpense of $564,000 for year
ended December 31, 2010. Our foreign currency Imgdgiogram reduced volatility associated with heldgerrency exchange rate movements
during the year ended December 31, 2011. The erpxfihl.1 million mainly related to forward poirits hedged currency. For details of our
hedging program and related foreign currency cotgrgplease see NoteBerivative Financial Instrumentsin Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements in Item 8 of Part Il of thisnval Report on Form 10-K.

2010 Interest Income and Other Income (Expense) Guared to 2009 Interest Income and Other Income (EExize)

Interest income decreased $203,000, or 32.3%,26,980 for the year ended December 31, 2010, fl629 $00 for the year ended
December 31, 2009. The decrease in interest ineeaseprimarily attributable to a decrease in theaye interest rate earned in the year ended
December 31, 2010, as compared to the year endeshiber 31, 2009.

Other expense, net, increased $436,000 to expéi$E®H4,000 for year ended December 31, 2010, froperse of $128,000 for year
ended December 31, 2009. Our foreign currency Imgdgiogram reduced volatility associated with heldgerrency exchange rate movements
during the year ended December 31, 2010. The erp=r564,000 is primarily related to exposurestirrencies that are not included in our
hedging program. For details of our hedging progaauh related foreign currency contracts, pleaséNsee 5,Derivative Financial
Instrumentsin Notes to Consolidated Financial Statementsem|8 of Part Il of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Provision for Income Taxes
2011 Provision for Income Taxes Compared to 201@Wsion for Income Taxes

Provision for income taxes decreased $7.5 milliesulting in a provision of $32.8 million for thegr ended December 31, 2011,
compared to a provision of $40.3 million for theayended December 31, 2010. The effective taxdetecased to 26.4% for the year ended
December 31, 2011 from 44.2% for the year endecedber 31, 2010. The effective tax rate for bothiquisr differed from the statutory rate of
35% due to state taxes, other non-deductible exgseasd tax credits. Non-deductible expenses igghe ended December 31, 2010 included
certain stock based compensation. For the yeadebdeember 31, 2011, tax on earnings from forejggrations reduced the effective tax rate
by 9.5 percentage points compared to an increaSel gfercentage points for 2010. The tax rate lieoieéarnings from foreign operations in
2011 resulted from improvements in profitabilityinfernational operations located in tax jurisaiog8 with rates below 35%. In 2011, state
income taxes increased the effective tax rate byércentage points compared to an increase gfetc®ntage points for 2010. The lower
impact of state taxes in 2011 compared to 2010psiagarily due to a legislation that was effectiveedd January 1, 2011 that provided for a
more favorable methodology for computing the amairihcome subject to tax in California.
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2010 Provision for Income Taxes Compared to 2009¥sion for Income Taxes

Provision for income taxes increased $17.1 milli@sulting in a provision of $40.3 million for tlyear ended December 31, 2010,
compared to a provision of $23.2 million for theayended December 31, 2009. The effective taxdeteeased to 44.2 % for the year ended
December 31, 2010 from 71.3% for the year endecedber 31, 2009. The effective tax rate for bothiquisr differed from the statutory rate of
35% due to non-deductible stock-based compensaiate taxes, other non-deductible expenses, aratddits. Additionally, in 2010 tax
attributable to foreign operations increased tliectif/e tax rate by 5.1 percentage points compereoh increase of 28.4 percentage points for
2009. In both years, this was primarily causedheytax effect of non-deductible losses in foreignisdictions where no benefit could be
claimed. The unfavorable rate impact of foreignrafiens was lower in 2010 compared with 2009 beeafismprovements in both
international and worldwide earnings.

Net Income

Net income increased $40.5 million to $91.4 millfon the year ended December 31, 2011, from $50@mfor the year ended
December 31, 2010. This increase was primarilybattable to an increase in gross profit of $70.Riom and a decrease in provision for
income taxes of $7.5 million. This increase wagipby offset by an increase in operating experasfe®36.7 million.

Net income increased $41.6 million to $50.9 millfon the year ended December 31, 2010, from $9lBomior the year ended
December 31, 2009. This increase was primarilybattable to an increase in gross profit of $92.8iom. This increase was partially offset by
an increase in operating expenses of $33.6 midiwhan increase in the provision for income taxXeil@.1 million.

Segment Information

A description of our products and services, as agkbegment financial data, for each segment céoulpel in Note 12Segment
Information, Operations by Geographic Area and ©ugtr Concentratiol, in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statementseim 8 of Part Il ¢
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Future changesuioorganizational structure or business may résulhanges to the reportable segments
disclosed.

Segment contribution income includes all produst Eegment net revenues less the related codesf sasearch and development, and
sales and marketing costs. Contribution incomeségluin part, to evaluate the performance of, diodate resources to, each of the segments.
Certain operating expenses are not allocated tmaety because they are separately managed atrjrate level. These unallocated indirect
costs include corporate costs, such as corporsgareh and development, general and administredists, stockbased compensation expen:
amortization of intangibles, acquisition-relatetkbgration costs, restructuring costs, litigatioser@es, and interest and other income (expense)
net. A reconciliation of segment contribution ina@im income before income taxes can be found ire Ni@tSegment Information, Operations
by Geographic Area and Customer ConcentrationNotes to Consolidated Financial Statementgeim 8 of Part Il of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

Retail
Year Ended December 31,
Perceni Percent
2011 Change 2010 Change 2009
(in thousands, except percentage data)

Net revenug $481,79! 10.6% $435,48: 50.8% $288,72¢
Contribution income 81,58¢ 13.5% 71,86: 188.% 24,90:
Contribution margir 16.9% 16.5% 8.6%
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2011 Net Retail Revenue and Contribution Income Quamed to 2010 Retail Net Revenue and Contributioxtdme

We experienced strong net revenue growth in ttadl tetisiness unit from 2010 to 2011. The increaae mainly driven by a 34.5%
increase in the revenue from our home wirelessddyt line due to consumers transitioning from ieiss-G to wireless-N technology. We
also experienced strong growth in contribution meo The increase in contribution income was pripatie to revenue growth and an
increase in gross margin, which was mainly drivgralilecrease in freight costs due to a favorahfefstm air to sea freight. Net revenue
increased by 10.6% and retail-related gross pircfieased by 15.0% over the same period. The inmgdabe increase in gross profit was
partially offset by an increase in retail-relatgubmating expenses, which increased by 16.7% oeesdme period.

2010 Net Retail Revenue and Contribution Income Quamed to 2009 Net Retail Revenue and Contributiortdme

We experienced exceptional net revenue growthérretail business unit from 2009 to 2010. The iaseswas driven by an increase in
consumer demand across almost all of our prodoesliln particular, revenue from our home wireldgzroduct line increased by 167.6% due
to consumers transitioning from wireless-G to vass-N technology. We also experienced exceptiaoaltty in contribution income. The
increase in contribution income was primarily dogdvenue growth, while the increase in operatipeases was moderate. Net revenue
increased by 50.8%, while retail-related opera@rgenses increased by only 11.1% over the samedperi

Commercial
Year Ended December 31,
Percent Percent
2011 Change 2010 Change 2009
(in thousands, except percentage data)

Net revenut $331,43¢ 16.5% $284,53¢ 35.5% $209,95:
Contribution income 74,74¢ 18.6% 63,02: 45.7% 43,25¢
Contribution margir 22.6% 22.1% 20.6%

2011 Net Commercial Revenue and Contribution Inco@empared to 2010 Commercial Net Revenue and Cdntiion Income

We experienced strong net revenue growth in thenteroial business unit from 2010 to 2011. The ineee&as driven by an increase in
demand across our product lines. In particularemere from our network storage product line anddwitroducts increased by 15.1% and
18.6%, respectively. We also experienced strong/tiran contribution income. The increase in conitibn income was primarily due to
revenue growth, while the increase in operatingeegps was moderate. Net revenue increased by 1415 ,commercial-related operating
expenses increased by only 13.0% over the samedperi

2010 Net Commercial Revenue and Contribution Inco@empared to 2009 Commercial Net Revenue and Céuition Income

We experienced exceptional net revenue growtharcdmmercial business unit from 2009 to 2010. Ticesiase was driven by an
increase in demand across all of our product lineparticular, revenue from our network storagedoict line and switch products increased by
51.3% and 34.1%, respectively. We also experieegedptional growth in contribution income. The g&se in contribution income was
primarily due to revenue growth and a slight insee gross margin, which was driven by favoralteipct mix and a decrease in freight
costs. Commercial-related operating expenses iseceim line with the increase in gross profit.
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Service Provider

Year Ended December 31

Percent Percent
2011 Change 2010 Change 2009
(in thousands, except percentage dati
Net revenug $367,78:¢ 102.(% $182,02¢ (3.1%) $187,91:
Contribution income 32,79 133.&% 14,02¢ (28.£%) 19,697
Contribution margir 8.9% 7.7% 10.5%

2011 Net Service Provider Revenue and Contributlonome Compared to 2010 Service Provider Net Reveand Contribution Income

We experienced exceptional net revenue growthearsérvice provider unit from 2010 to 2011. The éase was primarily driven by the
adoption of Docsis 3.0 products. We also experigmoceeptional growth in contribution income. Thergase in contribution income was
primarily due to revenue growth, while the increseperating expenses was moderate. Net reveuesised by 102.0%, while service-
provider-related operating expenses increased lyy4@11%, due to an increase in research and deredat and sales and marketing, over the
same period.

2010 Net Service Provider Revenue and Contributlonome Compared to 2009 Service Provider Net Reveand Contribution Income

Net revenue in the service provider business uag down slightly from 2009 to 2010, as service mervcustomers paused in
anticipation of adopting Docsis 3.0. Contributioéme also decreased from 2009 to 2010. The decireasntribution income was primarily
due to the decrease in revenue and an increaseviges-provider-related operating expenses. Nedmag decreased by 3.1%, while service-
provider-related operating expenses increased [B20driven primarily by an increase in researcth development spending.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
As of December 31, 2011, we had cash, cash equigaded short-term investments totaling $353.7iomill

Our cash and cash equivalents balance increased¥t@6.2 million as of December 31, 2010 to $208il8on as of December 31, 201
Our short-term investments, which represent thestment of funds available for current operatigmsreased from $144.6 million as of
December 31, 2010 to $144.8 million as of Decen®ie2011, as we shifted assets from money markelsfto Treasuries with higher returns.
Operating activities during the year ended Decer8lte011, generated cash of $96.0 million. Investictivities during the year ended
December 31, 2011 used $46.9 million, which inctuthes net purchases of short-term investments .@f $illion, payments made in
connection with business acquisitions of $37.5iamill primarily the Westell acquisition, and purcesef property and equipment of
$8.2 million. During the year ended December 31,126inancing activities provided $33.6 million,marily due to the issuance of our
common stock upon exercise of stock options andeomyloyee stock purchase program, as well as tbessxax benefit from exercises and
cancellations of stock options.

Our days sales outstanding decreased from 78 days@ecember 31, 2010 to 76 days as of Decemhe2(R1l.

Our accounts payable increased from $89.2 milltoRecember 31, 2010 to $117.3 million at Decemtigr2B11 primarily as a result of
timing of payments.

Inventory increased by $36.3 million from $127.4lioim at December 31, 2010 to $163.7 million at Baber 31, 2011. Ending
inventory turns decreased from 5.6 turns in theghmonths ended December 31, 2010, to 5.2 tutheithree months ended December 31,
2011. This decrease is primarily attributable toiogreased inventory levels to support currentexyected demand levels for our products,
and an increase in deferred revenue from Decenthe2@0 to December 31, 2011.
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We enter into foreign currency forward-exchangeti@mts, which typically mature in three to five ntlos, to hedge a portion of our
exposure to foreign currency fluctuations of fore@irrency-denominated revenue, costs of reverarggin operating expenses, receivables,
payables, and cash balances. We record on thelitated balance sheet at each reporting periofbih@alue of our forward-exchange
contracts and record any fair value adjustmentsimConsolidated Statements of Operations andriConsolidated Balance Sheets. Gains
losses associated with currency rate changes ayelemhtracts that are non-designated under thewdtative guidance for derivatives and
hedging are recorded within other income (expemsat),offsetting foreign exchange gains and lossesur monetary assets and liabilities.
Gains and losses associated with currency rategelsaon hedge contracts that are designated casth@ddges under the authoritative guidance
for derivatives and hedging are recorded within clative other comprehensive income until the relatasenue, costs of revenue, or expenses
are recognized.

In October 21, 2008, the Board of Directors auttetimanagement to repurchase up to 6,000,000 shfaves outstanding common
stock. Under this authorization, the timing anduathumber of shares subject to repurchase aheatiscretion of management and are
contingent on a number of factors, such as levietash generation from operations, cash requiresrfentacquisitions and the price of our
common stock. We did not repurchase any sharegs tindeauthorization during the years ended Decer@he2011, 2010 or 2009.

We also repurchase shares to help administratfeeliitate the withholding and subsequent remiteaatpersonal income and payroll
taxes for individuals receiving RSUs throughoutykar. We repurchased approximately 25,000 sharet926,000 of common stock to
facilitate tax withholdings for RSUs during the yeaded December 31, 2011. Similarly, during th@rgended December 31, 2010 and
December 31, 2009, we repurchased approximatef08ZXhares and 22,000 shares, respectively, or,@J3@nd $282,000 of our common
stock, respectively, to help facilitate tax withtliolg for RSUs. These shares were retired upon cbpse.

Based on our current plans and market conditioesh@lieve that our existing cash, cash equivakemisshort-term investments will be
sufficient to satisfy our anticipated cash requieais for the foreseeable future. However, we cabadatertain that our planned levels of
revenue, costs and expenses will be achievedrlbperating results fail to meet our expectations we fail to manage our inventory,
accounts receivable or other assets, we couldderesl to seek additional funding through publigpawate financings or other arrangements.
In addition, as we continue to expand our prodfferimgs, channels and geographic presence, weratpyre additional working capital. In
such event, adequate funds may not be available wlieded or may not be available on favorable mmgercially acceptable terms, which
could have a negative effect on our business asdtseof operations.

Backlog

As of December 31, 2011, we had a backlog of apprately $128.5 million, compared to approximate82$! million as of
December 31, 2010, primarily due to product demaadired in the future. Our backlog consists ofdoieis for which customer purchase
orders have been received and that are scheduladta process of being scheduled for shipmentléNhe expect to fulfill the order backlog
within the current year, most orders are subjecéstheduling or cancellation with little or no péies. Because of the possibility of customer
changes in product scheduling or order cancellabonbacklog as of any particular date may naaméndicator of net sales for any succee
period.

53



Table of Contents

Contractual Obligations and Off-Balance Sheet Arragements
Contractual Obligations
The following table describes our commitments titles@on-cancelable lease and purchase commitnasri$ December 31, 2011.

More Than
Less Than 1-3 3-5
1 Year Years Years 5 Years Total
(In thousands)
Operating leases $ 6,34¢ $9,75¢ $7,53¢ $ 6,071 $ 29,71
Purchase obligations $139,41: $ — $ — $ — $139,41:

$145,76( $9,75¢ $7,53¢ $ 6,071 $169,12

We lease office space, cars and equipment undecaocelable operating leases with various expinadiates through December 2026.
Rent expense was $7.0 million for the year endeckBwer 31, 2011, $6.4 million for the year endedddeber 31, 2010, and $6.2 million for
the year ended December 31, 2009. The terms of sbthe office leases provide for rental paymems@raduated scale. We recognize rent
expense on a straight-line basis over the leasedhemd have accrued for rent expense incurrechdupaid. The amounts presented are
consistent with contractual terms and are not exgpkto differ significantly, unless a substantiaaonge in our headcount needs requires us to
exit an office facility early or expand our occugpigpace.

We enter into various inventory-related purchageagents with suppliers. Generally, under theseeagents, 50% of the orders are
cancelable by giving notice 46 to 60 days priothi® expected shipment date and 25% of orders acelzble by giving notice 31 to 45 days
prior to the expected shipment date. Orders areantelable within 30 days prior to the expectddraknt date. At December 31, 2011, we
had $139.4 million in non-cancelable purchase caments with suppliers. We expect to sell all praddor which we have committed
purchases from suppliers.

As of December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010,adebti8.7 million and $19.8 million, respectivelytatal gross unrecognized tax
benefits and related interest. The timing of anynpents that could result from these unrecognizrdbéaefits will depend upon a number of
factors. Accordingly, the timing of payment canbetestimated. The possible reduction in liabilif@suncertain tax positions in multiple
jurisdictions in the next 12 months is approximatgl.0 million, excluding the interest, penaltiesldhe effect of any related deferred tax a:
or liabilities.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of December 31, 2011, we did not have any offhee sheet arrangements as defined in Item 3@3(i&) of SEC Regulation S-K.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 1The Company and Summary of Significant Accountoiigies, in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statementgeim 8 of
Part 1l of this Annual Report on Form ¥Q-for a full description of recent accounting poamcements, including the expected dates of adt
and estimated effects on financial condition arsliits of operations, which are hereby incorporatgdeference.
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Iltem 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MagkRisk
Interest Rate Risk

We do not use derivative financial instrumentsun investment portfolio. We have an investmentfpdid of fixed income securities that
are classified as “available-for-sale” securitielsese securities, like all fixed income instrumeatg subject to interest rate risk and will fall i
value if market interest rates increase. We attempinit this exposure by investing primarily imghly rated short-term securities. Our
investment policy requires investments to be raipte-A with the objective of minimizing the poteal risk of principal loss. Due to the short
duration and conservative nature of our investrpenifolio, a movement of 10% by market intereseésatvould not have a material impact on
our operating results and the total value of thefplio over the next fiscal year. We monitor ontdrest rate and credit risks, including our
credit exposure to specific rating categories anddividual issuers. There were no impairment gharon our investments during fiscal 2011.

Foreign Currency Transaction Risk

We invoice some of our international customersireign currencies including, but not limited toe thustralian dollar, British pound,
euro, and Japanese yen. As the customers thatirmemtly invoiced in local currency become a largercentage of our business, or to the
extent we begin to bill additional customers irefign currencies, the impact of fluctuations in fgneexchange rates could have a more
significant impact on our results of operationst thmse customers in our international marketswheatontinue to sell to in U.S. dollars, an
increase in the value of the U.S. dollar relativéareign currencies could make our products mapeesive and therefore reduce the demand
for our products. Such a decline in the demandaéwmproducts could reduce sales and negatively étnpar operating results. Certain opera
expenses of our foreign operations require payiinethie local currencies.

We are exposed to risks associated with foreighaxge rate fluctuations due to our internationkdssand operating activities. These
exposures may change over time as business pmetiodve and could negatively impact our operategylts and financial condition. We
began using foreign currency forward contract daies in the fourth quarter of 2008 to partialffset our business exposure to foreign
exchange risk on our foreign currency denominassets and liabilities. Additionally, in the secanshrter of 2009 we began entering into
certain foreign currency forward contracts thatdhbeen designated as cash flow hedges under therigative guidance for derivatives and
hedging to partially offset our business exposar®teign exchange risk on portions of our antitépaforeign currency revenue, costs of
revenue, and certain operating expenses. The olgaiftthese foreign currency forward contract®iseduce the impact of currency exchange
rate movements on our operating results by offsgtiains and losses on the forward contracts witreases or decreases in foreign currency
transactions. The contracts are marked-to-market monthly basis with gains and losses includesthier income (expense), net in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations, and in catinel other comprehensive income on the ConsolidBsdance Sheets. We do not use
foreign currency contracts for speculative or tngdburposes. Hedging of our balance sheet andgatic cash flow exposures may not alw
be effective to protect us against currency exchaatg fluctuations. In addition, we do not fullydge our balance sheet and anticipated cash
flow exposures, leaving us at risk to foreign exaegains and losses on the un-hedged exposutksréfwere an adverse movement in
exchange rates, we might suffer significant losSe& Note SDerivative Financial Instrumentsf the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for additional disclosure on our fore@igmency contracts, which are hereby incorporatedeference into this Part Il, Item 7A.

As of December 31, 2011, we had net assets inustaxal currencies. A hypothetical 10% movemeribirign exchange rates would
result in an after-tax positive or negative impaic$232,000 to net income, net of our hedged pwmsitait December 31, 2011. Actual future
gains and losses associated with our foreign cayrerposures and positions may differ materialbnfrthe sensitivity analyses performed a
December 31, 2011 due to the inherent limitatissoeiated with predicting the foreign currency exae rates, and our actual exposures and
positions. For the year ended December 31, 201%, df3otal net revenue was denominated in a cuyretteer than the U.S. dollar.
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ltem 8. Consolidated Financial Statements and SupplementBgta
Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of NERREINc.:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetadisted in the index appearing under Item 15{&)p¢esent fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of NETGEAR, Inedats subsidiaries at December 31, 2011 and Deeeih 2010, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of thedhyrears in the period ended December 31, 201dnfonity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of Ametitaddition, in our opinion, the financial statamhechedule listed in the index appearing
under Item 15(a)(2) presents fairly, in all matleréspects, the information set forth therein whead in conjunction with the related
consolidated financial statements. Also in our @pinthe Company maintained, in all material respeeffective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2011, based on @itsiablished internal Control—Integrated Framewoigsued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway CommisgdSO). The Company’s management is responsibliése financial statements and
financial statement schedule, for maintaining affecinternal control over financial reporting afmd its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, includiedManagement’s Report on Internal Control overaricial Reporting under Item 9A. Our
responsibility is to express opinions on theserfaial statements, on the financial statement sdeedad on the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting based on our integrateditau\We conducted our audits in accordance wighstndards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Thdsedards require that we plan and perform the atidiobtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of materisstatement and whether effective internal mbmiver financial reporting was maintained
in all material respects. Our audits of the finahstatements included examining, on a test bagidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements, assessagccounting principles used and significantesties made by management, and evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. Quditeof internal control over financial reportingcluded obtaining an understanding of internal
control over financial reporting, assessing thk tiigt a material weakness exists, and testingeaatliating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control based on thessskrisk. Our audits also included performing satbler procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe thaawdits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonableaagsuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahsiatements for external purposes in accordantegenerally accepted accounting princip
A companys internal control over financial reporting inclisdose policies and procedures that (i) pertatheéanaintenance of records tha
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettilansactions and dispositions of the assetseoédmpany; (i) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatggaparation of financial statements in accor@awith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expendituree®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (iii) provide readslaassurance regarding prevention or timely dietecf unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company'’s assets that could lzareterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or detmisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periodssabject to the risk that controls may becomdenaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policiepracedures may deteriorate.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Jose, CA
February 29, 2012
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NETGEAR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

ASSETS

Current asset:

Cash and cash equivalel

Shor-term investment

Accounts receivable, n

Inventories

Deferred income taxe

Prepaid expenses and other current a:

Total current asse

Property and equipment, r
Intangibles, ne
Goodwiill
Other nor-current assetl

Total asset

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued employee compensati
Other accrued liabilitie
Deferred revenu
Income taxes payab
Total current liabilities
Non-current income taxes payatl
Other nor-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Stockholder equity:
Preferred stock: $0.001 par value; 5,000,000 start®rized; none issued or outstand
Common stock: $0.001 par value; 200,000,000 stertt®rized; shares issued and outstanding: 37,626,¢
and 36,173,406 at December 31, 2011 and 2010, ctbsgy.
Additional paic-in capital
Cumulative other comprehensive inco
Retained earning
Total stockholder equity
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part okthessolidated financial statements.
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December 31,

2011 2010
$208,89¢ $126,17:
144,79° 144,56¢
261,30° 226,73
163,72 127,39
23,08¢ 19,33:
32,41°F 23,85(
834,22¢ 668,04
15,88¢ 17,50:
20,95¢ 6,241
85,94« 74,19¢
14,357 14,33t
$971,37( $780,32:
$117,28! $ 89,15¢
26,89¢ 24,13(
120,48( 110,41
40,09: 27,53¢
4,207 3,481
308,96: 254,72:
18,65 19,71¢
4,99t 5,44%
332,61 279,88!
38 36
364,24 316,10¢
23 281
274,45! 184,01:
638,75 500,43t
$971,37( $780,32:
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NETGEAR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Net revenut $1,181,01! $902,05: $686,59!
Cost of revenu 811,57. 602,80! 480,19!
Gross profil 369,44t 299,24 206,40(
Operating expense
Research and developmt 48,69¢ 39,97 30,05¢
Sales and marketir 154,56: 131,57( 106,16:
General and administrati\ 39,42: 36,22( 32,721
Restructuring and other charc 2,09¢ (88) 80¢
Technology license arrangeme — — 2,50(
Litigation reserves, ne (207) 211 2,08(
Total operating expens: 244,57 207,88! 174,33:
Income from operation 124,86¢ 91,36: 32,06¢
Interest income, ne a77 42¢ 62¢
Other income (expense), r (1,136) (564) (12¢)
Income before income tax 124,21( 91,22« 32,56
Provision for income taxe 32,84 40,31t 23,23¢
Net income $ 91,36¢ $ 50,90¢ $ 9,33¢
Net income per shar
Basic $ 2.4¢ $ 1.4/ $ 0.27
Diluted $ 2.41 $ 141 $ 0.27
Weighted average shares outstanding used to comptitecome per shar
Basic 37,12: 35,38t 34,48t
Diluted 37,93: 36,12+ 34,84¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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NETGEAR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(In thousands)

Cumulative
Common Stock Other
Additional Comprehensive
Paid-In Retained
Shares Amount Capital Income (Loss) Earnings Total
Balance at December 31, 20C 34,28( $ 34 $266,07( $ 67 $124,78 $390,95¢
Comprehensive incom
Change in unrealized gains and losses on availat
for-sale securities, net of t: — — — (63) — (63)
Change in unrealized gains and losses on derigtive
net of tax — — — 20 — 2C
Net income — — — — 9,33: 9,33:
Total comprehensive incon 9,29(
Stoclk-based compensation expel — — 11,05¢ — — 11,05¢
Purchase and retirement of common si (22) — — — (282) (282)
Issuance of common stock under stbelsed compensatic
plans 474 1 2,991 — — 2,99
Tax benefit from exercises and cancellations oflsto
options — — 13€ — — 13€
Balance at December 31, 20C 34,73: 35 280,25¢ 24 133,83 414,15;
Comprehensive incom
Change in unrealized gains and losses on availat
for-sale securities, net of t: — — — 4 — 4
Change in unrealized gains and losses on derivgtive
net of tax — — — 252 — 25¢
Net income — — — — 50,90¢ 50,90¢
Total comprehensive incon 51,16¢
Stoclk-based compensation expel — — 12,177 — — 12,177
Purchase and retirement of common si (32 — — — (73€) (73€)
Issuance of common stock under s-based compensatic
plans 1,472 1 20,11¢ — — 20,117
Tax benefit from exercises and cancellations oflsto
options — — 3,55¢ — — 3,55¢
Balance at December 31, 201 36,17 36 316,10¢ 281 184,01: 500,43t
Comprehensive incom:
Change in unrealized gains and losses on availat
for-sale securities, net of t: — — — 9 — 9
Change in unrealized gains and losses on derivgtive
net of tax — — — (267) — (267)
Net income — — — — 91,36¢ 91,36¢
Total comprehensive incon 91,11(
Stocl-based compensation expel — — 13,723 — — 13,72}
Purchase and retirement of common si (25) — — — (92€) (92€)
Issuance of common stock under s-based compensatic
plans 1,49¢ 2 30,88¢ — — 30,89:
Tax benefit from exercises and cancellations oflsto
options — — 3,51¢ — — 3,51¢
Balance at December 31, 201 37,641 $ 38 $364,24: $ 23 $274,45: $638,75°

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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NETGEAR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashigeal by operating activitie:

Depreciation and amortizatic
Purchase premium amortization (discount accretionnvestment
Non-cash stoc-based compensatic
Income tax benefit associated with stock optiorr@sges and cancellatiol
Excess tax benefit from stc-based compensatic
Deferred income taxe
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effecanfuisitions
Accounts receivabl
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other as
Accounts payabl
Accrued employee compensati
Other accrued liabilitie
Deferred revenu
Income taxes payab
Net cash provided by operating activit
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of shi-term investment
Proceeds from sale of sh-term investment
Purchase of property and equipm
Loans issued, net of loan repi
Payments for paten
Cost method investme
Payments made in connection with business acansi
Net cash used in investing activiti
Cash flows from financing activities:
Purchase and retirement of common si
Proceeds from exercise of stock opti
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under eraplstock purchase pli
Excess tax benefit from stc-based compensatic
Net cash provided by financing activiti
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis
Cash and cash equivalents, at beginning of pt
Cash and cash equivalents, at end of pe

Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid for income tax

Year Ended December 31,

2011
$ 91,36¢

14,73t
08¢
13,76:
3,51¢
(3,677)
(4,627)

(34,57¢)
(30,039
(7,93%)
28,13
2,76¢
9,37¢
12,55¢
(342)
96,04

(228,87)
227,66
(8,217)

g37,5_05)
(46,92))

(926)
29,13¢
1,75:
3,672
33,631
82,72
126,17:

$ 208,89

$ 34,36¢

2010 2009
$ 50,90¢ $ 9,33
13,43¢ 12,36(
46¢ ()
12,20; 11,02
3,55¢ 13€
(3,470) (86¢)
(8,43F) (4,865
(63,879) (24,579
(36,809 21,65(
(3,220) 102
20,07+ 9,00¢
13,09 3,86:
21,79¢ (272)
5,43; 59¢
1,19: 10,61
26,35 48,09
(185,129 (89,82)
115,00( 25,00
(8,720) (3,945)
(102) —
(1,270 —
(3,009) —
(12,000) (3,539)
(95,229) (72,31)
(73) (282)
18,91¢ 1,861
1,20: 1,12¢
3,47( 86¢
22,84¢ 3,577
(46,029 (20,63))
172,20; 192,83
$ 126,17 $172,20:
$ 44,08: $ 14,40

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktbessolidated financial statements.
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NETGEAR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1—The Company and Summary of Significant Accauting Policies
The Company

NETGEAR, Inc. (“NETGEAR” or the “Company”) was ingmrated in Delaware in January 1996. The Compsuayglobal networking
company that delivers innovative products to cormsimbusinesses and service providers. For consytherCompany makes high
performance, dependable and easy-to-use home ratgpstorage and digital media products to conpecple with the Internet and their
content and devices. For businesses, the Compamidps networking, storage and security solutioiteaut the cost and complexity of Big
IT. The Company also supplies leading service plengd with made-to-order and retail proven, wholmaametworking solutions for their
customers. The Company’s products are built onrigtyaof proven technologies such as wireless, teand powerline, with a focus on
reliability and ease-of-use. The Company sells petglprimarily through a global sales channel netwwhich includes traditional retailers,
online retailers, wholesale distributors, directkeresellers (‘DMRs”), value added resellers (‘R#), and broadband service providers.

Basis of presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statemiastade the accounts of the Company and its whmlyed subsidiaries. All inter-
company accounts and transactions have been etediimathe consolidation of these subsidiaries.

Fiscal periods

The Company'’s fiscal year begins on January 1®f/ar stated and ends on December 31 of the saaneTthe Company reports its
results on a fiscal quarter basis rather than cadendar quarter basis. Under the fiscal quartsishaach of the first three fiscal quarters ends
on the Sunday closest to the calendar quartenvettdthe fourth quarter ending on December 31.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith accounting principles generally accepteth@ United States of America
requires management to make estimates and assus it affect the reported amounts of assetsiabifities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the finamstialements and the reported amounts of revenuksxg@enses during the reported period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

Reclassifications

In the first quarter of 2011, in order to achieyetional efficiencies, the Company combined itlsthl American, Central American and
South American sales forces to form the Americagaey. Previously North America was its own geaghic region and the Central American
and South American territories were categorizethiwithe Asia Pacific (“APAC") geographic region.lleeving this change, the Company is
organized into the following three geographic teries: Americas, Europe, Middle-East and AfricBRNEA”) and APAC. the Company has
reclassified its disclosure of net revenue by gaplay for prior periods to conform to the currentipd’s presentation. The change did not re
in material differences from what was previouslgaged.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmenith an original maturity at the time of purchagehree months or less to be cash
equivalents. The Company deposits cash and casvagents with high credit quality financial institans.
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Short-term investments

Short-term investments are comprised of marketsdterities that consist of government securitigh an original maturity or a
remaining maturity at the time of purchase, of ggethan three months and no more than 12 monthmakketable securities are held in the
Company’s name with one high quality financial ington, which acts as the Company’s custodianiamdstment manager. All of the
Company’s marketable securities are classified/agable-forsale securities in accordance with the provisidrth® authoritative guidance f
investments and are carried at fair value with alized gains and losses reported as a separateocempof stockholders’ equity.

Certain risks and uncertainties

The Company’s products are concentrated in thear&tng industry, which is characterized by rapidhieological advances, changes in
customer requirements and evolving regulatory mequénts and industry standards. The success @dhgany depends on management’s
ability to anticipate and/or to respond quickly amkquately to technological developments in idsigtry, changes in customer requirement
changes in regulatory requirements or industrydsteds. Any significant delays in the developmenintnoduction of products could have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s businedperating results.

The Company relies on a limited number of thirdtiearto manufacture all of its products. If anytled Company’s third-party
manufacturers cannot or will not manufacture itsdoicts in required volumes, on a cost-effectivadyas a timely manner, or at all, the
Company will have to secure additional manufacdapacity. Any interruption or delay in manufaatgrcould have a material adverse ef
on the Company’s business and operating results.

Derivative financial instruments

The Company uses foreign currency forward contriactsanage the exposures to foreign exchangeelaked to expected future cash
flows on certain forecasted revenue, costs of negeaperating expenses, and on certain existirgfsaasd liabilities. Foreign currency forwz
contracts generally mature within five months afeption. Under its foreign currency risk managenstrategy, the Company utilizes
derivative instruments to reduce the impact of@uecy exchange rate movements on the Company’stogerasults by offsetting gains and
losses on the forward contracts with increasesorahses in foreign currency transactions. The aomgoes not use derivative financial
instruments for speculative purposes.

The Company accounts for its derivative instrumasteither assets or liabilities and records thefaiavalue. Derivatives that are not
defined as hedges in the authoritative guidancedovatives and hedging must be adjusted to firesthrough earnings. For derivative
instruments that hedge the exposure to variabiligxpected future cash flows that are designatezhah flow hedges, the effective portion of
the gain or loss on the derivative instrument oreed as a component of cumulative other compgherncome in stockholders’ equity and
reclassified into earnings in the same period oiogs during which the hedged transaction affeatsiags. The ineffective portion of the gain
or loss on the derivative instrument is recognimeclurrent earnings. To receive hedge accountiafiiment, cash flow hedges must be highly
effective in offsetting changes to expected futtash flows on hedged transactions. For derivatiesggnated as cash flow hedges, changes in
the time value are excluded from the assessmdmdife effectiveness and are recognized in earnings.

Concentration of credit risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject@w@mpany to a concentration of credit risk consistash and cash equivalents, shertn
investments and accounts receivable. The Compdievbe that there is minimal credit risk associatétth the investment of its cash and cash
equivalents and short-term investments, due todbkeictions placed on the type of investment taat be entered into under the Company’s
investment policy. The Company’s short-term investis consist of investment-grade securities, aeadCttmpany’s cash and investments are
held and managed by recognized financial institigio
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The Companys customers are primarily distributors as welletaiters and broadband service providers who selistribute the produc
to a large group of end-users. The Company mamtinallowance for doubtful accounts for estimbsdes resulting from the inability of the
Company’s customers to make required paymentsChimepany regularly performs credit evaluations ef @ompany’s customers’ financial
condition and considers factors such as histoggperience, credit quality, age of the accountsivable balances, geographic or country-
specific risks and current economic conditions thay affect customerglbility to pay, and, generally, requires no collakérom its customer:
The Company secures credit insurance for certatoouwers in international and domestic markets.

As of December 31, 2011, Best Buy, Inc. represegtedter than 10% of the Company’s total accowetsivable. As of December 31,
2010, Best Buy, Inc. and Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. eagresented greater than 10% of the Company’kaotaunts receivable.

The Company is exposed to credit loss in the esknbnperformance by counterparties to the foreigmency forward contracts used to
mitigate the effect of foreign currency exchange changes. The Company believes the counterpéotiés outstanding contracts are large,
financially sound institutions and thus, the Compeaes not anticipate nonperformance by these egpatties. However, given the recent,
unprecedented turbulence in the financial markbésfailure of additional counterparties is possibl

Fair value measurements

The carrying amounts of the Company’s financiatrinsents, including cash equivalents, short-termegtiments, accounts receivable,
and accounts payable approximate their fair vadlwesto their short maturities. Foreign currencyvand contracts are recorded at fair value
based on observable market data. See NotEdiBYValue of Financial Instrumentsf the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemeonts f
disclosures regarding fair value measurementsdordence with the authoritative guidance for falue measurements and disclosures.

Cost method investments and loans receivable

As of December 31, 2011, the Company has $3.0anillh cost method investments classified withineothon-current assets. The
Company measures its cost method investments and keceivable at fair value quarterly; howevezytare recorded at fair value only when
an impairment charge is recognized. No impairmbéatges have been recognized related to the Compaagt method investments and loans
receivable in the years ended December 31, 2012@hal

In the second fiscal quarter of 2010, the Compaagera $3.0 million loan to a third party that whkessified within prepaid and other
current assets. The loan was repaid in the foistaf quarter of 2010. Additionally, the Companydaa $3.0 million cost method investment
that was classified within other non-current asgethe fourth fiscal quarter of 2010.

Allowance for doubtful accounts

The Company maintains an allowance for doubtfubaots for estimated losses resulting from the iitglof its customers to make
required payments. The Company regularly perforraditevaluations of its customers’ financial cdiwhi and considers factors such as
historical experience, credit quality, age of theaunts receivable balances, and geographic ottigespecific risks and economic conditions
that may affect a customer’s ability to pay. THewahnce for doubtful accounts is reviewed quartarig adjusted if necessary based on the
Company’s assessments of its customers’ abilipato If the financial condition of the Company’sstamers should deteriorate or if actual
defaults are higher than the Company’s historigpbéence, additional allowances may be requirddckvcould have an adverse impact on
operating expenses.
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Inventories

Inventories consist primarily of finished goods wlhiare valued at the lower of cost or market, wiht being determined using the first-
in, first-out method. The Company writes down iitgentories based on estimated excess and obsaoletetdries determined primarily by
future demand forecasts. At the point of loss redam, a new, lower cost basis for that inventsrgstablished, and subsequent changes in
facts and circumstances do not result in the ra8tor or increase in that newly established cosisba

Property and equipment, net

Property and equipment are stated at historicd| tass accumulated depreciation. Depreciatiommputed using the straight-line
method over the estimated useful lives of the assefollows:

Computer equipmet 2 years

Furniture and fixture 5 years

Software 2-5 years

Machinery and equipme! 2-3 years

Leasehold improvemen Shorter of the lease term or 5 ye

Recoverability of assets to be held and used isuored by comparing the carrying amount of an aestte estimated undiscounted
future cash flows expected to be generated bysbetalf the carrying amount of the asset excdsdsstimated undiscounted future net cash
flows, an impairment charge is recognized by thewm by which the carrying amount of the asset edsehe fair value of the asset. The
carrying value of the asset is reviewed on a redudais for the existence of facts, both intermal external, that may suggest impairment.
Charges related to the impairment of property andpgnent were not material in the years ended Deeerdl, 2011, 2010 and 2009.

Goodwill

The Company performs an annual goodwill impairntest in the fourth quarter of each year. Shoulta@eevents or indicators of
impairment occur between annual impairment tesessCompany will perform the impairment test as ¢hegents or indicators occur. Examg
of such events or circumstances include the folgwa significant decline in the Compagsgxpected future cash flows; a sustained, sigamit
decline in the Company’s stock price and markettalipation; a significant adverse change in thsibess climate; the testing for
recoverability of a significant asset group; arah&r growth rates. The Company assesses goodvplinment at the reporting unit level.

In the second fiscal quarter of 2011, the Comparfopmed a goodwill impairment assessment as dtrefsiis change in reportable
segments. Refer to Note 12egment Information, Operations by Geographic Aned Customer Concentratioaf the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements for additional informationaeting the change in segment reporting. The comp#agated goodwill to each segment
based on their relative fair values. The Compaey ttompared the fair value of the new reportingsutoi the reporting unit’s carrying value
and determined that goodwill was not impaired sitheeestimated fair values of each of the repontinigs exceeded the carrying values. The
fair value of the new business units was determirgdg an income approach and a market approaathwiére weighted equally. Under the
income approach, the fair value of an asset ischasehe value of the estimated cash flows thatifset can be expected to generate in the
future. These estimated future cash flows wereodisted at rates ranging from 13 to 15 percentrigeaat their respective fair values. Under
the market approach, the fair value of the urfitased on an analysis of financial data for publicdgded companies engaged in the same or
similar lines of business.

In September 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-08afgibles—Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Testingag@will for Impairment.”
ASU 2011-08 permits an entity to make a qualitatissessment of whether it is more likely than hat & reporting uni$ fair value is less the
its carrying amount as a basis for
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determining if performing the two-step goodwill impment test is necessary. ASU 2011-08 is effedtveannual and interim goodwill
impairment tests performed for fiscal years begigrafter December 15, 2011; however, early adopsi@ermitted. The Company elected to
adopt the updated standard for the purpose obitslgill impairment testing, and as such perforntegnnual impairment test of goodwill in
the fourth fiscal quarter of 2011. The Company ssseé whether it was more likely than not (thaaikkelihood of more than 50%) that each
reporting units fair value was less than its carrying amountlidiclg goodwill by considering the following factoraacroeconomic condition
industry and market considerations, cost factorsyall company financial performance, events afifigcthe reporting units, and changes in the
Company’s share price. Based on these factorshengtent impairment testing in the second fisaakigr of 2011, the Company determined
that it is not more likely than not that each rdjmgr unit’s fair value was less than its carryimgaunt, and therefore performing the first step of
the two-step impairment test for each reportind wais unnecessary.

No goodwill impairment was recognized in the yesmded December 31, 2011, 2010 or 2009.

Long-lived assets

Purchased intangible assets with finite lives amerdized using the straight-line method over thévested economic lives of the assets,
which range from less than one year to ten yeanchRsed intangible assets determined to haveiimigefiseful lives are not amortized. Long-
lived assets, including property and equipmentiatahgible assets, are reviewed for impairment welienevents or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of such assetsmabe recoverable. Such conditions may include@nomic downturn or a change in the
assessment of future operations. Determinatioeadverability is based on an estimate of undis@mlifitture cash flows resulting from the |
of the asset and its eventual disposition. If thgragate undiscounted cash flows are less thacettnging value of the assets, the resulting
impairment charge to be recorded is calculateddasdhe excess of the carrying value of the assatsthe fair value of such assets, with the
fair value determined based on an estimate of digeal future cash flows. Long-lived assets to lspaked of are reported at the lower of
carrying amount or fair value less costs to séie Tarrying value of the asset is reviewed on alaedasis for the existence of facts, both
internal and external, that may suggest impairment.

During the years ended December 31, 2011, 2012@08@, there were no events or changes in circurossatinat indicated the carrying
amount of the Company'’s long-lived assets may epaglsoverable from their undiscounted cash flovesiggquently, the Company did not
perform an impairment test or record an impairntdrits long-lived assets during those periods.

The Company will continue to evaluate the carrywafue of its long-lived assets and if it determiirethe future that there is a potential
further impairment, the Company may be requiretttmrd additional charges to earnings which coffiecathe Company’s financial results.

Product warranties

The Company provides for estimated future warratjgations at the time revenue is recognized. Company’s standard warranty
obligation to its direct customers generally pr@ador a right of return of any product for a fidfund in the event that such product is not
merchantable or is found to be damaged or defediivthe time revenue is recognized, an estimafetofe warranty returns is recorded to
reduce revenue in the amount of the expected avedéfund to be provided to its direct custom@étshe time the Company records the
reduction to revenue related to warranty retutms,Gompany includes within cost of revenue a wditeé to reduce the carrying value of such
products to net realizable value. The Company’sdsted warranty obligation to its eners provides for replacement of a defective prbfir
one or more years. Factors that affect the warrabligation include product failure rates, matetishge, and service delivery costs incurred in
correcting product failures. The estimated cospeiased with fulfilling the Company’s warranty
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obligation to end-users is recorded in cost of neee Because the Company’s products are manufddoyréhird-party manufacturers, in
certain cases the Company has recourse to thegaitg manufacturer for replacement or credit far tlefective products. The Company gives
consideration to amounts recoverable from its tpady manufacturers in determining its warrangépliity. Changes in the Company’s
warranty liability, which is included as a compohehf“Other accrued liabilities” in the consoliddtbalance sheets, are as follows (in
thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010
Balance as of beginning of the period $ 40,51 $ 30,61
Provision for warranty liability made during therjoel 60,28" 61,85/
Settlements made during the per (55,959 (51,95)
Balance at end of peric $ 44,84¢ $ 40,51

Revenue recognition

Revenue from product sales is generally recogrétéle time the product is shipped provided thasymesive evidence of an arrangement
exists, title and risk of loss has transferrechd¢ustomer, the selling price is fixed or deteable and collection of the related receivable is
reasonably assured. Currently, for some of the @Gmyg customers, title passes to the customer dpbvery to the port or country of
destination, upon their receipt of the productupon the customer’s resale of the product. At tiie@&f each fiscal quarter, the Company
estimates and defers revenue related to produateviitie has not transferred. The revenue contitoid® deferred until such time that title
passes to the customer. The Company assessegatuligcbased on a number of factors, includingg@l economic and market conditions,
past transaction history with the customer, andcteditworthiness of the customer. If the Compaetedmines that collection of the fee is not
reasonably assured, then the Company defers trenteeecognizes revenue upon receipt of payment.

In October 2009, the Financial Accounting Stand&dard (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Upd&8U) No. 2009-13,
“Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements” (ASUO2013). The guidance eliminates the residual metiaodvenue recognition and allows
the use of management’s best estimate of sellig for individual elements of an arrangement whendor-specific objective evidence
(“VSOE") or third-party evidence (“TPE”) is unavable. Concurrently to issuing ASU 2009-13, the FAS® issued ASU No. 2009-14,
“Certain Revenue Arrangements That Include SoftviEesnents”. ASU 2009-14 excludes software thabigtained on a tangible product from
the scope of software revenue guidance if the sofhvis essential to the tangible product’s funetityp. The Company elected to early adopt
these standards at the beginning of its first quant fiscal year 2010 on a prospective basis fiplieable transactions originating or materially
modified after January 1, 2010.

The Company has an insignificant amount of prodéfetrings with multiple elements. The Company’s tiplé-element product offering
include networking hardware with embedded softwaagious software subscription services, and suppdrich are considered separate units
of accounting. In general, the networking hardwaite embedded software is delivered up front, whiile subscription services and suppor
delivered over the subscription and support peffde: Company allocates revenue to the softwargetalbles and the non-software
deliverables (including software deliverables whighction together with hardware deliverables tovide the producs essential functionalit,
based upon their relative selling price. Revenigeated to each unit of accounting is then recogphiwhen persuasive evidence of an
arrangement exists, title and risk of loss hassfeamed to the customer, the selling price is figedleterminable and collection of the related
receivable is reasonably assured.

When applying the relative selling price metho@, @ompany determines the selling price for eacivel@ble using VSOE of fair value
of the deliverable, or when VSOE of fair value uai¢able, its best
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estimate of selling price (“ESP”), as the Compaag tHetermined it is unable to establish TPE oirgeprice for the deliverables. In
determining VSOE, the Company requires that a sultisd majority of the selling prices for a deligbte sold on a stand-alone basis fall within
a reasonably narrow pricing range, generally exdddrby approximately 80% of such historical statwha transactions falling within 5%

of the median price. The Company determines ESR @wliverable by considering multiple factors udihg, but not limited to, market
conditions, competitive landscape, internal cagtsss margin objectives and pricing practices. dlhjective of ESP is to determine the price at
which the Company would transact a sale if thevéedible were sold on a stand-alone basis. Therditation of ESP is made through
consultation with and formal approval by the Compsimanagement, taking into consideration the gotoket strategy.

The adoption of the new revenue recognition acdngrdtandards did not have a material impact orCiti@panys consolidated financi.
position, results of operations, or cash flowstfa year ended December 31, 2011 and 2010. Theoevunting standards for revenue
recognition if applied in the same manner to tharymded December 31, 2009 would not have had erieampact on total net revenues for
that fiscal year.

Certain distributors and retailers generally hdeeright to return product for stock rotation pwses. Upon shipment of the product, the
Company reduces revenue for an estimate of potéatiae product warranty and stock rotation returelated to the current period product
revenue. Management analyzes historical returresjredl inventory levels, current economic trends@rahges in customer demand for the
Company’s products when evaluating the adequatiyeoéllowance for sales returns, namely warrantystack rotation returns. Revenue on
shipments is also reduced for estimated price ptioteand sales incentives deemed to be contrazumvander the authoritative guidance for
revenue recognition.

Sales incentives

The Company accrues for sales incentives as a tivaglexpense if it receives an identifiable benfiexchange and can reasonably
estimate the fair value of the identifiable benediteived; otherwise, it is recorded as a redudbarevenues. As a consequence, the Company
records a substantial portion of its channel mamgetosts as a reduction of revenue.

The Company records estimated reductions to rewefuesales incentives at the later of when thateel revenue is recognized or when
the program is offered to the customer or end coesu

Shipping and handling fees and costs

The Company includes shipping and handling fedsdtb customers in net revenue. Shipping and liragndbsts associated with inbot
freight are included in cost of revenue. In cashen the Company gives a freight allowance to ttstaener for their own inbound freight
costs, such costs are appropriately recorded eduection in net revenue. Shipping and handlingscassociated with outbound freight are
included in sales and marketing expenses and tb$dl8.9 million, $11.4 million and $11.0 million the years ended December 31, 2011,
and 2009 respectively.

Research and development
Costs incurred in the research and developmentwfproducts are charged to expense as incurred.

Technology license arrangements

The Company expenses the licensing of softwarentdofies intended to be integrated into certainriiproducts if those products have
not yet reached technological feasibility and therised software does not have alternative futsee u
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The Company did not incur any expenses relateedonology license arrangements in the years endedrbber 31, 2011 and 2010.

During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Coyngiatered into a $2.5 million arrangement to lieeasrtain software technologies
that the Company may integrate into certain fupraucts. At that time, the Company had not yedtdisthed the technological feasibility of
these products, and the Company did not believedfiarare had an alternative future use. As suehCompany expensed the entire
technology license arrangement amount of $2.5anilin the year ended December 31, 2009.

Advertising costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Totadrising and promotional expenses were $21.4anjl$19.3 million, and
$14.4 million in the years ended December 31, 22010 and 2009, respectively.

Income taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under an asddiability approach. Under this method, incaire expense is recognized for
the amount of taxes payable or refundable for theeat year. In addition, deferred tax assets sfudlities are recognized for the expected
future tax consequences of temporary differencadglting from different treatment for tax versus @aating for certain items, such as accruals
and allowances not currently deductible for taxgmses. These differences result in deferred taetsssd liabilities, which are included within
the consolidated balance sheet. The Company meistassess the likelihood that the Company’s deféere assets will be recovered from
future taxable income and to the extent the Comietigves that recovery is not more likely than, il Company must establish a valuation
allowance.

In the ordinary course of business there is inhtaranertainty in assessing the Companpcome tax positions. The Company assess
tax positions and records benefits for all yealjestt to examination based on management’s evatuafithe facts, circumstances and
information available at the reporting date. Farsthtax positions where it is more likely than thatt a tax benefit will be sustained, the
Company records the largest amount of tax bendtfit avgreater than 50 percent likelihood of beiaglized upon ultimate settlement with a
taxing authority that has full knowledge of alleehnt information. For those income tax positiom&ke it is not more likely than not that a tax
benefit will be sustained, no tax benefit has beeorded in the financial statements. Where appliécassociated interest and penalties have
also been recognized as a component of incomexfzense.

Computation of net income per share

Basic net income per share is computed by dividieigincome by the weighted average number of conshares outstanding for the
period. Diluted net income per share reflects thditeonal dilution from potential issuances of coomrstock, such as stock issuable pursua
the exercise of stock options and awards. Potgntdutive shares are excluded from the computatibdiluted net income per share when
their effect is anti-dilutive.

Stock-based compensation

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopteddinealue recognition provisions of the updatethautative guidance for stock
compensation, using the modified prospective ttemmsimethod. Under this transition method, stockdshcompensation expense for the year
ended December 31, 2009 includes compensation sggenall stock-based compensation awards gragmtedto, but not yet vested as of
January 1, 2006, based on the grant date fair \etimated in accordance with the original provisiof the authoritative guidance for stock
compensation. Stock-based compensation expensdl &tock-based compensation awards granted oftesrJanuary 1, 2006 is based on the
grant-date fair value estimated in
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accordance with the provisions of the updated aiitftiive guidance for stock compensation. The Vadmaprovisions also apply to grants that
are modified after January 1, 2006. The Companggeizes these compensation costs on a straighbdiais over the requisite service period
of the award, which is generally the option vestieign of four years. The Company will recognizeeaness benefit from stock-based
compensation in equity based on the difference éetviax expense computed with consideration ofvihdfall deduction and without
consideration of the windfall deduction. In additighe Company accounts for the indirect effectsto€k-based compensation on the research
tax credit and the foreign tax credit in the incostetement. See Note HHmployee Benefit Plan®of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for a further discussion on stock-baeetpensation.

Comprehensive income

Comprehensive income consists of net income aner gins and losses affecting stockholder’s eghiy the Company excluded from
net income, including gains and losses relateditovhlue of short-term investments and the eféectiortion of cash flow hedges that were
outstanding as of the end of the year.

Foreign currency translation

The Company’s functional currency is the U.S. ddita all of its international subsidiaries. Fonmeigurrency transactions of international
subsidiaries are re-measured into U.S. dollarseaehd-of-period exchange rates for monetary aaset$iabilities, and historical exchange
rates for non-monetary assets. Expenses are redmeéaat average exchange rates in effect durinlg pacod, except for expenses related to
non-monetary assets, which are re-measured atibatexchange rates. Revenue isweasured at average exchange rates in effect desich
period. Gains and losses arising from foreign awydaransactions are included in total comprehengizome and were a net gain of $131,000
for the year ended December 31, 2011, a net [0$438,000 for the year ended December 31, 201@ared gain of $954,000 for the year
ended December 31, 2009.

Recent accounting pronouncements

In December 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010-29, ifi2es Combinations (Topic 805): Disclosure of Sepmntary Pro Forma
Information for Business Combinations.” ASU 2029-specifies that, for material business combimatiwhen comparative financial statem:
are presented, revenue and earnings of the combimtéy should be disclosed as though the busio@sbination had occurred as of the
beginning of the comparable prior annual reporpfiegod. ASU 2010-29 also expands the supplementaigsma disclosures to include a
description of the nature and amount of materiahracurring pro forma adjustments directly attrédile to the business combination included
in the reported pro forma revenue and earnings. 2810-29 is effective prospectively for the Compé&mybusiness combinations with an
acquisition date on or after January 1, 2011. Siheeadoption of the update to the authoritativielgice for consolidation only requires
additional disclosures, the adoption did not imghetCompany’s consolidated financial positionutessof operations or cash flows.

In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-04, “Amendtag¢a Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement andlBssire Requirements
in U.S. GAAP and IFRSs”, which amends current Yailue measurement and disclosure guidance to cpaweth International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and provides incredsaasparency around valuation inputs and investicetegorization. ASU 2011-04 is
effective prospectively for the Company in thetfiygarter of fiscal 2012. ASU 2011-04 will only imgt the Company’s “Level 3” disclosures.
The adoption is not expected to have a materiahohpn the Company’s consolidated financial posijtresults of operations or cash flows.

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-05, “Prediemt of Comprehensive Income.” ASU 2011-05 elinssahe current option to
report other comprehensive income and its compariarthe statement of changes in equity. ASU 203 hllows two presentation alternativ
present items of net income and other compreheirsdegne (1) in one continuous statement, referoemktthe statement of comprehensive
income or
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(2) in two separate, but consecutive, statementebincome and other comprehensive income. ASU-Z&lis effective prospectively for the
Company in the first quarter of fiscal 2012. In Pewer 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-12, whichrddfee ASU 2011-05 requirement to
present components of reclassifications of othemgrehensive income on the face of the income stterithe amendments in ASU 2011-12
are effective at the same time as the amendmehipdate 2011-05. All other requirements of ASU 2@%lare not affected by ASU 2011-12.
The Company is currently evaluating which presémadlternative it will utilize. Since the adoptiohthe authoritative guidance only requires
additional disclosures, the adoption will not imp#e Company’s consolidated financial positiorsules of operations or cash flows.

In September 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-08atigibles—Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Testingo@will for Impairment.”
ASU 2011-08 permits an entity to make a qualitatissessment of whether it is more likely than hat & reporting uni$ fair value is less th:
its carrying amount before applying the tatep goodwill impairment test. If an entity conadgdhat it is more likely than not that the failue
of a reporting unit is less than its carrying antitrwould not be required to perform the two-steypairment test for that reporting unit. The
Company has elected to early adopt ASU 2011-0Berfdurth quarter of fiscal year 2011. The adopti@hnot have a material impact on the
Company’s consolidated financial position, resaftsperations or cash flows.

Note 2—Business Acquisitions
Westell Technologies, Inc.

On April 15, 2011, the Company completed the adtjoinsof certain intellectual property and othesets of the Customer Networking
Solutions division of Westell Technologies, IndMgstell”) at a purchase price of $37.0 million &sh. The acquisition included inventories,
property and equipment, intangible assets, anditiab that existed at the closing date, includérgployee bonuses and product warranties.
The acquisition qualifies as a business combinatimhwas accounted for using the acquisition meti@tcounting. The Company believes
the acquisition will bolster its service providevenue growth and strengthen its market positioorgnJ.S. telecommunications operators.

The results of Westell's operations have been degduin the consolidated financial statements sihealate of acquisition. The historical
results of operations of Westell prior to the asdgign were not material to the Company’s resultsperations.

In accordance with the acquisition method of actiogrfor business combinations, the Company alledtéiie total purchase price to
identifiable intangible assets based on each elgémestimated fair value. Acquisition costs wer@enxsed as incurred, and were immaterial for
this transaction. Purchased intangibles will be @ized on a straight-line basis over their respectistimated useful lives. Goodwill was
recorded based on the residual purchase priceallideating the purchase price to the fair marletig of assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. Goodwill arises as a result of, among élceors, future unidentified new products and rieghnologies as well as the implicit va
of future cost savings as a result of the combimihgntities. The Company may adjust the preliminaurchase price allocation after obtaining
more information regarding, among other thingdjilises assumed, and revisions of preliminaryrastes.

The following table summarizes the estimated falugs of the assets and liabilities assumed aidheisition date (in thousands):

Inventories $ 6,29(
Property and equipment, r 11¢
Intangibles, ne 19,50(
Current liabilities (64€)
Goodwill 11,74¢

Total consideratiol $37,00¢
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Of the $11.7 million of goodwill recorded on thegatsition of Westell, approximately $10.6 millioncd$11.7 million is deductible for
U.S. federal and state income tax purposes, ragphct

A total of $15.7 million of the $19.5 million in gaired intangible assets was designated as custmwnéacts and related relationships.
The value was calculated based on the present wvalhe future estimated cash flows derived fromjgetions of future operations attributable
to existing customer contracts and related relatigs and discounted at 19.0%. This $15.7 milloheing amortized over its estimated useful
life of eight years.

A total of $3.7 million of the $19.5 million in aa@ed intangible assets was designated as coradtady. The value was calculated
based on the present value of the future estinwgek flows derived from estimated savings attriblet#o the core technology and discounted
at 16.0%. This $3.7 million is being amortized oitsrestimated useful life of four years.

A total of $100,000 of the $19.5 million in acqudrimtangible assets was designated as order backimgvalue was calculated based on
an estimate of order backlog using the expectel taw for the orders and discounted at 3.3%. 180,000 has been fully amortized as of
the three months ended October 2, 2011.

Leaf Networks, LLC

On January 15, 2010, the Company completed theisitiqn of certain intellectual property and otlaessets of Leaf Networks, LLC
(“Leaf"), a developer of virtual networking softwearThe acquisition qualified as a business acdmisénd was accounted for using the
purchase method of accounting. The Company belianeacquisition will accelerate the Company’s garihg networking technology
research and development initiatives. The aggrgmaichase price was $2.1 million, of which $2.0limil was paid in cash in the first quarter
of 2010 and $100,000 was paid in the three momidee: April 3, 2011.

Additionally, the acquisition agreement specifibdttLeaf shareholders may receive a total additipagout of up to $900,000 in cash
over the three years following the closing of thguasition if developed products pass certain ataoege criteria. During the first quarter of
2010, the Company determined that the present ltiee $900,000 potential additional payout wagrepimately $800,000. For each
subsequent quarter, the Company measured at fag f@ each reporting period and recorded a lighiThe Company paid $400,000 for the
first portion of this additional payout in the terenonths ended April 3, 2011. As of December 31,12¢the Company had determined the
remaining acceptance criteria for the final $500,p0rtion of the eligible additional payout wereriag completion, and is carrying a liability
for the entire $500,000.

The results of Leaf’s operations have been includete consolidated financial statements sincedtite of acquisition. The historical
results of operations of Leaf prior to the acqigsitwere not material to the Company’s resultspdrations.

In accordance with the acquisition method of actiogrfor business combinations, the Company alledtéie total purchase price to
identifiable intangible assets based on each elésestimated fair value. Acquisition costs wer@enxsed as incurred, and were immaterial for
this transaction. Purchased intangibles, reprasgtitie existing technology acquired from Leaf, Wil amortized on a straight-line basis over
their respective estimated useful lives. Goodwdkwecorded based on the residual purchase ptareadibcating the purchase price to the fair
market value of intangible assets acquired. Godddise as a result of the $800,000 present valuati the $900,000 potential additional
payout, plus $100,000 in additional payment consiilen. The allocation of the purchase price wafbsws (in thousands):

Intangibles, ne $2,00(
Goodwill 90C
Total purchase price allocatis $2,90(
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Of the $900,000 of goodwill recorded on the acdiaisiof Leaf, approximately $471,000 and $900,0G& weductible for federal and
state income tax purposes, respectively.

The $2.0 million in acquired intangible assets wasignated as existing technology. The value wiasileded based on the present value
of the future estimated cash flows derived fromgutions of future revenue attributable to existiaghnology. This $2.0 million will be
amortized over its estimated useful life of sevearsg.

CP Secure International Holding Limited

On December 18, 2008, the Company completed thgisitiqn of certain intellectual property and otlaasets of CP Secure International
Holding Limited (“CP Secure”), a privately-held pider of integrated network security solutions. Hygregate purchase price was $14.0
million, paid in cash. Under the terms of the asdigin agreement, CP Secure shareholders receit@dladditional payout of $3.5 million in
cash as developed products passed certain accemidigecia. This additional payout was earned aaid m the year ended December 31, 2009,
and was accounted for as additional purchase priderecorded as a $3.5 million increase to goodwill

The results of CP Secure’s operations have bedudied in the consolidated financial statementsesthe date of acquisition. The
historical results of operations of CP Secure pioahe acquisition were not material to the Conyparesults of operations.

The accompanying consolidated financial statemeilsct a purchase price of approximately $14.8iom) consisting of cash, and other
costs directly related to the acquisition as foliafim thousands):

Purchase pric $14,00(
Direct acquisition cost 63E
Total consideratiol $14,63¢

In accordance with the purchase method of accogytiire Company allocated the total purchase padartgible assets, liabilities and
identifiable intangible assets based on their exttioh fair values. Purchased intangibles are anegrtin a straight-line basis over their
respective estimated useful lives. Goodwill wa®rded based on the residual purchase price aftexating the purchase price to the fair
market value of tangible and intangible assets isedUess liabilities assumed. Goodwill arises assallt of, among other factors, future
unidentified new products and new technologies @t as the implicit value of future cost savingsaa®sult of the combining of entities. The
allocation of the purchase price in December 2088 as follows (in thousands):

Inventories $ 82
Property and equipment, r 49
Intangibles, ne 3,90(
Goodwill 10,68¢
Other accrued liabilitie (82

Total purchase price allocati $14,63¢

Of the $10.7 million of goodwill recorded on thegagsition of CP Secure, $5.3 million and $10.7 ioiilis deductible for federal and
state income tax purposes, respectively. Of thg 88llion additional payout recorded as goodwiltire year ended December 31, 2009, $1.7
million and $3.5 million are deductible for fedeeald state income tax purposes, respectively.
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A total of $1.8 million of the $3.9 million in acged intangible assets was designated as in-prgesssrch and development. In-process
research and development was expensed upon amqulsitcause technological feasibility had not bestablished and no future alternative
uses existed. The Company acquired two in-proesesarch and development projects, which involvedwgments to threat management
characteristics of future products. These two mtsjeequired further research and developmenttiraine technical feasibility and
commercial viability. The fair value assigned tepirocess research and development was determingglthe income approach, under which
the Company considered the importance of produtdendevelopment to the Company’s overall develagmkans, estimated the costs to
develop the purchased in-process research andogeneht into commercially viable products, estimatetiresulting net cash flows from the
products when completed and discounted the netftash to their present values. The Company usg®a% discount rate in the present value
calculations, which was derived from a weightedrage cost of capital analysis, adjusted to refigictitional risks related to the products’
development and success as well as the produatge sif completion. The estimates used in valuingratess research and development were
based upon assumptions believed to be reasonatlenizh are inherently uncertain and unpredictableese assumptions may be incomplete
or inaccurate, and unanticipated events and ciramoss may occur. Accordingly, actual results meaty ¥rom the projected results. The
Company incurred costs of approximately $1.2 millio complete the projects, of which approxima&40,000 was incurred during the year
ended December 31, 2008 and an additional $1.iomilvas incurred during the year ended Decembe2@19. The Company completed one
project in the beginning of the year ended Decer3tte2009 and the final project at the end of tharyended December 31, 2009.

A total of $1.2 million of the $3.9 million in acged intangible assets was designated as exigttgiblogy. The value was calculated
based on the present value of the future estinwsk flows derived from projections of future rewerattributable to existing technology. This
$1.2 million is being amortized over its estimates@ful life of three years.

A total of $900,000 of the $3.9 million in acquiredangible assets was designated as core techndlbg value was calculated based on
the present value of the future estimated cashsflderived from estimated royalty savings attriblgdab the core technology. This $900,000 is
being amortized over its estimated useful lifeieé fyears.

Infrant Technologies, Inc.

On May 16, 2007, the Company completed the acipnsiif 100% of the outstanding shares of Infrarthrelogies, Inc. (“Infrant”), a
developer of network attached storage products.abfgeegate purchase price was $60 million, pahsh. Under the terms of the acquisition
agreement, Infrant shareholders received a totétiadal payout of $20 million in cash over thedhryears following closure of the acquisition
as specific revenue targets were reached. $10millias paid in November 2008 and $10 million wad paApril 2010.

The November 2008 payment of $10 million resultedr increase in goodwill of $8.7 million, the rgodion of compensation expense
of $650,000, and a reduction in taxes payable @dgRO0.

The April 2010 payment of $10 million resulted imiacrease in goodwill of $8.5 million, the recoigom of compensation expense of
$677,000, and a reduction in taxes payable of $880,The Company had accrued for $113,000 of #ir¥®00 in compensation expense in
the year ended December 31, 2009.

The results of Infrant’s operations have been etlin the consolidated financial statements sihealate of acquisition. The historical
results of Infrant prior to the acquisition werd nmaterial to the Company’s results of operations.
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The accompanying consolidated financial statemilsct an initial purchase price of approximat®§0.3 million, consisting of cash,
and other costs directly related to the acquisiéisfiollows (in thousands):

Purchase pric $60,00(
Direct acquisition cost 254
Total consideratiol $60,25¢

In accordance with the purchase method of accogntiive Company allocated the total purchase pocartgible assets, liabilities and
identifiable intangible assets based on their estioh fair values. Goodwill was recorded based erréBidual purchase price after allocating
purchase price to the fair market value of tang#sid intangible assets acquired less liabilitissiamed. Purchased intangibles are amortized on
a straight-line basis over their respective estmaiseful lives. Goodwill arises as a result ofpagiother factors, future unidentified new
products and new technologies as well as the iibpidue of future cost savings as a result ofdbmbining of entities. The total allocation of
the purchase price in 2007 was as follows (in thads):

Cash and cash equivale $ 2,78
Accounts receivabl 1,202
Inventories 3,50¢
Deferred income taxe 667
Prepaid expenses and other current a 36
Property and equipme 12¢
Intangibles 22,70(
Goodwill 38,18t
Accounts payabl (697)
Accrued employee compensati (39¢6)
Other accrued liabilitie (1,04
Deferred income tax liabilit (6,819

Total purchase price allocatis $60,25¢

None of the goodwill recognized related to Infrentleductible for income tax purposes.

A total of $4.1 million of the $22.7 million in aa@ed intangible assets was designated as in-pagesgarch and developmentpioces
research and development was expensed upon amuisitcause technological feasibility has not bestablished and no future alternative
uses exist. The Company acquired threprimcess research and development projects. Twegisojpvolve development of new products in
ReadyNAS desktop product category, and one prajeotves development of a higher end version ofadpct currently selling in the
ReadyNAS rack mount product category. These threjeqts required further research and developnmedétermine technical feasibility and
commercial viability. The fair value assigned tepirocess research and development was determingglthe income approach, under which
the Company considered the importance of produtdendevelopment to the Company’s overall develagmpkans, estimated the costs to
develop the purchased in-process research andogeweht into commercially viable products, estimdteriresulting net cash flows from the
products when completed and discounted the netftash to their present values. The Company usedadint rates ranging from 36% to 38%
in the present value calculations, which was derfvem a weighted-average cost of capital analysigsted to reflect additional risks related
to the products’ development and success as wétleagroducts’ stage of completion. The estimagesiun valuing in-process research and
development were based upon assumptions believael teasonable but which are inherently uncertathumpredictable. These assumptions
may be incomplete or inaccurate, and unanticipatests and circumstances may occur. Accordinglyahcesults may vary from the
projected results. The Company incurred costs pfagmately $1.6 million to complete the projeai§which approximately $1.4 million was
incurred during the year ended December 31, 208&aradditional $200,000
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was incurred during the year ended December 319.2lie Company completed two projects in the middiéne year ended December 31,
2008 and the final project in the middle of theryeaded December 31, 2009.

A total of $10.8 million of the $22.7 million in gaired intangible assets was designated as exigaimology. The value was calculated
based on the present value of the future estintsl flows derived from projections of future rewvemttributable to existing technology. This
$10.8 million is being amortized over its estimateséful life of four years.

A total of $5.2 million of the $22.7 million in aoged intangible assets was designated as coradtagy. The value was calculated
based on the present value of the future estintsl flows derived from estimated royalty saviniysbatable to the core technology. This
$5.2 million is being amortized over its estimateseful life of four years.

A total of $2.6 million of the $22.7 million in aa@ed intangible assets was designated as trademniHnk value was calculated based on
the present value of the future estimated cashsflderived from estimated royalty savings attriblgdb use of the trademarks. This $2.6
million is being amortized over its estimated u$éfa of six years.

Note 3—Balance Sheet Components (in thousands)
Available-for-sale short-term

As of December 31,

2011 2010
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
Estimated Estimated
Cost Gain Loss Fair Value Cost Gain Loss Fair Value
U.S. Treasurie $144,67: $ 34 $ (4) $144,70: $144,55:; $ 17 $ (4) $144,56:
Certificates of Deposit 94 — — 94 — — — —
Total $144,76° $ 34 $ (4) $144,79; $144,55:; $ 17 $ (4) $144,56:
Accounts receivable and related allowances
As of December 31
2011 2010
Gross accounts receivat $279,93: $241,63:
Less: Allowance for doubtful accoun (1,339 (1,487
Allowance for sales returr (13,360 (20,279
Allowance for price protectio (3,930 (3,149
Total allowance: (18,625 (14,90
Accounts receivable, n $261,30° $226,73:
Inventories
As of December 31,
2011 2010
Raw material $ 4,67¢ $ 1,591
Finished good 159,04 125,80
Total $163,72: $127,39:
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Property and equipment, net

As of December 31

2011 2010
Computer equipmet $ 7,10¢ $ 6,057
Furniture, fixtures and leasehold improveme 9,75 9,45(
Software 19,97 18,55:
Machinery and equipmel 21,79 17,46¢
Construction in progres 662 30
59,29¢ 51,55t

Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortiza (43,419 (34,059
$ 15,88¢ $ 17,50

Depreciation and amortization expense pertainingdperty and equipment in 2011, 2010 and 2009%82% million, $8.1 million and
$7.3 million, respectively.

Goodwill
Activity related to goodwill consisted of the foklking:

New Segments

Old Service

Segment Retail Commercial Provider Total
Goodwill at December 31, 2009 $ 64,90¢ $ — $ — $ — $64,90¢
Additions related to ea-out payment: 8,47¢ — — — 8,47¢
Net additions related to acquisitio 81€ — — — 81€
Goodwill at December 31, 20: 74,19¢ — — — 74,19¢

Relative fair value approac (74,199 33,54¢ 32,04: 8,60¢ —
Goodwill at April 4, 2011 — 33,54¢ 32,04: 8,60¢ 74,19¢
Net additions related to acquisitio — — — 11,74¢ 11,74¢
Goodwill at December 31, 20: $ — $33,54¢ $ 32,04 $20,35¢ $85,94+

During 2011, the Company recorded $11.7 milliogobddwill associated with the acquisition of the oaser Networking Solutions
division of Westell Technologies, Inc. (“WestellDuring 2010, the Company recorded $8.5 milliogobdwill associated with a $10 million
earn-out payment made in connection with the Comigad2007 acquisition of Infrant. The Company aleoarded $900,000 of goodwiill
associated with the Company’s 2010 acquisitiones#fl.and recorded an $84,000 reduction in goodeléited to taxes associated with the
Company’s 2006 acquisition of Skipjam Corp. RefeNbte 2 Business Acquisitionsfor additional information regarding the Company’
acquisitions.

There were no impairments to goodwill in the yearded December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009. Refeot® NThe Company and
Summary of Significant Accounting Policider additional information regarding the Compangbodwill impairment assessment.
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Intangibles, net

Core technolog

Existing technolog

Trademarks

Patents

Customer contracts and relationsk
Backlog

Total intangible asse

Core technology
Existing technolog!
Trademarks

Patents

Non-compete agreemer

Total intangible asse

Weighted
Average
Amortization

December 31 December 31 December 31
Amortization Period
2010 2010 2011 Remaining
Cost Net Additions Expense Net (Years)
$ 7,10C $ 973 $ 3,70( $ 1,23« $ 3,44 1.6C
14,00( 3,03¢ — 1,58¢ 1,452 2.54
2,60( 1,011 — 432 57¢ 0.67
1,27( 1,21¢ — 12¢€ 1,091 4.2t
— — 15,70( 1,30¢ 14,39: 3.67
— — 10C 10C — —
$ 24,97( $ 6,241 $19,50( $ 4,78t $ 20,95¢ 3.2C
Weighted
Average
Amortization

December 31 December 31 December 31
Amortization Period
2009 2009 2010 Remaining
Cost Net Additions Expense Net (Years)
$ 7,10C $ 2,45: $ — $ 1,48C $ 97: 0.92
12,00( 4,40(C 2,00( 3,362 3,03¢ 1.8¢€
2,60( 1,44~ — 434 1,011 1.17
— — 1,27( 51 1,21¢ 4.7¢
10C — — — — 0
$ 21,80( $ 8,29¢ $ 3,27( $ 5,32 $ 6,241 2.17

Amortization expense related to intangibles inythars ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 wasrtifion, $5.3 million and $5.0
million, respectively. No impairment charges wezearded in the years ended December 31, 2011, @02009.

Estimated amortization expense related to intaagifdr each of the next five years and thereadtasifollows (in thousands):

Year Ending December 31,
2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017 and thereafte

Total expected amortization exper
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Other non-current assets

As of December 31

2011 2010
Non-current deferred income tax $ 7,977 $ 7,112
Cost method investme 3,00¢ 3,00¢
Other 3,371 4,214
Other nol-current assel $14,357 $14,33¢

Other accrued liabilities

As of December 31,

2011 2010
Sales and marketing programs $ 44,39 $ 37,02(
Warranty obligatior 44,84¢ 40,51
Freight 7,94( 7,174
Other 23,30( 25,70¢
Other accrued liabilitie $120,48( $110,41:

Note 4—Restructuring and Other Charges

The Company accounts for its restructuring plardeuthe authoritative guidance for exit or dispa@saivities. The Company presents
expenses related to restructuring and other chagasseparate line item in its Consolidated Statésrof Operations.

In April 2011, the Company incurred $1.6 millionriestructuring costs for employee severance relatéite reorganization into three
specific business units. Refer to Note $2gment Information, Operations by Geographic Axnea Customer Concentratidar additional
information regarding the reorganization into bes® units. In addition, the Company incurred $48@j@ transition services in connection
with the acquisition of the Customer Networking 8imns division of Westell Technologies, Inc. Ref@Note 2 Business Acquisitiorfer
additional information regarding the Westell acios.

The following is a summary of the accrued restrtintucharges:

Accrued Accrued
Restructuring and Restructuring and
Other Charges at Other Charges at
December 31, Cash December 31,
2010 Additions Payments 2011
(In thousands)
Reorganization in business ur $ — $ 1,63( $(1,630 $ —
Westell acquisition transition cos — 464 (469 —
Current portior $ = $ 2,09¢ $(2,099) $ —

In July 2008, the Company ceased using buildingsdd in Santa Clara and Fremont, California, andalaated all personnel and
operations from those locations to its new corgoretadquarters in San Jose, California. The latstese operating leases expired in December
2010.
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The following is a summary of the accrued restriingucharges related to ceasing use of certairdings:

Accrued Accrued
Restructuring Restructuring
Charges at Adjustment Charges at
December 31 Present December 31
to Accrual Value Cash
2009 Recognitior Accretion Payment: 2010
(In thousands)
Abandonment of excess leased facili $ 51€ $ (109 $ 15 $ (428 $ —
Current portior $ 51€ $ —
Long-term portion $ — $ —

Note 5—Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company’s subsidiaries have had and will cagtito have material future cash flows, includingeraue and expenses, that are
denominated in currencies other than the Compdopaional currency. The Company and all its sulasids designate the U.S. dollar as the
functional currency. Changes in exchange ratesdmtwhe Company'’s functional currency and otherecwies in which the Company
transacts will cause fluctuations in cash flow extpions and cash flow realized or settled. Acaugtyi, the Company uses derivatives to
mitigate its business exposure to foreign exchaisfe The Company enters into foreign currency famvcontracts in Australian dollars,
British pounds, Euros, and Japanese yen to mahagexposures to foreign exchange risk related pe&ed future cash flows on certain
forecasted revenue, costs of revenue, operatingnsegs, and on certain existing assets and lialsiliihe Company does not enter into
derivatives transactions for trading or speculagiueposes.

Cash flow hedges

To help manage the exposure of gross and opernaiamgins to fluctuations in foreign currency exchangtes, the Company hedges a
portion of its anticipated foreign currency revencests of revenue, and certain operating expefi$ese hedges are designated at the
inception of the hedge relationship as cash flodgles under the authoritative guidance for deriesti@and hedging. Effectiveness is tested at
least quarterly both prospectively and retrospetfiusing regression analysis to ensure that thgéneelationship has been effective and is
likely to remain effective in the future. The Compaypically hedges portions of its anticipatedeiign currency exposure for three to five
months. The Company enters into about five forwamdtracts per quarter with an average size of ab@umillion USD equivalent related to its
cash flow hedge program.

The Company expects to reclass to earnings afle&imounts recorded in other comprehensive incasecated with its cash flow
hedges over the next 12 months. Other compreheimsivene associated with cash flow hedges of foreigmency revenue is recognized as a
component of net revenue in the same period aetated revenue is recognized. Other comprehemstaene associated with cash flow
hedges of foreign currency costs of revenue andatipg expenses are recognized as a componensbétmevenue and operating expense in
the same period as the costs of revenue and apgeatpenses are recognized, respectively.

Derivative instruments designated as cash flow éedgust be de-designated as hedges when it istpeothe forecasted hedged
transaction will not occur within the designatedidgpe period or if not recognized within 60 daysdualing the end of the hedge period. Defel
gains and losses in other comprehensive incomeiassd with such derivative instruments are redi@ssimmediately into earnings through
other income and expense. Any subsequent chandais iralue of such derivative instruments alsoraftected in current earnings unless they
are re-designated as hedges of other transaclibesCompany did not recognize any material netgairiosses related to the loss of hedge
designation on discontinued cash flow hedges dutiegears ended December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009.
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Non-designated hedges

The Company enters into non-designated hedges timel@uthoritative guidance for derivatives anddiegi to manage the exposure of
non-functional currency monetary assets and ligslineld on its financial statements to fluctuagian foreign currency exchange rates, as well
as to reduce volatility in other income and expefi$® non-designated hedges are generally expertetset the changes in value of its net
non-functional currency asset and liability positi@sulting from foreign exchange rate fluctuatidasreign currency denominated accounts
receivable and payable are hedged with non-desidrietdges when the related anticipated foreigmrevand expenses are recognized in the
Company'’s financial statements. The Company alslgée certain non-functional currency monetary assed liabilities which may not be
incorporated into the cash flow hedge program. Chmpany adjusts its non-designated hedges montlyaters into about 11 non-
designated derivatives per quarter. The averageo$its non-designated hedges is about $2 mill&D equivalent and these hedges range
from one to five months in duration.

The Company may choose not to hedge certain fomighange exposures for a variety of reasons,diray but not limited to,
immateriality, accounting considerations, and tt@hjbitive economic cost of hedging particular espees. There can be no assurance the
hedges will offset more than a portion of the ficiahimpact resulting from movements in foreign lexege rates. The Company’s accounting
policies for these instruments are based on wheitleeinstruments are designated as hedge or nagehestruments in accordance with the
authoritative guidance for derivatives and hedgirfge Company records all derivatives on the balaheet at fair value. The effective porti
of cash flow hedges are recorded in other compsaheincome until the hedged item is recognizeeamings. Derivatives that are not
designated as hedging instruments and the ineféeptirtions of its designated hedges are adjustéalrtvalue through earnings in “Other
income (expense), net.”

The Company'’s foreign currency forward contractsidbcontain any credit-risk-related contingentdieas. The Company is exposed to
credit losses in the event of nonperformance byctunter-parties of its forward contracts. The Campenters into derivative contracts with
high-quality financial institutions. In additiorhe derivative contracts are limited to a time p&id6 less than six months and the Company
continuously evaluates the credit standing of dgnter-party financial institutions. The countertfws to these arrangements are large highly
rated financial institutions and the Company dagsconsider non-performance a material risk.

The fair values of the Company’s derivative insteums and the line items on the Consolidated Bal&heets to which they were
recorded as of December 31, 2011 and Decembei030, &e summarized as follows:

Fair Value at Fair Value at
Balance December 31 Balance December 31
Sheet Sheet
Derivative Assets Location 2011 Location 2010
(In thousands)
Derivative assets not designated as hedgin Prepaid expenses & Prepaid expenses ¢
instruments
other current asse $ 1,19¢ other current asse $ 1,381
Derivative assets designated as hedging Prepaid expenses ¢ Prepaid expenses ¢
instruments
other current asse¢ 41 other current asse¢ 8
Total $ 1,237 $ 1,38¢
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Balance
Sheet
Derivative Liabilities Location
Derivative liabilities not designated
hedging instrument Other accrued liabilitie
Derivative liabilities designated :
hedging instrument Other accrued liabilitie
Total

For details of the Company’s fair value measuresigriease see Note

Location of Gains or (Losses

Fair Value at Fair Value at
December 31 Balance December 31
Sheet
2011 Location 2010

(In thousands)
$ (654) Other accrued liabilitie $ (770
(69) Other accrued liabilitie (19
$ (729 $ (789

IRair Value of Financial Instruments

Year ended

December 31, 201.

Amount of Gains or
(Losses) Recognized
Income on Derivative

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedgin Recognized in Income on
Instruments Derivative
Foreign currency forward contrac Other income (expense)

(In thousands)

; $ (957)

December 31, 201/

Amount of Gains or
(Losses) Recognized
Income on Derivative

$ 72

The effects of the Compars/terivative instruments on other comprehensiverimeand the Consolidated Statement of Operatiarthé
year ended December 31, 2011 and December 31,&281ummarized as follow

Derivatives Designated a:

Hedging Instruments Year ended December 31, 201

Gain or (Loss,
Location of Gain

Recognized ir or (Loss)
Reclassified from
OCI- Effective OCl into
Income-Effective
Portion (a) Portion
Cash flow hedges:
Foreign currency forward contrac $ 54z Net revenue
Foreign currency forward contrac — Cost of revenu
Foreign currency forward contrac — Operating expens
Total $ 542

81

Gain or (Loss,

Reclassified Location of Gain or (Loss, Amount of Gain or
from OCI into (Loss) Recognized i
Recognized in Income an
Income- Income and
Effective Excluded from Excluded from
Portion (&) Effectiveness Testing Effectiveness Testin
(In thousands)
$ 967 Other income (expense), $ (310)
4) Other income (expense), —
(159 Other income (expense), —
$ 80¢ $ (310
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Derivatives Designated a:
Hedging Instruments

Cash flow hedges:

Foreign currency forward contrac

Foreign currency forward contrac

Foreign currency forward contrac
Total

Derivatives Designated as
Hedging Instruments

Cash flow hedges

Foreign currency forward contrac
Foreign currency forward contrac
Foreign currency forward contrac

Total

Year ended December 31, 201

Gain or (Loss,
Recognized ir

OCI- Effective

Portion (a)

Gain or (Loss,

Location of Gain Reclassified Location of Gain or (Loss, Amount of Gain or
or (Loss) from OClI into (Loss) Recognized i
Reclassified from Recognized in Income an
OCl into Income- Income and
Income-Effective Effective Excluded from Excluded from
Portion Portion (a) Effectiveness Testing Effectiveness Testin
(In thousands)
Net revenue $ 2,75¢ Other income (expense), $ (262)
Cost of revenui 27) Other income (expense), —
Operating expens (724 Other income (expense), —
$ 2,004 $ (262)

Year ended December 31, 2009

Gain or (Loss)
Recognized ir

OCI- Effective

Portion (&)

$ (499)

$ (499

Gain or (Loss,

Amount of Gain or
(Loss) Recognized i

Income and
Excluded from
Effectiveness Testin

Location of Gain Reclassified Location of Gain or (Loss,
or (Loss) from OCI into

Reclassified from Recognized in Income an
OCl into Income-

Income-Effective Effective Excluded from
Portion Portion (a) Effectiveness Testing

(In thousands)

Net revenue $ (707) Other income (expense),

Cost of revenu 15 Other income (expense),

Operating expens 172 Other income (expense),

$ (519

$ (85)
s &

(a) Refer to Note 1G5tockholder’s Equity which summarizes the activity in other comprehensicome related to derivatives.

The Company did not recognize any net gain orlelsged to the ineffective portion of cash flow ped during the year ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 or 2009.

Note 6—Net Income Per Share

Basic net income per share is computed by divitlregnet income for the period by the weighted ayer@umber of common shares
outstanding during the period. Diluted net incoree ghare is computed by dividing the net incomeHerperiod by the weighted average
number of shares of common stock and potentialiytide common stock outstanding during the period.

Potentially dilutive common shares include outstagdtock options and unvested restricted stock@syavhich are reflected in diluted
net income per share by application of the treastogk method. Under the treasury stock methodatheunt that the employee must pay for
exercising stock options, the amount of stock-bassdpensation cost for future services that the @omg has not yet recognized, and the
amount of tax benefit that would be recorded initamithl paid-in capital upon exercise are assuroduktused to repurchase shares.

82



Table of Contents

Net income per share for the years ended Decembe@03.1, 2010 and 2009 are as follows (in thousaext=pt per share data):

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
Net income $91,36¢ $50,90¢ $ 9,33¢
Weighted average shares outstand
Basic 37,121 35,38t 34,48¢
Options and awarc 811 73¢ 363
Total diluted share $37,93: $36,12¢ $34,84¢
Basic net income per she $ 2.4¢ $ 144 $ 0.27
Diluted net income per sha $ 241 $ 141 $ 0.27

Anti-dilutive common stock options totaling 2,00a08 3,251,861 and 3,614,698 were excluded fronwsighted average shares
outstanding for the diluted per share calculatimm2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Note 7—Other Income (Expense), Net
Other income (expense), net consisted of the fatigwin thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
Foreign currency transaction gains (losses), net $ 131 ($ 130 $ 954
Foreign currency contract gains (losses), 1,267 (439 1,082

Total $1,13¢ $ 564 $ 12¢

Note 8—Income Taxes
Income before income taxes consists of the follgwin thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
United State: $ 79,31¢ $95,29: $38,94!
International 44,89: (4,067) 6,37¢

Total $124,21( $91,22¢ $32,567
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The provision for income taxes consists of theofelhg (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
Current:
U.S. Federa $27,41¢ $37,95¢ $23,71¢
State 3,31¢ 5,65¢ 2,27(
Foreign 6,76( 4,947 2,74¢
37,49« 48,55¢ 28,731
Deferred:
U.S. Federa (3,157 (8,92¢) (4,957
State (713) 645 (469)
Foreign (78¢) 45 (83)
(4,657) (8,240 (5,509
Total $32,84: $40,31* $23,23¢

Net deferred tax assets consist of the followimgliousands):

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010
Deferred Tax Assets:
Accruals and allowance $ 22,32¢ $ 18,45:
Net operating loss carryforwar 32¢ 351
Stoclk-based compensatic 6,304 5,98
Deferred ren 2,13¢ 2,31
Deferred revenu 411 28¢
Tax credit carryforward 1,43¢ 1,732
Acquired intangible asse 56€ —
Other 25€ 59:
33,76 29,71(
Deferred Tax Liabilities:
Acquired intangible asse — (25¢)
Depreciation and amortizatic (2,699 (2,969
Unremitted earnings of foreign subsidiar — (39
(2,69¢) (3,266
Net deferred tax asse 31,06¢ 26,44
Current portior 23,08¢ $ 19,33
Non-current portior 7,97 7,112
Net deferred tax asse $ 31,06 $ 26,44«

Management'’s judgment is required in determinirg@ompany’s provision for income taxes, its defétex assets and any valuation
allowance recorded against its deferred tax assetsanagement’s judgment it is more likely than that such assets will be realized in the
future as of December 31, 2011, and as such natiafuallowance has been recorded against the Qoyigpdeferred tax assets.
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The effective tax rate differs from the applicablé&. statutory federal income tax rate as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
Tax at federal statutory ra 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%
State, net of federal bene 15 4.2 3.1
Impact of international operatio (9.5 5.1 28.4
Stoclk-based compensatic 0.C 0.7 4.0
Tax credits (0.7) (0.7) .7
Others 0.1 (0.7) 2.5
Provision for income taxe 26.4% 44.2% 71.52%

Income tax benefits in the amount of $3.5 milli6B,6 million and $136,000 related to stock optiamse credited to additional paid-in
capital during the years ended December 31, 200110 and 2009, respectively. As a result of chamyéair value of available for sale
securities, income tax expense of $8,000, $3,000640,000 was recorded in comprehensive incomeerkta the year ended December 31,
2011, December 31, 2010, and December 31, 2008 ctgely.

As of December 31, 2011, the Company has $574,00&.4 million of acquired federal and state rpgrating loss carry forwards as
well as $310,000 of California tax credits carryfards. All of these losses and $111,000 of thesditsrare subject to annual usage limitations
under Internal Revenue Code Section 382. The fettmses expire in different years beginning idiis2021. The state loss begins to expire in
fiscal 2015. The state tax credit carryforward hagxpiration

The Company files income tax returns in the U.8efal jurisdiction, various state and local, anekign jurisdictions. With few
exceptions, the Company is no longer subject ta féderal, state and local, or foreign income teanginations for years before 2007. In 2011,
the IRS commenced an examination of the Comparg08 2nd 2009 tax years. The Company has limited aativity in various states and
foreign jurisdictions. Due to the uncertain natof@ngoing tax audits, the Company has recordéaltdity for uncertain tax positions as part
of its long-term liability as payments cannot béicpated over the next 12 months. The existingpasitions of the Company continue to
generate an increase in the liability for uncertaipositions. The liability for uncertain tax tgms may be reduced for liabilities that are
settled with taxing authorities or on which thetsta of limitations could expire without assessnfenn tax authorities. The possible reduction
in liabilities for uncertain tax positions resuliifrom the expiration of statutes of limitationrultiple jurisdictions in the next 12 months is
approximately $1.0 million, excluding the intergsnalties and the effect of any related deferagdhssets or liabilities.
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amooingross unrecognized tax benefits (“UTB”) is abdws (in thousands):

Federal,

State, and

Foreign Tax
Gross UTB Balance at January 1, 200 $ 13,29
Additions based on tax positions related to theenitryeal 3,60¢
Additions for tax positions of prior yea 184
Reductions for tax positions of prior yei Q)
Reductions due to lapse of applicable stat (587)
Gross UTB Balance at December 31, 20( 16,50
Additions based on tax positions related to theeniryeal 3,371
Additions for tax positions of prior yea 40¢
Settlement: 47
Reductions for tax positions of prior ye: (1,805)
Reductions due to lapse of applicable stat 3
Gross UTB Balance at December 31, 20: 18,43:
Additions based on tax positions related to theeniryeal 1,79t
Additions for tax positions of prior yea 1,01t
Settlement: (179
Reductions for tax positions of prior ye: 2
Reductions due to lapse of applicable stat (3,699
Adjustments due to foreign exchange rate movet (27)
Gross UTB Balance at December 31, 20: $ 17,33t

The total amount of net unrecognized tax bendfis, tif recognized would affect the effective takeras of December 31, 2011 is $15.5
million. The ending net UTB results from adjustithg gross balance at December 31, 2011 for itents @81 U.S. federal and state deferred
foreign tax credits, interest, and deductible tafé&® net UTB is included as a component of nomezurincome taxes payable within the
consolidated balance sheet.

The Company recognizes interest and penalties ederlated to unrecognized tax benefits in incameekpense. During the years en
December 31, 2011, December 31, 2010 and Decenh@089, total interest and penalties expensed $&0¢000, $262,000 and $354,000,
respectively. As of December 31, 2011 and Decer@beP010, accrued interest and penalties on a ¢pasis was $1.9 million and $1.8
million, respectively. Included in accrued interast amounts related to tax positions for whichutienate deductibility is highly certain but
for which there is uncertainty about the timingsath deductibility. Because of the impact of defdrrax accounting, other than interest, the
impact of any uncertain tax benefits related togerary differences would not affect the annual effe tax rate but would accelerate the
payment of cash to the taxing authority to an eageriod.

With the exception of those foreign sales subsieliafior which deferred tax has been provided, thm@any intends to indefinitely
reinvest foreign earnings. These earnings wereoxppately $40.2 million and $10.1 million as of @esber 31, 2011 and December 31, 2(
respectively. Because of the availability of U.&eign tax credits, it is not practicable to deteerthe income tax liability that would be
payable if such earnings were not indefinitely vested.
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Note 9—Commitments and Contingencies
Leases

The Company leases office space, cars and equipmelet non-cancelable operating leases with vagapgation dates through
December 2026. Rent expense in the years endedpiber 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $7.0 millior4 $éllion and $6.2 million,
respectively. The terms of some of the Companyfis@feases provide for rental payments on a gr@duscale. The Company recognizes rent
expense on a straight-line basis over the leasedyemnd has accrued for rent expense incurredditpaid.

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancetgd@eating leases are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ending December 31,

2012 $ 6,34¢
2013 5,26¢
2014 4,48¢
2015 3,981
2016 3,565¢
Thereaftel 6,07(
Total minimum lease paymer $29,71:

Employment Agreements

The Company has signed various employment agresmaiiit key executives pursuant to which, if theirgoyment is terminated
without cause, such employees are entitled to vedéeir base salary (and commission or bonuspplicable) for 52 weeks (for the Chief
Executive Officer), 39 weeks (for the Senior Viae$ident of Worldwide Operations and Support) gmdou26 weeks (for other key
executives). Such employees will also continueateehstock options vest for up to a one-year pdotidwing such termination without cause.
If a termination without cause or resignation fongd reason occurs within one year of a changentreh such employees are entitled to full
acceleration (for the Chief Executive Officer) amgto two years acceleration (for other key exeesl of any unvested portion of his or her
stock options.

Purchase Obligations

The Company has entered into various inventoryteédlpurchase agreements with suppliers. Genetailyer these agreements, 50% of
orders are cancelable by giving notice 46 to 6Ggaior to the expected shipment date and 25%dw#rerare cancelable by giving notice 31 to
45 days prior to the expected shipment date. Om@ersion-cancelable within 30 days prior to theeexgd shipment date. At December 31,
2011, the Company had $139.4 million in non-cardelgurchase commitments with suppliers. The Comgatablishes a loss liability for all
products it does not expect to sell for which i lkammitted purchases from suppliers. Such losses hot been material to date.

Guarantees and Indemnifications

The Company, as permitted under Delaware law aaddordance with its Bylaws, indemnifies its offe@nd directors for certain eve
or occurrences, subject to certain limits, while tfficer or director is or was serving at the Camygs request in such capacity. The term of
indemnification period is for the officer’s or dater’s lifetime. The maximum amount of potential futimdemnification is unlimited; howeve
the Company has a Director and Officer Insurandeythat limits its exposure and enables it toonegr a portion of any future amounts paid.
As a result of its insurance policy coverage, toen@any believes the fair value of these indemnificeagreements is minimal. Accordingly,
the Company has no liabilities recorded for thegeaments as of December 31, 2011.

In its sales agreements, the Company typicallyesgte indemnify its direct customers, distributansl resellers for any expenses or
liability resulting from claimed infringements o&fents, trademarks or copyrights
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of third parties. The terms of these indemnificatigreements are generally perpetual any time eexgution of the agreement. The maximum
amount of potential future indemnification is uniied. The Company believes the estimated fair vafitbese agreements is minimal.
Accordingly, the Company has no liabilities recatder these agreements as of December 31, 2011.

Litigation and Other Legal Matters
Wi-Lan Inc. v. NETGEAR

In October 2007, a lawsuit was filed against thenBany by Wi-Lan Inc. (“Wi-Lan”), a patent-holdingmpany existing under the laws
of Canada, in the U.S. District Court, Eastern isbf Texas. Wi-Lan alleged that the Companyinged U.S. Patent Nos. 5,282,222,
RE37,802 and 5,956,323. Wi-Lan accused the Compaimfringement with respect to its wireless netlwog products compliant with the
IEEE 802.11 standards and ADSL products compliattt the ITUG.992 standards. Wi-Lan also sued 2®otbchnology companies alleging
similar claims of patent infringement. The Compéited its answer to the lawsuit in the first quarbé 2008. A claim construction hearing to
place for the ‘222 and ‘802 Patents on March 1102@nd on May 11, 2010, the Court issued its orderpreting the claims of these patents
(claim construction order). The claim constructimaring on the ‘323 patent occurred on Septemb2010, and the Court subsequently issued
its claim construction order for this patent. Theu@ ordered that infringement of the RE37,802 &y&B2,222 (Wi-Fi) patents would be tried
first, as to all defendants, and infringement &f $956,323 (DSL) patent would be addressed icansktrial. Shortly before the beginning of
the first trial, the Company and Wi-Lan entereaiséttlement discussions. Without admitting anyngoing or violation of law and to avoid
the distraction and expense of continued litigatiad the uncertainty of a jury verdict on the nseihe Company and Wi-Lan signed a binding
release agreement in which the Company agreed ke mane-time lump sum payment to be paid by May20%1 in consideration for mutual
general releases. In the agreement, each partgchtyeelease the other party from all claims, kn@wunknown, under any of the ‘222, ‘802
and ‘323 Patents with respect to the manufactuge, sale, etc. of products by the Company. Eadly pgreed to bear its own costs and
attorneys’ fees. The Company made the requirediome=iump sum payment that was due by May 15, 20his arrangement is not expected
to have a material impact on the Company’s conatdid financial position, results of operationscash flows. The Court has dismissed all
claims between Wi-Lan and the Company, includinglaims presented by Wi-Lan’s complaint and altled Company’s counterclaims, and
neither of the scheduled trials between Wi-Lan gamedCompany will occur. This litigation matter isva concluded.

Fujitsu et. al v. NETGEA

In December 2007, a lawsuit was filed against tbenany by Fujitsu Limited, LG Electronics, Inc. ddds. Philips Corporation in the
U.S. District Court, Western District of Wisconsithe plaintiffs allege that the Company infringesSUPatent Nos. 6,018,642, 6,469,993 and
4,975,952, The plaintiffs accuse the Company’s les® networking products compliant with the IEER8Q standards of infringement. The
Company filed its answer to the lawsuit in thetfgearter of 2008. The District Court held a claionstruction hearing on August 15, 2008. On
September 10, 2008, the District Court issued ianctanstruction order. In February 2009, the parfied numerous motions for summary
judgment concerning, among other things,-infringement, invalidity, and other affirmativefdases. In September 2009, the District Court
granted the Company’s motion for summary judgmémionm-infringement of the three patents-in-suiteTbistrict Court determined that the
Company’s compliance with the 802.11 standard didhecessarily infringe the patents-in-suit and tha plaintiffs did not provide adequate
evidence regarding the function of the Company&lpcts to put the issue of infringement beforerg. jn light of the District Court’s
determination that the patents-in-suit were nainigied, the District Court declined to address@menpany’s summary judgment claims of the
invalidity of the patents in question. On Decem®@r 2009, the Plaintiffs filed two briefs with tRederal Circuit appealing the District Court’s
summary judgment rulings. On December 30, 2009Dik&ict Court ordered litigation costs in the amb$175,000 to be reimbursed to the
Company, which were never collected or recogniZé@. Company’s opposition brief to the Plaintiffispeeal was submitted on February 18,
2010. The Federal Circuit heard oral argumentsherPiaintiffs’ appeal on June 7, 2010. On Septer@be010, the Federal Circuit
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issued a unanimous ruling that made three sepfndiags. It affirmed a summary judgment rulingrirdghe District Court that the Company
did not infringe the claims of a Fujitsu patentatell to wireless communications technology. Inthaldithe Court affirmed a summary
judgment ruling that the Company did not infringe tlaims of an LG Electronics Inc. patent alsatesl to wireless communicatio
technology. Further, the court affirmed the loweurt’s ruling that the Company did not infringe kilps patent for a method of transmitting
data messages in a communications network, exoefadr products. For those four products, the €ouled that Philips produced sufficient
evidence of direct infringement, so that an infénmgent trial for these four products could procé&d October 19, 2010, plaintiff LG
Electronics submitted a petition for rehearinghte Federal Circuit requesting that the Federalu@tiecdecision be set aside with respect to LG
Electronics’ asserted patent and that a reheaergrénted. The Federal Circuit denied LG Electrsmpetition for a rehearing on November 2,
2010, letting stand its September 20, 2010 ordemahg the District Court’s decision to grant tB®mpany summary judgment of
noninfringement on the patent asserted by LG Heats. Subsequent to the Federal Circuit ruling,fhrties began settlement discussions
respect to the four remaining products accusedfdhging the Philips patent. On March 8, 2011, Ehstrict Court approved the settlement
agreement between Philips and the Company. Thasigement is not expected to have a material impatite Company’s consolidated
financial position, results of operations or cdslwé. This litigation matter is now concluded.

OptimumPath, L.L.C. v. NETGEAR

In January 2008, a lawsuit was filed against then@any by OptimumPath, L.L.C (“OptimumPath”), a pateolding company existing
under the laws of the State of South CarolinaheW.S. District Court, District of South Carolir@ptimumPath claims that certain of the
Company’s wireless networking products infringe@ptimumPath’s U.S. Patent No. 7,035,281. Optimuim@bto sued six other technology
companies alleging similar claims of patent infengent. The Company filed its answer to the lawisuite second quarter of 2008. Several
defendants, including the Company, jointly fileceguest fointer partesreexamination of the OptimumPath patent with théééhStates
Patent and Trademark Office (the “USPTQO") on Octdt® 2008. On January 12, 2009, a reexaminatiacnos@ered with respect to claims31-
and 8-10 of the patent, but denied with respectdims 4-7 and 11-32 of the patent. On FebruaB089, the defendants jointly filed a petition
to challenge the denial of reexamination of cla#visand 11-32. In March 2009, the District Coudrged defendants’ motion to transfer the
case to the U.S. District Court, Northern Dista€California. In July 2009, the petition to chaltge the denial of reexamination of claims 4-7
and 11-32 was denied. The Company and OptimumPt&thded a Court-ordered mediation on Septembe2@® but were unable to make
progress towards settlement. The Company and d#fendants filed a combined claim construction/samynjudgment brief on December 23,
2010. OptimumPath responded on January 20, 20#ithendefendants replied on February 3, 2011. Talkanguments on claim construction
and the summary judgment motion were made on Fgbfifga 2011. On April 12, 2011, the District Cogranted defendants’ motion for
summary judgment on OptimumPath’s claim for literdtingement and defendants’ motion to preclude¢i®pmPath’s infringement claims
based on the doctrine of equivalents. The Coud falgnd that the accused devices did not infringgen the doctrine of equivalents. The Court
also granted defendants’ motion for summary judgrtifeat asserted claims 1, 2, 6, and 9 through ¥Beof281 patent were invalidated by
various prior art. The pretrial conference and tletes were vacated. OptimumPath filed its nadiicappeal to the Federal Circuit of the
District Court’s rulings on May 18, 2011. On May, 2811, the District Court entered the defendgpoiat request for costs in the amount of
$102,554.00, which have not yet been collecteccognized. On June 29, 2011, the Federal Circuketed the appeal. OptimumPath
submitted its opening brief in its appeal to theétal Circuit on October 21, 2011, the defendamtswering brief was submitted on
December 2, 2011, and OptimumPath’s reply brief sudgsnitted on December 16, 2011. The next stdpeistal argument on the briefing
before the Court of Appeals for the Federal Circatheduled for March 5, 2012.

Ruckus Wireless v. NETGE!

In May 2008, a lawsuit was filed against the Conyplayy Ruckus Wireless (“Ruckus”), a developer of Viechnology, in the U.S.
District Court, Northern District of California. Rkus alleges that the Company
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infringes U.S. Patent Nos. 7,358,912 (‘912 Patant) 7,193,562 (‘562 Patent) in the course of deptpWi-Fi antenna array technology in its
WPN824 RangeMax wireless router. Ruckus also swggpain Corporation alleging similar claims of patafringement. The Company filed
its answer to the lawsuit in the third quarter 808. The Company and Rayspan Corporation joinidyifa request fanter partes
reexamination of the Ruckus patents with the USBT@eptember 4, 2008. The Court issued a stayeditifpation while the reexaminations
proceeded in the USPTO. On November 28, 2008,xanei@ation was ordered with respect to claims 1bfithe ‘562 Patent, but denied with
respect to claims 1-10 and 18-36. On Decemberd08,2he defendants jointly filed a petition to iidsage the denial of reexamination of
claims 1-10 and 18-36 of the ‘562 Patent. In JW9P, the petition was denied, and the remainingndd 1-17 were confirmed. The Company
is appealing the confirmation of claims 11-17. GecBmber 2, 2008, reexamination was granted withrdetp the 912 Patent. In early Octok
2009, the Company received an Action Closing Prats&t in the reexamination of the ‘912 Patent. thl claims of the ‘912 Patent, with the
exception of the unchallenged claims 7 and 8, ieedly rejected by the USPTO. On October 30, 2@A¢kus submitted an “after-final”
amendment in the ‘912 Patent reexamination proogedihe Company’s comments to Ruckus’ “after-firafiendment were submitted on
November 30, 2009. On December 1, 2009, the Courtd that bifurcating th'562 Patent from the ‘912 Patent and commencinggliion on
the ‘562 Patent while the USPTO reexamination pge@nd appeals are still pending would be an iefft use of the Court’s resources.
Accordingly, the Court ruled that the litigatioragtshould remain in effect. On September 12, 200Company filed the rebuttal brief in its
appeals of the USPTO'’s rulings during the reexationaf the ‘562 Patent, and the Company requestedral hearing with the Board of
Appeals at the USPTO to discuss this brief. On&aper 13, 2010, Ruckus filed a notice of appe#hef912 Patent to appeal the adverse
rulings it received from the USPTO in the reexartioraof this patent. The Company filed a responddmief in the ‘912 Patent case on
January 24, 2011. An oral hearing in tb62 case was set for February 1, 2011, but the @ayndecided to cancel it and let the USPTO de
the ‘562 case based solely on the previously subdhfiapers. On May 13, 2011, the USPTO indicatatittte Company was successful in its
appeal of the examiner’s previous decision to aldamims 11-17 in the ‘562 reexamination, and thé°UOS Board of Appeals reversed the
examiner’s decision and declared those claimsiidv@in June 13, 2011, Ruckus submitted a requesefeearing by the Board of Appeals of
its decision to reject claims 11-17 of the ‘562dpat On September 28, 2011, the Board of Patene&lpmand Interferences denied Ruckus’s
request for a rehearing in the ‘562 Patent reexatitin case. Ruckus did not timely file a noticeappeal to the Court of Appeals for the
Federal Circuit appealing the USPTO’s cancellatibolaims 11-17 of the ‘562 patent. Therefore, exeamination certificate will issue with
claims 11-17 cancelled and claims 1-10 and 18-3ircned.

On November 4, 2009, Ruckus filed a new complairihe U.S. District Court, Northern District of @afnia alleging the Company and
Rayspan Corporation infringe a patent that is eelab the patents previously asserted against dingp@ny and Rayspan Corporation by
Ruckus, as discussed above. This newly assertedtgatU.S. Patent No. 7,525,486 entitled “Increasgeless coverage pattern&\$ with the
previous Ruckus action, the WPN824 RangeMax wisalester is the alleged infringing device. The Campchallenged the sufficiency of
Ruckus’s complaint in this new action and movedismiss the complaint. Ruckus opposed this mofitve. Court partially agreed with the
Company’s motion and ordered Ruckus to submit a cewplaint, which Ruckus did. The initial case ngeraent conference occurred on
February 11, 2010. On March 25, 2010, the Courtied a stay until the completion of the ‘562 Paserexamination proceedings in the first
Ruckus lawsuit against the Company and RayspanCbioet instructed the parties to submit status msgo the Court every six months,
apprising the Court of the status of the pendimxaeination proceedings in the USPTO. Upon finalagstion of all pending reexamination
proceedings of the ‘562 Patent, including any ajgpélae Court ordered the parties to jointly subtmithe Court a letter indicating that all
appeals have been exhausted and requesting arfaaise management conference. The case remaimeslstay

On November 19, 2010, the Company filed suit agduskus in the U.S. District Court, District of Revare for infringement of four of
the Company’s patents. The Company alleges thati®iemanufacture, use, sale or offers for saldiwithe United States or importation into
the United States of products, including wirelessymunication products, infringe United States Palos. 5,812,531, 6,621,454, 7,263,143,
and
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5,507,035, all owned by the Company. The Compaawptgd Ruckus an extension to file its answer tadQbmpany’s suit, and on January 11,
2011, Ruckus filed a motion to dismiss the Compsausyit based on insufficient pleadings. The Comgaeg its response to Ruckus’s motion
on January 31, 2011. In addition, on May 6, 20lickrs filed a motion to transfer venue to the NemthDistrict of California. The Court
denied Ruckus’ motion to transfer the case to thehérn District of California and granted the Canp leave to file an amended complaint
rather than address the Ruckus motion to dismissdan insufficient pleadings. The Company filegl phoposed amended complaint.
Nevertheless, Ruckus filed a second motion to distbased on insufficient pleadings by the Compahg.Company has filed its opposition
Ruckus’s motion, and the Court has not yet rulethenmotion.

Northpeak Wireless, LLC v. NETGE.,

In October 2008, a lawsuit was filed against thenpany and 30 other companies by Northpeak Wireldss,(“Northpeak”) in the U.S.
District Court, Northern District of Alabama. Nopbak alleges that the Company’s 802.11b compatifalducts infringe certain claims of U.S.
Patent Nos. 4,977,577 and 5,987,058. The Compblat/ifs answer to the lawsuit in the fourth quade2008. On January 21, 2009, the
District Court granted a motion to transfer theectsthe U.S. District Court, Northern District@&lifornia. In August 2009, the parties
stipulated to a litigation stay pending a reexaridmarequest to the USPTO on the asserted pafEmsreexaminations of the patents are
proceeding. In March 2011, the USPTO confirmedvii@ity of the asserted claims of the ‘577 patever certain prior art references. In April
2011, the USPTO issued a final office action réjecboth asserted claims of the ‘058 patent asghebvious in light of the prior art. The case
remains stayed by stipulation, and no trial dateleen set.

WIAV Networks, LLC v. NETGEAR

In July 2009, a lawsuit was filed against the Conmypand over 50 other companies by WIAV NetworksCLEWIAV?) in the U.S.
District Court, Eastern District of Texas. WIAV edles that the Company and the other defendanisgeft).S. Patent Nos. 6,480,497 and
5,400,338. WIAV alleges that the Company’s wirelessvorking devices, including various routers gateways, infringe upon WIAV’s
patents. The Company filed its answer to the latweuDctober 2009 and asserted that WiAWatents were both invalid and not infringed L
by the Company. In March 2010, the Company andatdefendants filed a motion to transfer the cagbe U.S. District Court, Northern
District of California. WIAV opposed the motion. Gane 3, 2010, the Court heard the defendantsomadi transfer the case from the Eastern
District of Texas to the Northern District of Califiia. The Court took the motion under consideratamd on July 15, 2010, the Court ruled
that it would transfer the case to the U.S. Distdourt, Northern District of California. Discovehas not commenced. On August 31, 2010
U.S. District Court, Northern District of Califormiordered WIAV to demonstrate why the Court shawdtidismiss all but the first named
defendant from the lawsuit. The parties briefed argaied this issue before the Court. In respohgseCburt dismissed without prejudice all the
defendants from the case except Hewlett-Packardp@oym

PACIid Group, LLC v. NETGEA

In July 2009, a lawsuit was filed against the Comypand 30 other companies by The PACid Group, LIRACIid") in the U.S. District
Court, Eastern District of Texas. PACid alleges tha Company and the other defendants infringe Ba$ent Nos. 5,963,646646 Patent) ar
6,049,612 (‘612 Patent). PACid alleges that certmnamed NETGEAR products that use encryption nustivaringe upon PACid’s patents.
The Company filed its answer to the lawsuit in 8egier 2009 and asserted that PACid’s patents vegheifvalid and not infringed by the
Company. Discovery has not yet commenced. MogtefIompany’s chipset suppliers have settled otlteofawsuit and obtained a license to
the plaintiff's asserted patents. Because most@ftcused infringement occurred in the chipsit séttlement by the chipset suppliers limits
the claims the plaintiff has against the CompanyMarch 7, 2011, the Company attended a statugceamie. On May 17, 2011, the Court
held another status conference. At this conferaheeCompany indicated to the Court that a smaligrage of
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the relevant products have nbicensed chip sets. The Court ordered that withid&ys of the status conference PACid shall prodildeense
agreements it has entered into; within 30 dayfefstatus conference, all defendants shall produteelaration on sales data; and within 14
days from that defendant production, PACid shalimdgs without prejudice the appropriate defenddrits. parties complied with the order, :
PACId did not dismiss the Company. On August 23,12@&t mediation between the Company and PACiditeement of this lawsuit was
reached. Without admitting any wrongdoing or vimatof law and to avoid the distraction and expeosfseontinued litigation and the
uncertainty of a jury verdict on the merits, thengpany and PACid signed a binding release agreeimevtiich the Company agreed to make a
one-time lump sum payment in consideration for ralgeneral releases. In the agreement, each pgeed to release the other party from all
claims, known or unknown, under any of the ‘646 &1i® Patents with respect to the manufacture, sale, etc. of products by the Company.
Each party agreed to bear its own costs and aitsrifises. The Company has made the required oneitimp sum payment. This arrangement
is not expected to have a material impact on th@@my’s consolidated financial position, result®pérations or cash flows. The Court has
dismissed all claims between PACid and the Compiaciyding all claims presented by PACid’s comptaind all of the Company’s
counterclaims, and the trial in this matter wilkwacur. This litigation matter is now concluded.

MPH Technologies Oy v. NETGE!

On February 4, 2010, the Company was sued by MRiiA@ogies Oy (“MPH”) for infringement of U.S. pater,346,926 entitled
“Method for Sending Messages Over Secure Mobile @anication Links.” MPH alleges that the CompanyBN Client Software, Dual
WAN gigabit SSL VPN Firewall, ProSafe Dual WAN VH#drewall with 8-port 10/100 Switch, ProSafe VPNewirall with 8-port 10/100
Switch, ProSafe VPN Firewall 8 with 8-Port 10/100it8h, ProSafe VPN Firewall 8 with 4-Port 10/100 pdbSwitch, ProSafe 802 11 g
Wireless ADSL Modem VPN Firewall Router, ProSafer#léss-N VPN Firewall, and ProSafe 802 11 wirelBS8l Firewall 8 with 8-port
10/100 Mbps Switch infringe claims of the ‘926 RdtéOn May 17, 2010, the defendants jointly fileshation to transfer the case to the U.S.
District Court, Northern District of California. laddition, the Company filed its answer, affirmatdefenses, and counterclaims on that day.
On June 9, 2010, the plaintiff filed its answethe Company’s invalidity counterclaim and its resp® to the defendants’ motion to transfer.
On June 23, 2010, the defendants filed their japty to plaintiff's response to the defendantstimo to transfer venue. On July 16, 2010, the
Court issued an order transferring the case tdlthréhern District of California. On September 1018, the Company amended its answer to
the complaint. The initial scheduling conferenceuwced on December 2, 2010. In response to thitecemce, the Court ordered that the
Plaintiff must file its opening claim constructibrief no later than May 17, 2011 and that defenslamist file their responsive claim
construction briefs no later than May 31, 2011. Toairt also ordered that a claim construction mgatéke place on June 22, 2011. The
Company and plaintiff signed a settlement agreermeflay 15, 2011. In the agreement, the Compangeato pay a one-time lump sum
payment and grant MPH certain other patent rightgiurn for each party agreeing to release thergthrty from all claims, known or
unknown, under the patent in suit and related patith respect to the manufacture, use, salepéfroducts by the Company. The Company
received a fully paid, worldwide, perpetual licettsehe patent in suit and all foreign counterpartd related patents. This arrangement is not
expected to have a material impact on the Compamoyisolidated financial position, results of opierat, or cash flows. On May 16, 2011, the
Court dismissed the case with prejudice, with qzantty to bear its own attorneys’ fees and coste. Campany has since made the lump sum
payment to MPH, and this litigation matter is noowncluded.

Ericsson v. NETGEA

On September 14, 2010, Ericsson Inc. and Telefteladdaget LM Ericsson filed a patent infringemeaws$uit against the Company and
defendants D-Link Corporation, D-Link Systems, Jicer, Inc., Acer America Corporation, and Gateway. in the U.S. District Court,
Eastern District of Texas alleging that the defenslinfringe certain Ericsson patents. The Compgas/been accused of infringing eight U.S.
patents: 5,790,516; 6,330,435; 6,424,625; 6,519,82432,215; 5,987,019; 6,466,568; and 5,771,468s&0n generally
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alleges that the Company and the other defendantsihfringed and continue to infringe the Ericspatents through the defendants’ IEEE
802.11-compliant products. In addition, Ericssdages that the Company has infringed, and contitm@¥ringe, the claimed methods and
apparatuses of the ‘468 Patent through the Compd@MCIA routers. The Company filed its answerhi® Ericsson complaint on

December 17, 2010 where it asserted the affirmatgfenses of noninfringement and invalidity of &sserted patents. On March 1, 2011, the
defendants filed a motion to transfer venue tolilggrict Court for the Northern District of Califoia and their memorandum of law in support
thereof. On March 21, 2011, Ericsson filed is oppas to the motion, and on April 1, 2011, defent$afiled their reply to Ericssog’oppositiol
to the motion to transfer. On June 8, 2011, Erieg8ed an amended complaint that added Dell, Theslaind Belkin as defendants. At the status
conference held on Jun 9, 2011, the Court set &iikan hearing for June 28, 2012 and trial for Jur2033. On June 14, 2011, Ericsson
submitted its infringement contentions againstGloenpany. On September 29, 2011, the Court dengdefendants motion to transfer venue
to the Northern District of California. Discovery ongoing. The parties are now approaching the Markhearing, and the schedule is as
follows: March 9, 2012—exchange of proposed couwsins of claim terms; April 9, 2012—Joint Claim @&ruction Statement filing
deadline; May 4, 2012—Ericsson’s Markman brief; M#&y 2012—Tutorials due; June 1, 2012—Defendantskian brief; June 15—
Ericsson’s Reply Markman brief; and June 28, 2012a+kvhan hearing.

Fujitsu v. NETGEAF

On September 3, 2010, Fujitsu filed a complainirsgahe Company, Belkin International, Inc., Belkinc., D?Link Corporation, D?
Link Systems, Inc., ZyXEL Communications Corporatiand Zyxel Communications, Inc in the U.S. D&t@ourt, Northern District of
California alleging that certain of the Companytsgucts infringe upon Fujitsu’s U.S. patent Re.786,patent (‘769 Patent) through various
cards and interface devices within the Companydslpcts. The Company answered the complaint derthim@llegations of infringement and
claiming that the asserted patent is invalid. lditioin, the Company filed a motion to disqualifyuesel for Fujitsu. The Company’s
disqualification motion was argued before the CourDecember 16, 2010, and on December 22, 20&@ ¢lurt granted the Company’s
motion and disqualified counsel for Fujitsu. Ingesse, Fujitsu requested a stipulation from altipaito reset the case management conference
and scheduled hearing dates for the motions toisésiihe initial case management conference waksdreMarch 18, 2011. A claim
construction hearing was held on October 14, 2@tlFebruary 3, 2012, the Court issued its clainrstroition order based on the claim
construction hearing. The parties are currentlyigipating in the discovery process. Expert repartd accompanying discovery opens May 4,
2012 and closes June 8, 2012. Dispositive motiomslae June 28, 2012, and trial is set to commendéovember 26, 2012.

Data Network Storage, LLC v. NETGE.

In April 2009, a lawsuit was filed against the Camp and 14 other companies by Data Network Stordge,(“DNS”) in the U.S.
District Court for the Southern District of Califoa. DNS alleges that the Company and the othedt ffarties infringe U.S. Patent No.
6,098,128. In particular, DNS is alleging that salef the Company’s ReadyNAS products infringeupiNS’s patents. The Company filed
its answer to the lawsuit in July 2009 and assdéhtatiDNS'’s patents were both invalid and had eetrbinfringed upon by the Company. In
September 2009, at a Court-sanctioned early nesMedliation, the parties were unable to reach aseagent on a settlement, and discovery
continued. On January 27, 2010, the Court deniedieendant Fujitsu America, Inc.’s motion to sthg titigation, and the Company submitted
its invalidity contentions on February 1, 2010. empany and the plaintiff entered into settlendistussions in early March. Without
admitting any wrongdoing or violation of law andawoid the distraction and expense of continuéghliton and the uncertainty of a jury
verdict on the merits, the Company agreed to malkeedime lump sum payment in consideration for a fyplid and perpetual license to, ar
covenant not to sue on, the ‘128 patent and thatfas entire portfolio of U.S. patents, related pateaitsl foreign counterparts. The Comp
has made the required one-time lump sum paymedttrenlawsuit by DNS against the Company was disedsvith prejudice on April 23,
2010. This arrangement did not have a material anpa the Company’s consolidated financial positi@sults of operations, or cash flows for
the year ended December 31, 2010.
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NETGEAR v. CSIR!

In May 2005, the Company filed a complaint for éeatory relief against the Commonwealth Scientfid Industrial Research
Organization (“CSIRO"), in the San Jose divisiortlod United States District Court, Northern Didto€ California. The complaint alleged that
the claims of CSIRO’s U.S. Patent No. 5,487,069 mvralid and not infringed by any of Company’s puots. CSIRO had asserted that the
Companys wireless networking products implementing theEED2.11a, 802.11g, and 802.11n wireless LAN stalgdiafringe this patent. |
July 2006, the United States Court of Appeals lier Eederal Circuit affirmed the District Court'scéigon to deny CSIRO’s motion to dismiss
the action under the Foreign Sovereign Immunities k September 2006, the Federal Circuit deni8tRD’s request for a rehearieg banc.
CSIRO filed a response to the complaint in SeptergbB86. In December 2006, the District Court grd@SIRO’s motion to transfer the case
to the Eastern District of Texas, where CSIRO hadigpht and won a similar lawsuit against Buffalafieology (USA), Inc., which Buffalo
appealed and which was partially remanded to tis¢ribi Court. The District Court consolidated thigion with three related actions involving
other companies (such as Buffalo) accused of igiingn CSIRO’s patent. The Company attended a Coartdated mediation in November
2007 but failed to resolve the litigation. The Dt Court held a June 26, 2008 claim constructiearing. On August 14, 2008, the District
Court issued a claim construction order and deaigtbtion for summary judgment of invalidity. In Eeober 2008, the parties filed numerous
motions for summary judgment concerning, amongrdthiags, infringement, validity, and other affirtive defenses. The District Court
commenced a jury trial on April 13, 2009 regardatidiability issues for the four consolidated cas®n April 20, 2009, the Company and
CSIRO executed a Memorandum of Understanding (“MyXdgtting forth the terms of a settlement and beeagreement between the
Company and CSIRO. Without admitting any wrongdaingiolation of law and to avoid the distractiomdaexpense of continued litigation
and the uncertainty of a jury verdict on the metii® Company agreed to make a one-time lump symeat in consideration for a fully paid
perpetual license and a covenant not to sue wieie to the069 patent and all foreign counterparts and relptgdnts. Based on the histor
and estimated projected future unit sales of the@my’s products that were alleged to infringedbserted patent, the Company allocated a
portion of the settlement cost towards product rsieipts prior to the settlement, which the Compaggnded as a litigation settlement expense
of $2.4 million, which was primarily recognizedtime three months ended March 29, 2009. Addition#tlg Company allocated $2.6 million
the settlement cost to prepaid royalties which ballrecognized as a component of cost of reventleeaglated products are sold. Of this $2.6
million, $413,000 and $551,000 were amortized afmkased in the year ended December 31, 2009 anehikesr 31, 2010, respectively.
Additionally, $551,000 was amortized and expensettié year ended December 31, 2011.

Finoc, LLC v. NETGEAI

In February 2009, a lawsuit was filed against thenfany and 14 other companies by Finoc Design Gamg @Y (“Finoc”) in the U.S.
District Court for the Eastern District of Texadnéc alleged that the Company’s wireless DSL gajepraducts infringe U.S. Patent No.
6,850,560. In June 2009, without admitting any piiefringement, wrongdoing or violation of law atalavoid the distraction and expense of
continued litigation, the Company agreed to makeaextime lump sum payment of $82,500 in considenafior a fully paid perpetual license to
the patent in suit as well as a dismissal withyatigie by Finoc. Based on the historical and estioharojected future unit sales of the
Company’s products that were alleged to infringedhkserted patents, the Company allocated a patithe settlement cost towards product
shipments prior to the settlement, which the Comgpacorded as a litigation settlement expenseeérttihee months ended June 28, 2009.
Additionally, the Company allocated the balancé¢hef settlement cost to prepaid royalties, which il recognized as a component of cost of
revenue as the related products are sold.

Networl-1 Security Solutions, Inc. v. NETGEAR

In February 2008, a lawsuit was filed against teenBany by Network-1 Security Solutions, Inc. (“Netk-1"), a patent-holding
company existing under the laws of the State ob@ate, in the U.S. District Court for the Easteistiict of Texas. Network- alleged that th
Company’s power over Ethernet (“PoE”) productsiitged
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its U.S. Patent No. 6,218,930. Network-1 also sie@ther companies alleging similar claims of paiafringement. The Company filed its
answer in the second quarter of 2008. In May 2@6@®out admitting any patent infringement, wrongapor violation of law and to avoid the
distraction and expense of continued litigatior, @ompany agreed to make a one-time lump sum payen&350,000, which the Company
recorded as a litigation settlement in fiscal 2068%0nsideration for a license to the patent iih @iwell as a dismissal with prejudice of the
lawsuit. Under the license, the Company will patfa running royalties on certain of its POE pradwehich will be recognized as a
component of cost of revenue as the related preduetsold.

Chalumeau Power Systems v. NETGEAR.

On June 28, 2011, Chalumeau Power Systems LLC (U@teau”) filed a complaint against several techggloompanies-cluding the
Company, Cisco Systems Inc., Hewlett-Packard Ce.inR, and Avaya Inc. —in the U.S. District CouBijstrict of Delaware alleging
infringement of a patent for a remote device déeanethod. The patent number is U.S. Patent Ni®15885 (‘885 Patent) and is entitled
“Method and apparatus for detecting the preseneerefmote device and providing power there@halumeau claimed that the defendants |
all made or sold devices that make use of infrigghoE technology, which allows electrical power dath to pass safely on Ethernet cabling.
The Company answered Chalumeau’s complaint on Béyetel, 2011, and asserted various defenses amtecolaims, including those of
noninfringement and invalidity of the ‘885 PatemtOctober 2011, a settlement of this lawsuit weeched between Chalumeau and the
Company through a third-party intermediary. Withadtnitting any wrongdoing or violation of law aralavoid the distraction and expense of
continued litigation and the uncertainty of a jugrdict on the merits, the Company and Chalumegnesi a binding release agreement in
which both parties agreed to mutual general refefisen all claims, known or unknown, under the ‘§8&ent and its foreign counterparts with
respect to the manufacture, use, sale, etc. ofuptedy the Company. The Court has since dismi€sadumeau’s claims for relief against the
Company and the Company’s counterclaims for ralgefinst Chalumeau, with prejudice and with allrakys’ fees, costs and expenses levied
against the party incurring the same.

Powerline Innovations, LLC v. NETGE/

On August 6, 2011 the Company, along with 16 otloenpanies, was sued in the U.S. District Courtfdtadistrict of Texas, Tyler
Division for patent infringement by a non-practigientity called Powerline Innovations, LLC (“Powed Innovations”). This is a single patent
case, involving U.S. Patent No. 5,471,190, entitMdthod and Apparatus for Resource Allocation i@@mmunication Network System.” On
the same day that it filed suit against the Compamy 16 other companies, Powerline Innovations 44eaidditional companies in a separate
suit in U.S. District Court, Eastern District ofXaes for infringement of the same patent. The compbgainst the Company alleges that it
infringes the 5,471,190 patent based on the Conipaisg of methods for establishing control relagitps between plural devices and names
the Company’s Powerline AV Ethernet Adapter, MadaN101, as an accused infringing product. The Conypanswered the plaintiff's
complaint on December 12, 2011, and assertedtthasinot infringed the patent in suit and thatgatent in suit is invalid. In addition, the
Company asserted various affirmative defenses. Riodnnovations has not yet served all the parfighe Court will likely not set an initial
status conference before service is completed.

Summit Data Systems LLC v. NETGEAR.

On September 1, 2010, a non-practicing entity, Sitrbata Systems LLC (“Summit Data Systems”), sueelCompany and seven other
companies in the U.S. District Court, District oélBware alleging infringement of two patents—U.&eAt No. 7,392,291 (‘291 Patent),
entitled Architecture for Providing Block-Level Aess over a Computer Network and U.S. Patent N@8/581 (‘581 Patent), entitled
Architecture for Providing Block-Level Access oneComputer Network. The ‘581 Patent is a contirwnatif the ‘291 Patent. The Company’s
ReadyNAS and NVX products were listed by the pl#iit the complaint as accused infringing
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products. The Company answered the complaint oreMder 1, 2010, asserting that the patents arenfiotged and invalid. Subsequently, 1
Company participated in discovery, and trial fds tmatter was scheduled for March 2013. In Oct@@4rl, a settlement of this lawsuit was
reached between Summit Data Systems and the Contipgugh a third-party intermediary. Without adimigt any wrongdoing or violation of
law and to avoid the distraction and expense oficoad litigation and the uncertainty of a jury giet on the merits, the Company and Summit
Data Systems signed a binding release agreemauttial both parties agreed to mutual general refefisen all claims, known or unknown,
under the ‘291 Patent and ‘581 Patents and cesthir patents and applications assigned to Sumat#d Bystems with respect to the
manufacture, use, sale, etc. of products by thegaom The Court has since dismissed Summit DatteByss claims for relief against the
Company and the Company’s counterclaims for relgefinst Summit Data Systems, with prejudice antl ®litattorneys’ fees, costs and
expenses levied against the party incurring theesam

NETGEAR v. Innovatio IP Ventures LL

On November 16, 2011, the Company filed a declaygtmlgment action in the District of Delaware fan-infringement and invalidity
of 17 WiFi-related patents brought in the approxghal5 actions throughout the United States byatio IP Ventures LLC (“Innovatio”)
against end user customers of the Company and cohgpanies. Shortly after filing the declaratorgigment action, the Company filed a
response supporting Cisco Systems, Inc.’s and Mtat@olutions, Incs Motion to Transfer for Coordinated Pretrial Prediegs Pursuant to
U.S.C. § 1407 that was before the United StatekidlidPanel on Multidistrict Litigation (“*JPML”)The pending motion to transfer would se
to consolidate all of the Innovatio lawsuits — inding NETGEAR's pending declaratory judgment aciioelaware—and transfer them to a
single court for coordinated pretrial proceedinga.December 28, 2011, the JPML issued an ordesfeaing the Innovatio actions through
the United States, including the Company’s deataiygiudgment action, to the United States Dist@ourt for the Northern District of Illinois.
Thus, the Company’s declaratory judgment actionapyutoximately 15 other similar cases will now pred in the Northern District of lllinois
in a consolidated fashion. The Court has set astainference date for the consolidated cases oftviv, 2012.

Harris Corporation v. NETGEAF

On November 26, 2011, Harris Corporation (“Harrisiied the Company in the U.S. District Court, M&Blistrict of Florida alleging
that the Company willfully infringes six of Harrsspatents—U.S. Patent Nos. 6,504,515, 7,916,68875.77, 5,974,149, 6,189,104, and
6,397,336. The Company obtained an extension kebtuary 20, 2012 to answer the complaint andvieweng the complaint and patents. It
appears that Harris is attempting to read fouhefgatents (the ‘177, ‘149, ‘104, and ‘336 Pateoitshe Company’s ProSecure UTM series of
products. The other two patents (the ‘515 and B8tents) allegedly read on certain of the Compaagtess points and wireless routers and
gateways with multiple antennas. Harris filed areaded complaint on February 17, 2012 that remaigeiditial allegations of willful
infringement by the Company and also removed tlegations of direct infringement against the Conmypfaom U.S. Patent No. 7,916,684,
leaving only indirect infringement allegations fbe ‘684 Patent. The Company’s answer to the anteadmplaint is due on March 2, 2012.

IP Indemnification Claim:

In its sales agreements, the Company typicallyesgte indemnify its direct customers, distributansl resellers (the “Indemnified
Parties”) for any expenses or liability resultimgrh claimed infringements of patents, trademarksogyrights of third parties that are asserted
against the Indemnified Parties, subject to custgroarve outs. The terms of these indemnificatigreaments are generally perpetual after
execution of the agreement. The maximum amounbtdrgial future indemnification is generally unlied. From time to time, the Company
receives requests for indemnity and may choosedorae the defense of such litigation asserted sighie Indemnified Parties.
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In June 2006, the Company received a request denimification from Charter and Charter Communica&i®perating, LLC, related to a
lawsuit filed in the U.S. District Court, EasteriisDict of Texas, by Rembrandt Technologies, L'Refnbrandt”), a patent-holding company.
Rembrandt also filed a similar lawsuit in the sgoresdiction against Comcast Corporation, Comcasl€ Communications, LLC and
Comcast of Plano, LP. Rembrandt alleged that prisdoglementing the DOCSIS standard, which are keghpo Charter, Comcast
Corporation, Comcast Cable Communications, LLC @othcast of Plano, LP by, among others, the Comgafiinge various patents held by
Rembrandt. In June 2007, the Judicial Panel onitfisitict Litigation ordered these and other simjjatent cases brought by Rembrandt
consolidated and transferred to the U.S. Distrimti€for the District of Delaware. In November 20@Ye Company along with Motorola, Inc.,
Cisco Systems, Inc., Scientific-Atlanta, Inc., ARBREroup, Inc., Thomson, Inc. and Ambit Microsystemes. filed a complaint for declaratory
judgment in the U.S. District Court for the Distraf Delaware against Rembrandt, seeking a de@ar#tat eight asserted Rembrandt pat
asserted in the transferred cases are either éhoahot infringed. The District Court held a clagmnstruction hearing on August 5, 2008. On
November 29, 2008, the District Court issued igralconstruction order. After the District Cc's order, Rembrandt agreed to drop three
patents from the case, leaving five patents atisEhe District Court held a mediation on Marc#,2009 but the parties were unable to ree
resolution. On July 21, 2009, Rembrandt deliverethe Company and other parties an executed covenato sue on any of the eight patents
originally in the suit, contending that the exeontdf the covenant divests the District Court efgdiction or renders moot the remaining cle
and counterclaims in the action. On July 31, 2B0&mbrandt filed a motion to dismiss the litigatigvihile Rembrandt’'s motion was pending,
the defendants filed motions for summary judgmentttiions for sanctions, and responses to Rembramditen to dismiss. In early October
2009, the District Court suspended all further gdite the case while it reviewed the pending matiand case status. On October 23, 2009, the
Court ordered Rembrandt to supplement the covemartb sue to include any products or servicesabatply with DOCSIS 1.0, 1.1, 2.0 or 3
and dismissed Rembransit/arious infringement claims on the eight patevrits prejudice. The Court gave Rembrandt five daywithdraw its
motion to dismiss the litigation if it found the @w's conditions on dismissal to be unacceptabanBrandt did not withdraw its motion to
dismiss the litigation, and on October 30, 2009nBndt executed a covenant not to sue on anyedditiht patents in the case and any
products or services that comply with DOCSIS 1.Q, 2.0 or 3. The Company and its co-defendantsehdor attorneys’ fees to be paid by
Rembrandt. Rembrandt opposed the motion. On JW@B], the Court denied the defendant’s unopposgmfor summary judgment of
noninfringement of the one patent remaining indhse, the ‘627 Patent. This ruling did not affeet Company since that patent was not
asserted against the Company, other than postptmenGompany’s possible recovery of attorneys’ f@sJuly 13, 2011, the Court dismissed
without prejudice the defendants’ joint motion fees because the motion is now not ripe given thert denial of the motion for summary
judgment of noninfringement of tF'627 Patent. The Company is now reviewing its apgifor recovering attorneys’ fees.

All of the above described claims against the Camgpar filed by the Company, whether meritorioushot, could be time-consuming,
result in costly litigation, require significant aomts of management time, and result in the digarsf significant operational resources. Were
an unfavorable outcome to occur, there exists ¢tssipility it would have a material adverse imparctthe Company’s financial position and
results of operations for the period in which tiaworable outcome occurs or becomes probabledditian, the Company is subject to legal
proceedings, claims and litigation arising in thdioary course of business, including litigatiotated to intellectual property and employment
matters.

Based on currently available information, the Compdoes not believe that the ultimate outcomesgfunresolved matters, individua
and in the aggregate, are likely to have a matadaérse effect on the Compasyinancial position, liquidity or results of opéoas within the
next 12 months. However, litigation is subjectrthérent uncertainties, and the Company’s view e$¢hmatters may change in the future.
Were an unfavorable outcome to occur, there ettistpossibility of a material adverse impact on@oenpany’s financial position and results
of operations or liquidity for the period in whitihe unfavorable outcome occurs or becomes probabtepotentially in future periods.
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Environmental Regulation

The European Union (“EU”) has enacted the WastetEtal and Electronic Equipment Directive, whiclakes producers of electrical
goods, including home and commercial business r&tag products, financially responsible for spesificollection, recycling, treatment and
disposal of past and future covered products. Haallihe for the individual member states of thetBttanspose the directive into law in their
respective countries was August 13, 2004 (suclslegipn, together with the directive, the “WEEE istgtion”). Producers participating in the
market were financially responsible for implemegtthese responsibilities under the WEEE Legislaieginning in August 13, 2005. Similar
WEEE Legislation has been or may be enacted irr gthigdictions, including in the United States,n@da, Mexico, China, India, Australia ¢
Japan. The Company adopted the authoritative go&lfor asset retirement and environmental obligatio the third quarter of fiscal 2005 ¢
has determined that its effect did not have a ri@tienpact on the Company’s consolidated resultsperations and financial position for the
full year ended December 31, 2011. The Compangrsiruing to evaluate the impact of the WEEE Legish and similar legislation in other
jurisdictions as individual countries issue theiplementation guidanc

Additionally, the EU has enacted the Restrictioidakzardous Substances Directive (“RoHS Legislajiofie REACH Directive and the
Battery Directive. EU RoHS Legislation, along wdtimilar legislation in China, requires manufactsrir ensure certain substances, including
polybrominated biphenyls (“PBD”"), polybrominategbenyl ethers (“PBDE"), mercury, cadmium, hexavatdiromium and lead (except for
allowed exempted materials and applications), atevb specified maximum concentration values inaiarproducts put on the market after
July 1, 2006. The REACH Directive similarly requimmanufacturers to ensure the published list o$taulwes of very high concern in certain
products are below specified maximum concentratedoes. The Battery Directive prohibits use of airtypes of battery technology in cert
products. The Company believes it has met the reogints of the RoHS Legislation, the REACH Direetand the Battery Directive.

Additionally, the EU has enacted the Energy UsingdBct (“EuP”) Directive, which requires manufaettg of certain products to meet
minimum energy efficiency limits. These limits alecumented in EuP implementing measures issuespfmific types of equipment and
document minimum power supply efficiencies and rimajude required equipment standby modes which r@dace energy consumption. The
Company believes it has met the requirements ofipdicable EuP implementing measures.

Note 10—Stockholders’ Equity
Common Stock Repurchase Programs

In October 21, 2008, the Company’s Board of Direstuthorized management to repurchase up to ®008@hares of the Company’s
outstanding common stock. Under this authorizatibe timing and actual number of shares subjepgarchase are at the discretion of
management and are contingent on a number of factoch as levels of cash generation from opegtiash requirements for acquisitions
the price of the Company’s common stock. The Comptath not repurchase any shares under this autitaizduring the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 or 2009.

The Company repurchased approximately 25,000 shar&926,000 of common stock under a repurchasgram to help
administratively facilitate the withholding and selguent remittance of personal income and payedid for individuals receiving RSUs dur
the year ended December 31, 2011. Similarly, duttiegyears ended December 31, 2010 and Decemb2039, the Company repurchased
approximately 32,000 shares and 22,000 sharesataply, or $736,000 and $282,000 of common stoespectively, under the same progi
to help facilitate tax withholding for RSUs.

These shares were retired upon repurchase. The &uyrsppolicy related to repurchases of its commntoolksis to charge the excess of
cost over par value to retained earnings. All repases were made in compliance with Rule 10b-18iie Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended.
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Comprehensive Income and Cumulative Other Compresige Income, Net

The following table sets forth the activity for @amomponent of other comprehensive income, netlated taxes, for the years ended
December 31, 2011, December 31, 2010, and Dece®ib@009, (in thousands):

Year ended December 31,

2011 2010 2009
Net income $91,36¢ $50,90¢ $9,33:
Unrealized gains (losses) on derivative instrum (267) 258 20
Unrealized gains (losses) on availefor-sale securitie 9 4 (63
Total comprehensive incon $91,11( $51,16¢ $9,29(

The following table sets forth the components ohalative other comprehensive income, net of reltaeds, as of December 31, 2011
and December 31, 2010 (in thousands):

As of
December 31,
2011 2010
Net unrealized gains on derivative instrume $6 $278
Net unrealized gains on availa-for-sale securitie 17 8
Total cumulative other comprehensive income, néaxés $23 $281

Note 11—Employee Benefit Plans
2000 Stock Option Plan

In April 2000, the Company adopted the 2000 Stopkidh Plan (the “2000 Plan”). The 2000 Plan prosiflar the granting of stock
options to employees and consultants of the Comp@ptions granted under the 2000 Plan may be ditlcentive stock options (“ISOs”) or
nonqualified stock options (“NSOs”"). ISOs may barged only to Company employees (including officard directors who are also
employees). NSOs may be granted to Company emppge@ectors and consultants. A total of 7,350,80@res of Common Stock have been
reserved for issuance under the 2000 Plan.

Options under the 2000 Plan may be granted foogerdf up to ten years, provided, however, thah@)exercise price of an ISO and
NSO shall not be less than the estimated fair vafuike underlying stock on the date of grant afdhe exercise price of an ISO and N:
granted to a 10% shareholder shall not be lessth@fo of the estimated fair value of the underlystack on the date of grant. To date, opt
granted generally vest over four years.

As discussed below, in April 2003, all remainingusds reserved but not issued under the 2000 Plemtreasferred to the 2003 Stock
Plan.

2003 Stock Plan

In April 2003, the Company adopted the 2003 Stdek the “2003 Plan”). The 2003 Plan provides far granting of stock options to
employees and consultants of the Company. Opticarged under the 2003 Plan may be either ISOs @INEOs may be granted only to
Company employees (including officers and directain® are also employees). NSOs may be granted tgp@oy employees, directors and
consultants. The Company has reserved 750,000ssb@&ommon Stock plus any shares which were redgdout not issued under the 2000
Plan as of the date of the approval of the 2008.Flae number of shares which were reserved bussoed under the 2000 Plan that were
transferred to the Company’s 2003 Plan were 615,&8&h when
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combined with the shares reserved for the Compag08 Plan total 1,365,290 shares reserved undeZdimpany’s 2003 Plan as of the date
of transfer. Any options cancelled under either2B60 Plan or the 2003 Plan are returned to thég@olable for grant. As of December 31,
2011, 255,445 shares were reserved for future grarmder the Company’s 2003 Plan.

Options under the 2003 Plan may be granted foogerdf up to ten years, provided, however, thah@)exercise price of an ISO and
NSO shall not be less than the estimated fair vafuke underlying stock on the date of grant andhe exercise price of an ISO and N:
granted to a 10% shareholder shall not be lessth&® of the estimated fair value of the underhdtack on the date of grant. To date, opt
granted generally vest over four years, with th&t franche vesting at the end of 12 months andetfmaining shares underlying the option
vesting monthly over the remaining three yeardiscal 2005, certain options granted under the 22I@8 immediately vested and were
exercisable on the date of grant, and the shamsriying such options were subject to a resaleicisin which expires at a rate of 25% per
year.

2006 Long Term Incentive Plan

In April 2006, the Company adopted the 2006 LongTcentive Plan (the “2006 Plan”), which was apad by the Company’s
stockholders at the 2006 Annual Meeting of Stoctbrd on May 23, 2006. The 2006 Plan provides femttanting of stock options, stock
appreciation rights, restricted stock, performaawards and other stock awards, to eligible dirs¢temployees and consultants of the
Company. Upon the adoption of the 2006 Plan, the@oy reserved 2,500,000 shares of common stodkdoance under the 2006 Plan. In
June 2008, the Company adopted amendments to @6FR8n which increased the number of shares aftmpanys common stock that mi
be issued under the 2006 plan by an additional®20®0 shares. In July 2010, the Company adoptecéments to the 2006 Plan which
increased the number of shares of the Comgarymmon stock that may be issued under the 2@06kpyl an additional 1,500,000 shares. £
December 31, 2011, 486,349 shares were reservdgtfoe grants under the 2006 Plan.

Options granted under the 2006 Plan may be ei@slor NSOs. ISOs may be granted only to Compamjoy@es (including officers
and directors who are also employees). NSOs maydeed to Company employees, directors and camaltOptions may be granted for
periods of up to ten years, provided, however, (fdhe exercise price of an ISO and NSO shallb®tess than the estimated fair value of the
underlying stock on the date of grant and (ii) éixercise price of an ISO and NSO granted to a Itgesiolder shall not be less than 110% of
the estimated fair value of the underlying stocklumdate of grant. Options granted under the 286 generally vest over four years, with
first tranche vesting at the end of 12 months &edémaining shares underlying the option vestingtimy over the remaining three years.

Stock appreciation rights may be granted undeR@®6 Plan subject to the terms specified by the atiministrator, provided that the
term of any such right may not exceed ten (10)y&am the date of grant. The exercise price gdiyerannot be less than the fair market
value of the Company’s common stock on the datetiiek appreciation right is granted.

Restricted stock awards may be granted under tB& Ptan subject to the terms specified by the ptiministrator. The period over
which any restricted award may fully vest is gefignao less than three (3) years. Restricted sawfirds are non-vested stock awards that may
include grants of restricted stock or grants ofrieted stock units (“RSUs"). Restricted stock agsare independent of option grants and are
generally subject to forfeiture if employment tematies prior to the release of the restrictions.if@uthat period, ownership of the shares ca
be transferred. Restricted stock has the samegvadtihts as other common stock and is considerde twurrently issued and outstanding. R
do not have the voting rights of common stock, #edshares underlying the RSUs are not considsseéd and outstanding. The Company
expenses the cost of the restricted stock awardishvis determined to be the fair market valuehefshares at the date of grant, ratably ove
period during which the restrictions lapse.
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Performance awards may be in the form of perforraaares or performance units. A performance shaems an award denominate:
shares of Company common stock and a performariteneans an award denominated in units having kaidedlue or other currency, as
determined by the plan administrator. The plan adstrator will determine the number of performaagerds that will be granted and will
establish the performance goals and other condifimnpayment of such performance awards. The gafioneasuring the achievement of
performance goals will be a minimum of twelve (f®)nths.

Other stock-based awards may be granted unde Ot Rlan subject to the terms specified by the ptiministrator. Other stock-based
awards may include dividend equivalents, restristedk awards, or amounts which are equivalenti tar @ portion of any federal, state, local,
domestic or foreign taxes relating to an award, mag be payable in shares, cash, other securitiasyoother form of property as the plan
administrator may determine.

In the event of a change in control of the Compaitiyawards under the 2006 Plan vest in full ahdaistanding performance shares and
performance units will be paid out upon transfer.

Any shares of common stock subject to an awardishfatfeited, settled in cash, expires or is otvise settled without the issuance of
shares shall again be available for awards un@e2®06 Plan. Additionally, any shares that are¢esd by a participant of the 2006 Plan or
retained by the Company as full or partial paymerthe Company for the purchase of an award oatisfg tax withholding obligations in
connection with an award shall no longer again beemavailable for issuance under the 2006 Plan.

The number of “full value equity awards” (as defifeelow) that may be granted will be limited tomore than ten percent (10%) of the
shares issuable under the 2006 Plan. For thesesrspa “full value equity award” is any award piarg to the 2006 Plan, other than options,
stock appreciation rights or other awards whichbesed solely on an increase in value of the Cogipa@ommon stock following the date of
grant.

Employee Stock Purchase Ple

The Company sponsors an Employee Stock PurchasgtR&a“ESPP”), pursuant to which eligible employeeay contribute up to 10%
of compensation, subject to certain income lintdgpurchase shares of the Company’s common stonkldyees may purchase stock semi-
annually at a price equal to 85% of the fair maskatie on the purchase date. Since the price dhihees is determined at the purchase date,
the Company recognizes expense based on the 18%udisat purchase. For the years ended Decemb&031, 2010 and 2009, ESPP
compensation expense was $354,000, $236,000 add0RI8 respectively. As of December 31, 2011, 48 $hares were reserved for future
grants under the ESPP.
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Option Activity

Stock options activity under the stock option pldosing the years ended December 31, 2011, 20802809 were as follows:

Outstanding Options

Weighted
Weighted Average Average
Remaining
Exercise Price Pe Contractual Aggregate
Number of Intrinsic
Shares Share Term Value
(In thousands; (In dollars) (In years) (In thousands;
December 31, 200 3,91¢ $ 21.0(
Granted 1,52¢ 14.72
Exercisec (370 8.07
Cancellec (452 21.1¢
December 31, 200 4,62( $ 19.9¢
Granted 1,36¢ 26.0:%
Exercisec (1,339 15.0z
Cancellec (282 21.8(
December 31, 201 4,361 $ 23.2¢
Granted 1,29( 34.5¢
Exercisec (1,387 22.3i
Cancellec (326) 25.9(
December 31, 201 3,95( $ 27.0¢ 7.65 $ 28,67
As of December 31, 201
Vested and expected to vi 3,64¢ $ 26.8¢ 7.5€ $ 26,98.
Exercisable Option 1,69( $ 24.4; 6.2C $ 15,99/

The aggregate intrinsic values in the table abepeasent the total pre-tax intrinsic values (thitedtnce between the Company’s closing

stock price on the last trading day of 2011, 2@l 2009 and the exercise price, multiplied byriliber of shares underlying the in-the-
money options) that would have been received byfi®n holders had all option holders exerciseddrtbptions on December 31,

2011, December 31, 2010, and December 31, 2009.arhount changes based on the fair market valttea@ompany’s stock. Total intrinsic
value of options exercised for the year ended Déeer@l, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $21.8 million, $iillion and $3.4 million,

respectively.

The total fair value of options vested during tleans ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 wasriflon, $9.1 million and $9.0

million, respectively.

The following table summarizes significant rangéswstanding and exercisable stock options aseafeimber 31, 2011:

Year ended December 31, 201
Options Outstanding

Options Exercisable

Weighted-
Average Weighted- Weighted-
Remaining Average Average
Contractual Exercise Exercise
Shares Price Per Shares Price Per
Range of Exercise Price Outstanding Life Share Exercisable Share
(In thousands; (In years) (In dollars) (In thousands; (In dollars)
$0.00- 10.00 7 1.01 $ 6.2¢ 7 $ 6.2¢
10.01- 20.00 72€ 6.32 13.6¢ 45C 13.9¢
20.01- 30.00 1,53: 7.1¢€ 24.7( 857 25.6¢
30.01- 40.00 1,684 8.6¢€ 34.9¢ 37€ 34.5]
Total ¢ 7.6t $ 27.0¢ $ $ 24.4.
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RSU Activity
RSU activity under during the years ended Decer8the2011, 2010, and 2009 were as follows:
Qutstanding RSUs

Weighted
Average Grant

Weighted Average

Date Fair
Number of Value Per Remaining Aggregate

Shares Share Contractual Term Intrinsic Value

(In thousands; (In dollars) (In years) (In thousands)
December 31, 200 23t $ 25.5¢
RSUs grante: 171 12.2¢
RSUs vestel (209 23.4:
RSUs cancelle (19 19.3¢
December 31, 200 287 18.71
RSUs grante: 48 22.7:
RSUs vestel (133 19.3(
RSUs cancelle (3 11.41
December 31, 201 19¢ 19.4(
RSUs grante: 113 34.7¢
RSUs vestel (119 21.6¢
RSUs cancelle (17 18.3¢

December 31, 201 177 $ 27.8¢ 1.6C $ 5,93¢

Total intrinsic value of RSUs vested during thergeended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was1$Hign, $3.1 million and $1.4
million, respectively. The total fair value of RSUssted during the years ended December 31, 2010, nd 2009 was $2.6 million, $2.6
million and $2.4 million, respectively.

Valuation and Expense Information

The fair value of each option award granted underGompany’s ESPP equals the 15% discount at peechie fair value of each
restricted stock unit under all shdrvased compensation plans equals the fair valueeEGIEAR stock on the date of the grant. The faiugad
each option award granted under all other shareebesmpensation plans is estimated on the dateaaf gsing the Black-Scholes-Merton
option valuation model and the weighted averageraptions in the following table. The expected texfhoptions granted is derived from
historical data on employee exercise and postivgstinployment termination behavior. The risk freeriest rate is based on the implied yield
currently available on U.S. Treasury securitiedwait equivalent remaining term. Expected volatitpased on a combination of the historical
volatility of the Company'’s stock as well as thstbrical volatility of certain of the Company’s mstry peers’ stock. The Company estimated
the forfeiture rate for the years ended DecembefB11, 2010 and 2009 based on its historical éspee.

Stock Options Granted Under nor-ESPP Plans
Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
Expected life (in years) 4.4 4.4 4.4

Risk-free interest rat 1.62% 1.74% 1.7%
Expected volatility 50.31% 49.81% 50.4¢%

Dividend yield — — —

The weighted average estimated fair value of optignanted during the years ended December 31, 2010, and 2009 including options
granted under the ESPP and not including restristeck units, were $14.29, $10.80 and $6.10, reivehe
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The following table sets forth the total stock-lthsempensation expense resulting from stock optisiricted stock awards, and the
Employee Stock Purchase Plan included in the Cogip&@onsolidated Statements of Operations (in thods):

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
Cost of revenue $ 99¢ $ 91z $ 95¢
Research and developmt 2,47¢ 2,271 1,97:
Sales and marketir 5,13¢ 4,71C 4,147
General and administrati\ 5,151 4,307 3,94¢

$13,76: $12,20! $11,02¢

The Company recognizes these compensation costs thet estimated forfeitures on a straight-linsib@ver the requisite service period
of the award, which is generally the option vestieign of four years.

Total stock-based compensation cost capitalizéavientory was less than $250,000 in each of thesyeaded December 31, 2011, 2010
and 2009.

As of December 31, 2011, $21.8 million of total ecwgnized compensation cost related to stock api®axpected to be recognized ¢
a weighted-average period of 1.45 years. As of Ber 31, 2011, $2.5 million of total unrecognizednpensation cost related to non-vested
RSUs is expected to be recognized over a weightethge period of 1.17 years.

401k

In April 2000, the Company adopted the NETGEAR 4)HRlan to which employees may contribute up to%@d salary subject to the
legal maximum. Beginning on January 1, 2009 forfitst three pay periods of 2009 only, which endaedlanuary 30, 2009, the Company
contributed an amount equal to 100% of the emplageributions up to a maximum of $7,000, for enygles that remained active with the
company through December 31, 2009. No match wasaaffin 2010 and 2011. The Company expensed znmand $508,000 related to the
NETGEAR 401(k) Plan in the years ended Decembe@11, 2010, and 2009, respective

Note 12—Segment Information, Operations by Geograph Area and Customer Concentration

Operating segments are components of an enteglsmet which separate financial information is afalg and is regularly evaluated by
management, namely the Chief Operating Decisiondi@iCODM”) of an organization, in order to determaioperating and resource
allocation decisions. By this definition, the Compaperated in one business segment through ttdifical quarter of 2011, which comprised
the development, marketing and sale of networkirglpcts for the commercial business and home market

In the second fiscal quarter of 2011, the Compaaygerorganizational changes that resulted in chatogbe way in which the CODM
manages and evaluates the business. The Comparsjrebs is now managed in three specific busineiss. vetail, commercial, and service
provider. The retail business unit consists of lpghformance, dependable and easyde-home networking, storage and digital mediaywts
to connect people with the Internet and their coingéad devices. The commercial business unit ctengfdbusiness networking, storage and
security solutions without the cost and complegityBig IT. The service provider business unit cetsbf made-to-order and retail proven,
whole home networking solutions sold to servicevjters for sale to their customers. Each businegssimanaged by a Senior Vice
President/General Manager. There is no changei@®DM before and after the reorganization of ggnsents.
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The Company believes this new structure enableshétter focus its efforts on the Compangore customer segments and allows it t
more nimble and opportunistic as a company oveFakk business units are determined in accordantehoiv management views and
evaluates the Company’s business and based onitéréacas outlined in the authoritative guidange.a result, beginning in the second fiscal
quarter of 2011, the Company changed its segmepottieg accordingly, and revised its prior perigégentation to conform to the new
segments.

The results of the reportable segments are dediredtly from the Compang’ management reporting system. The results arel loasthe
Company’s method of internal reporting and arenemtessarily in conformity with accounting principlgenerally accepted in the United
States. Management measures the performance oeguoient based on several metrics, including darttan income. Refer to the
reconciliation of segment information to the Comyartonsolidated totals below to see the reconailinof segment data to earnings prepared
in conformity with accounting principles generadlgcepted in the United States.

Asset data is not reviewed by the Company’s CODRatsegment level and therefore is not presedisdrete financial information on
individual products and services within the respecsegments is not reviewed by the ComparyODM, and therefore a separate disclosu
similar classes of products and services belovsdiygnent level is not presented. Financial inforomator each reportable segment and a
reconciliation of segment contribution income todme before income taxes is as follows (in thousaexicept percentage data):

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
Net revenues
Retalil $ 481,79 $435,48: $288,72¢
Commercial 331,43¢ 284,53¢ 209,95!
Service Provide __367,78¢ _182,02¢ 187,91«
Total net revenue 1,181,01 902,05: 686,59!
Contribution income
Retalil $ 81,58¢ $ 71,86 $ 24,90
Retail contribution margit 16.9% 16.5% 8.6%
Commercial 74,74¢ 63,02: 43,25¢
Commercial contribution margi 22.6% 22.1% 20.6%
Service Provide 32,791 14,02¢ 19,69
Service Provider contribution marg 8.9% 7.7% 10.5%
Total segment contribution incor 189,13: 148,90¢ 87,85!
Corporate and unallocated co (43,30)) (39,249 (34,249
Amortization of intangible asse (4,65¢) (5,297) (5,019
Stoclk-based compensation expel (13,762) (12,20) (11,029
Restructuring and other charc (2,099 88 (809)
Technology license agreemel — — (2,500
Acquisition related compensatis (40) (68€) (113
Impact to cost of sales from acquisition accountdgistments t
inventory (609) — —
Litigation reserves, ne 201 (211) (2,080
Interest incom: 477 42€ 62¢
Other income (expense), r (1,13¢) (5649 (128)
Income before income tax $ 124,21( $ 91,22« $ 32,567

Segment contribution income includes all produst Eegment revenues less the related cost of sadesirch and development and sales
and marketing costs. Contribution income is useggairt, to evaluate the performance of, and alooegources to, each of the segments.
Certain operating expenses are not allocated to
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segments because they are separately managedcatploeate level. These unallocated indirect comstiside corporate costs, such as corporate
research and development, general and administratists, stock-based compensation expenses, aatioriipf intangibles, acquisition-related
integration costs, restructuring costs, litigatieserves and interest and other income (expense), n

In the first fiscal quarter of 2011, in order tchave operational efficiencies, the Company combbiitee North American, Central
American and South American sales forces to forenAimericas territory. Previously, North America wissown geographic region and the
Central American and South American territoriesengategorized within the Asia Pacific geographgioe. Following this change, the
Company is organized into the following three gepdpic territories: Americas, EMEA and Asia Pacifitte Company has reclassified the
disclosure of net revenue by geography for prioigols to conform to the current period’s presentatiThe change did not result in material
differences from what was previously reported. ideenue by geography comprises gross revenueuebdtems as end-user customer rebates
and other sales incentives deemed to be a redutftioet revenue per the authoritative guidancedeenue recognition, sales returns and price
protection. For reporting purposes revenue istatteid to each geographic region based on the @wcafithe customer. The following table
shows net revenue by geography for the periodsatell (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009
United States $ 570,14 $454,17¢ $310,93°
Americas (excluding U.S 16,91: 12,36: 7,63¢
United Kingdom 165,52: 100,35 92,66:
EMEA (excluding U.K.) 312,19: 239,89: 199,67
Asia Pacific 116,24¢ 95,26 75,68:
Total net revenu $1,181,01: $902,05: $686,59!

Long-lived assets, comprising fixed assets, arertefd based on the location of the asset. Longilassets by geographic location are as
follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2011 2010

United State: $ 9,901 $ 11,80¢
Americas (excluding U.S 44 22
EMEA 331 20t
China 4,90¢ 4,84¢
Asia Pacific (excluding Chine 69¢ 62C
$ 15,88¢ $ 17,50:

Customer concentration (as a percentage of nehueye

Year Ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Best Buy Co., Inc. and Affiliate 11% 15% 11%
Ingram Micro, Inc. and Affiliate: 10% 11% 11%
All others individually less than 10% of rever 79% 74% 78%
100% 10C% 10C%

Note 13—Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company determines the fair values of its fa@rinstruments based on a fair value hierarchictvrequires an entity to maximize
the use of observable inputs and minimize the fisma@bservable inputs when
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measuring fair value. The classification of a ficiahasset or liability within the hierarchy is ledsupon the lowest level input that is significant

to the fair value measurement. The fair value h@ma prioritizes the inputs into three levels threty be used to measure fair value:
Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markeds are accessible at the measurement dateefotiédl, unrestricted assets or

liabilities;

Level 2: Quoted prices in markets that are nowactr inputs which are observable, either direatlyndirectly, for substantially the full

term of the asset or liability;

Level 3: Prices or valuation techniques that regjiriputs that are both significant to the fair valneasurement and unobservable (i.e.,

supported by little or no market activity).

The following tables summarize the valuation of @@mpany’s financial instruments by the above aatieg as of December 31, 2011

and December 31, 2010:

As of December 31, 2011

Quoted market

prices in active Significant other Significant
observable inputs unobservable inputs
markets
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash equivalen—money market fund $ 24,84« $ 24,84« $ — $ —
Available-for-sale securitie—Treasuries(1 144,70: 144,70: — —
Available-for-sale securities—Certificates of
Deposit(1) 94 94 — —
Foreign currency forward contractsi 1,23 — 1,23 —
Total $170,87¢ $ 169,64: $ 1,23 $ —
() Included in sho-term investments on the Compi's consolidated balance she
(2) Included in prepaid expenses and other currentsaeseghe Compar' s consolidated balance she
As of December 31, 201
Quoted market
prices in active Significant other Significant
observable inputs unobservable inputs
markets
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Foreign currency forward contracts(3) $(723) $ — $ (729 $ —
Total $(723) $ — $ (723 $ —
(3) Included in other accrued liabilities on the Comy’'s consolidated balance she
As of December 31, 201
Quoted market
prices in active Significant other Significant
observable inputs unobservable inputs
markets
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash equivalen—money market fund $ 77,79t $ 77,79 $ = $ —
Available-for-sale securitie—Treasuries(1 144,56 144,56 — —
Foreign currency forward contracts 1,38¢ — 1,38¢ —
Total $223,74¢ $ 222,35¢ $ 1,38¢ $ —

(1) Included in sho-term investments on the Compi's consolidated balance she
(2) Included in prepaid expenses and other currentsaesghe Compar's consolidated balance she
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As of December 31, 201
Quoted market

prices in active Significant other Significant
observable inputs unobservable inputs
markets
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Foreign currency forward contracts(3) $(78¢ $ — $ (789 $ —
Total $(78¢ $ — $ (789 $ —

(3) Included in other accrued liabilities on the Comy’'s consolidated balance she

The Company'’s investments in cash equivalents aailadle for sale securities are classified witb@vel 1 of the fair value hierarchy
because they are valued based on quoted markespni@active markets. The Company enters intodareurrency forward contracts with only
those counterparties that have long-term creditgatof A+/A2 or higher. The Company’s foreign amcy forward contracts are classified
within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy as thang valued using pricing models that take into antthe contract terms as well as currency
rates and counterparty credit rates. The Comparifiegethe reasonableness of these pricing modgigjwobservable market data for related
inputs into such models. Additionally, the Compamgiudes an adjustment for non-performance risthérecognized measure of fair value of
derivative instruments. At December 31, 2011 anddbeber 31, 2010, the adjustment for non-performais&edid not have a material impact
on the fair value of the Company’s foreign currefmyvard contracts. The carrying value of non-ficiahassets and liabilities measured at fair
value in the financial statements on a recurrirgidyancluding accounts receivable and accountalgay approximate fair value due to their
short maturities.
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QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

The following table presents unaudited quartemaficial information for each of the Company’s kight quarters. This information has
been derived from the Company’s unaudited finarstatiements and has been prepared on the samasdsesaudited Consolidated Financial
Statements appearing elsewhere in this ForrK.10-the opinion of management, all necessarystdjents, consisting only of normal recuri
adjustments, have been included to state fairlygtreaterly results.

December 31
April 3, July 3, October 2,
2011 2011 2011 2011
Net revenug $278,82: $291,24( $301,80( $ 309,15!
Gross profil $ 87,78¢ $ 90,371 $ 96,31( $ 94,97:
Provision for income taxe $ 9,14 $ 6,747 $ 6,17¢ $ 10,78(
Net income $ 21,18¢ $ 20,59° $ 26,747 $ 22,83t
Net income per sha—basic $ 0.5¢ $ 0.5¢ $ 071 $ 0.61
Net income per she—diluted $ 0.57 $ 0.5¢ $ 0.7¢C $ 0.6C
December 31
March 28, June 27, October 3,
2010 2010 2010 2010
Net revenug $211,55! $195,94¢ $236,01° $ 258,53:
Gross profil $ 72,82« $ 69,56: $ 75,70° $ 81,15«
Provision for income taxe $ 9,85¢ $ 10,567 $ 8,43t $ 11,457
Net income $ 13,721 $ 10,46 $ 13,09t $ 13,62:
Net income per sha—basic $ 0.3¢ $ 0.3 $ 0.37 $ 0.3¢
Net income per sha—diluted $ 0.3¢ $ 0.2¢ $ 0.3¢€ $ 0.317
ltem 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants orcédenting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A.  Controls and Procedure
Managemen’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Repdrtg

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@orting (as defined in Rule 13a-
15(f) under the Exchange Act). Because of its iehtlimitations, internal control over financiap@ting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluatibeffectiveness to future periods are subjechéorisk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degfreompliance with the policies or procedures mieteriorate.

Our management, including our Chief Executive @ffiand Chief Financial Officer, conducted an eviidueof the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting as of @etber 31, 2011. In making this assessment, our geamant used the criteria established in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework, issued by Tommittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the dingey Commission (COSO). Based
on management’s assessment using those criterimpanagement concluded that our internal contret édwmancial reporting was effective as
of December 31, 2011. The effectiveness of ouriatecontrol over financial reporting as of Decem®&, 2011 has been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent regisfarblic accounting firm, as stated in their répdrich is included in this Annual Rept
on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reportm

There was no change in our internal control ovearicial reporting that occurred during the fourtlager of fiscal year 2011 that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to evally affect, our internal control over financiaporting.
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Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Based on an evaluation under the supervision atidtheé participation of our management (includig Ghief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer), our Chief Executive Officand Chief Financial Officer have concluded thatdisclosure controls and procedures as
defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) undeEttehange Act were effective as of the end of théogecovered by this Annual Report on
Form 10-K to ensure that information required tadiselosed by us in reports that we file or sulumider the Exchange Act is (i) recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the pieneds specified in the SEC’s rules and forms @hdccumulated and communicated to

our management, including our Chief Executive @ffiand Chief Financial Officer, as appropriateltovatimely decisions regarding required
disclosure.

Iltem 9B.  Other Information
None.
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PART IlI

Certain information required by Part Ill is incorpted herein by reference from our proxy statemelated to our 2012 Annual Meeting
of Stockholders, which we intend to file no lateah 120 days after the end of the fiscal year @by this Form 10-K.

Iltem 10.  Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Govene

The information required by this Item concerning directors, executive officers and standing cortesi is incorporated by reference to
the sections of our Proxy Statement under the hgadiElection of Directors,” “Board and Committeeebtings,” and Section 16(a) Benefici
Ownership Reporting Compliance,” and to the infatiotacontained in the section captioned “Execu@féicers of the Registrant” included
under Part | of this Form 10-K.

We have adopted a Code of Ethics that appliesit@€bief Executive Officer and senior financial o#fs, as required by the SEC. The
current version of our Code of Ethics can be foanaur Internet site at http://www.netgear.com. #iddal information required by this Item
regarding our Code of Ethics is incorporated bgrefice to the information contained in the seat@ptioned “Corporate Governance Policies
and Practices” in our Proxy Statement.

We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirementeurigm 5.05 of Form 8-K regarding an amendmentitayaiver from, a provision of
our Code of Ethics by posting such information onwebsite at http://www.netgear.com within fousimess days following the date of such
amendment or waiver.

ltem 11.  Executive Compensatio

The information required by this Item is incorpetby reference to the sections of our Proxy Stat¢mnder the headings
“Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” “Execu@@mpensation,” “Director Compensation,” “CompensatCommittee Interlocks and
Insider Participation,” and “Report of the CompdisaCommittee of the Board of Directors.”

ltem 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners alinagement and Related Stockholder Matt:
The information required by this Item regarding iggaompensation plans is incorporated by referéndbe section entitled “Equity
Compensation Plan Information” set forth in Iteraf3his Form 10-K.

The additional information required by this Itenirisorporated by reference to the information coved in the section captioned
“Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Ownersldianagement” in our Proxy Statement.

ltem 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, abitector Independenci

The information required by this Item is incorp@cby reference to the information contained ingbetion captioned “Election of
Directors” and “Related Party Transactions” in 8uoxy Statement.

Item 14.  Principal Accounting Fees and Service

The information required by this Item related taliafiees and services is incorporated by referéa¢be information contained in the
section captioned “Ratification of Appointment aflependent Registered Public Accounting Firm” apgpgan our Proxy Statement.
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PART IV
ltem 15.  Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedu
(a) The following documents are filed as part of tlEpart:
(1) Financial Statements.

Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourf&imm 56
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&td 201( 57
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the theees ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 58
Consolidated Statements of Stockhol’ Equity for the three years ended December 31,,22010 and 200 59
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the theees ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 60
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme 61
Quarterly Financial Data (unaudite 10¢
Managemer's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Repay 10¢

(2) Financial Statement Schedule.

The following financial statement schedule of NETAFE Inc. for the fiscal years ended December 31,12@010 and 2009 is filed as
part of this Form 10-K and should be read in codfiom with the Consolidated Financial StatementSIBT GEAR, Inc.

Schedule Il—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
(In thousands)

Balance a
Beginning Balance
at End of
of Year Additions Deductions Year

Allowance for doubtful account
Year ended December 31, 2C $ 1,481 $ (21 $ (125 $ 1,33t
Year ended December 31, 2C 2,03¢ (202) (355) 1,481
Year ended December 31, 2C 1,91¢ 217 (97 2,03¢
Allowance for sales returns and product warra
Year ended December 31, 2(C 50,78¢ 86,31( (78,890 58,20¢
Year ended December 31, 2C 42,60: 78,28( (70,09)) 50,78¢
Year ended December 31, 2C 38,317 67,34( (63,059 42,60:
Allowance for price protectior
Year ended December 31, 2C 3,14 15,68t¢ (14,909 3,93(
Year ended December 31, 2C 1,54t 13,01: (11,409 3,141
Year ended December 31, 2C 3,43( 6,56 (8,44%) 1,54¢

(3) Exhibits.The exhibits listed in the accompanying Index tdiBits are filed or incorporated by reference as phthis report.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyidthas duly caused this Annual
Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigtieereunto duly authorized, in the City of Sage]d&tate of California, on the 29th day of
February 2012.

NETGEAR, Inc.
Registran

/s/  PATRICK C.S. LO
Patrick C.S. Lo
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each pemshose signature appears below constitutes anairgppgPatrick C.S.
Lo and Christine M. Gorjanc, and each of them aligrneys-in-fact, each with the power of substitfor him in any and all capacities, to
sign any and all amendments to this Report on Fdi+K and to file the same, with exhibits theretd ather documents in connection
therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Comimisdiereby ratifying and confirming all that easfhsaid attorneys-in-fact, or his substitute
or substitutes, may do or cause to be done byevirareof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, this report has been signed belpthe following persons on behalf
of the Registrant and in the capacities and orlé#tes indicated:

Signature Title Date
/s/ PatrRicKC.S. Lo Chairman of the Board and February 29, 2012
Patrick C.S. Lo Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer

/'s/ CHRISTINEM. G ORJANC Chief Financial Office February 29, 201
Christine M. Gorjanc (Principal Financial and Accounting Office
/s/ JOCELYN C ARTER-M ILLER Director February 29, 2012
Jocelyn Carter-Miller
/'s/ RALPHE. FAISON Director February 29, 201
Ralph E. Faison
/s/ A. TimOTHY G ODWIN Director February 29, 2012
A. Timothy Godwin
/s/ JEFG RAHAM Director February 29, 201
Jef Graham
/s/ LinwooDA. L ACY, JR. Director February 29, 201
Linwood A. Lacy, Jr.
/'s/ GREGORYJ. ROSSMANN Director February 29, 2012
Gregory J. Rossmann
/'s/ BARBARA V. S CHERER Director February 29, 201
Barbara V. Scherer
/'s/  JuLE A. SHIMER Director February 29, 2012
Julie A. Shimer
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Exhibit
Number

2.1%

3.3

3.5

4.1
10.1
10.2#
10.3#
10.4#
10.5#
10.8#
10.9#
10.10#
10.12#
10.14*
10.15*

10.24*
10.25*

10.26*

10.33#
10.34

10.41*

10.44
10.45

10.46#
10.47#

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Description
Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of Septemb20@2, by and among CP Secure International Holtingted, the

stockholders thereof and the registran

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatiotihe registrant(2

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the registrat

Form of registrar's common stock certificate(

Form of Indemnification Agreement for directors afticers(2)

2000 Stock Option Plan and forms of agreementsthater(2]

2003 Stock Plan and forms of agreements thereuic

2003 Employee Stock Purchase Plai

Offer Letter, dated December 3, 1999, betweenedbestrant and Patrick C.S. Lo(

Offer Letter, dated December 9, 1999, betweenedbestrant and Mark G. Merrill(Z

Employment Agreement, dated November 4, 2002, letvitee registrant and Michael F. Falcor
Employment Agreement, dated January 6, 2003, betieeregistrant and Charles T. Olsor
Employment Agreement, dated November 16, 2005, émtvthe registrant and Christine M. Gorjant
Distributor Agreement, dated March 1, 1997, betwihenregistrant and Tech Data Product Managemeni{2)

Distributor Agreement, dated March 1, 1996, betwiberregistrant and Ingram Micro Inc., as amendedinendment date
October 1, 1996 and Amendment No. 2 dated July1988(2)

Warehousing Agreement, dated July 5, 2001, betweenegistrant and APL, Logistics Americas, Ltd.

Distribution Operation Agreement, dated April 2002, between the registrant and DSV Solutions Bdfmerly Furness
Logistics BV)(2)

Distribution Operation Agreement, dated Decemb&@0D1, between the registrant and Kerry Logistitsng Kong) Limited
)
2006 Long Term Incentive Plan and forms of agreegm#rereunder(4

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of Jul2@66, by and among the registrant, SKJM Holdinggp@ation, SkipJam
Corp., Michael Spilo, Jonathan Daub, Francis Rédehnis Aldover and Zhicheng Qiu(

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of May @728y and among the registrant, NAS Holdings Caatfion, Infrant
Technologies, Inc., certain Infrant shareholdeesehbf, and Paul Tien as the Holders Represent6)i

Office Lease, dated as of September 25, 2007, 8ypatween the registrant and BRE/Plumeria, LL(

First Amendment to Office Lease, dated as of APBil 2008, by and between the registrant and BRE/&ia,
LLC(8)

Amended and Restated 2006 L-Term Incentive Plan(¢

NETGEAR, Inc. Executive Bonus Plan(
114



Table of Contents

E)L(Jrrlrlﬁal;r Description

10.494 Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated Decem®e2@08, between the registrant and Michael F.drgl0)

10.50¢ Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated Decembge2@08, between the registrant and Christine Go(jeD)

10.514 Amendment to Offer Letter, dated December 23, 26@8yeen the registrant and Patrick Lo(

10.52¢ Amendment to Offer Letter, dated December 28, 26@8yeen the registrant and Mark Merrill(:

10.534 Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated Decemée2@08, between the registrant and Chuck Olsor

10.544 Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated Decembge2@08, between the registrant and Michael Werfid)

10.55¢ Amendment #2 to Employment Agreement, dated Sepge@ib, 2009, between the registrant and Christioga@c(11)

10.564 Change of Control and Severance Agreement datedhvidr, 2011 by and between NETGEAR, Inc. and D&ddres(12

211 List of subsidiaries and affiliate

23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, IndeperiRiegistered Public Accounting Fir

24.1 Power of Attorney (included on signature pa

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant$ecurities Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) / 15a&)146 adopted
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarb-Oxley Act of 200z

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuait $ecurities Exchange Act Rules -14(a) / 15+14(a), as adopte
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbi-Oxley Act of 200z

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuantdtioBe06 of the
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 200z

32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuaat18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuantctioBe906 of the
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 200z

101 *** XBRL Interactive Data File

# Indicates management contract or compensatorygularrangemen

* Confidential treatment has been granted as toingrtations of this Exhibit

**  Registrant hereby agrees to furnish a copy of thigted schedules and exhibits to the SecuritiesEamhange Commission upon
request

***  XBRL Interactive Data Files with detailed tagyd will be filed by amendment to this Annual RepamtForm 10-K within 30 days of the
filing date of this Annual Report on Form-K, as permitted by Rule 405(a)(2) of Regulatic-T.
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(1)
()
®3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)
(10)
(11)

(12)

Incorporated by reference to the exhibit bearirggame number filed with the Regist’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on
September 23, 2008 with the Securities and Exch@uagemission

Incorporated by reference to an exhibit fileithvthe Registrant’s Registration Statement on FSrth(Registration Statement 333-
104419), which the Securities and Exchange Comaris$éclared effective on July 30, 20

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32hef Registrant’s Current Report on ForrK 8iied on November 22, 2005 with the Securi
and Exchange Commissic

Incorporated by reference to the copy includedheRegistrars Proxy Statement for the 2006 Annual Meeting otiholders filed ot
April 21, 2006 with the Securities and Exchange Guossion.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the Ri&gn’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on July 27, 2006 with the Securities &
Exchange Commissiol

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed oayB, 2007 with the Securities and
Exchange Commissiol

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 &f Begistrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filedSeptember 27, 2007 with the Securities
and Exchange Commissic

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of thgB&an’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q filed on May 9, 2008 with the Securities ¢
Exchange Commissiol

Incorporated by reference to the copy includedheRegistrars Proxy Statement for the 2008 Annual Meeting otiholders filed o1
April 28, 2008 with the Securities and Exchange Gussion.

Incorporated by reference to the copy incluitetthe Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-kdilon March 4, 2009 with the Securities
and Exchange Commissic

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of thgiR&an’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on September 21, 2009 with the Securi
and Exchange Commissic

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of thgiR&an’'s Current Report on Forn-K filed on April 4, 2011 with the Securities a
Exchange Commissiol
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NETGEAR, Inc.

NETGEAR International, Inc

NETGEAR Global, Inc

NETGEAR Japan, G}

NETGEAR Deutschland Gmb

NETGEAR Technologies India Private Limit
NETGEAR Taiwan Co., Ltc

NETGEAR Netherlands B.\

NETGEAR UK Limited

NETGEAR Austria GmbF

NETGEAR Cyprus Ltd

NETGEAR International, Ltd

NETGEAR Holdings, Ltd

Netgear Poland sp Z.0

SkipJam Corp.

Netgear Asia Holdings Ltc

Netgear Hong Kong Ltc

Netgear Switzerland Gmb

Netgear do Brasil Produtos Electronicos L
Netgear Norway A

Netgear (Beijing) Network Technology Co, L

Netgear Asia Pte Ltc

Infrant Technologies, LLC
Netgear Czech Republic s.r
Netgear New Zealan

Netgear Australia Pty Ltc
Netgear Mexico S de R.L. de C
Netgear Belgium BVB#

Subsidiaries and Affiliates of the Registrant

Exhibit 21.1



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémt¢lee Registration Statements on Form S-8 (N8-B37718, 333-136892, 333-
136895, 333-151638, 333-160869, and 333-16834BEfGEAR, Inc. of our report dated February 29, 264lating to the financial
statements, financial statement schedule and feetekness of internal control over financial refpa, which appears in this Form 10-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Jose, California
February 29, 2012



EXHIBIT 31.1
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER CERTIFICATION

I, Patrick C.S. Lo, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of NETGEAR, Inc. (the*Registrar”);

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or en#ttate a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisleading with respect to
the period covered by this repc

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsotimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi:
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the Registrant as of, andfie periods presented in this
report;

The Registrant’s other certifying officer(s) drare responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and)1B§(e)) and internal control over financial reogy (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the Registrant and ha

a. Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and procedutes tiesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Registrant, including its consolidhgribsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, paftidy during the period in which this report isifige prepared

b. Designed such internal control over financing réipgr or caused such internal control over finah@gorting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readeredsurance regarding the reliability of financggorting and the
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples;

C. Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentadsineport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conantsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougrehis report based on
such evaluation; an

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the Regid’s internal control over financial reporting thatowed during th
Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the Regigls fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annyabrg that has material
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaff, the Registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The Registrant’s other certifying officer(s) dritave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over
financial reporting, to the Registrant’s auditonslahe audit committee of the Registrant’s boardigctors (or persons performing
the equivalent functions

a. All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectRegistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaiaé report financial
information; anc

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvearmmagement or other employees who have a significdain the
Registrar’s internal control over financial reportir

Date: February 29, 2012

By: /s/ PatrRIcCK C.S. Lo
Patrick C.S. Lo
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
NETGEAR, Inc.




EXHIBIT 31.2
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER CERTIFICATION

I, Christine M. Gorjanc, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forn-K of NETGEAR, Inc. (the“Registrar”);

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorany untrue statement of a material fact or angttate a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisleading with respect to
the period covered by this repc

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementso#imer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the Registrant as of, andfie periods presented in this
report;

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer(s) drate responsible for establishing and maintaimisglosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and)1B§(e)) and internal control over financial reogy (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the Registrant and ha

a. Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and procedutes tiesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Registrant, including its consolidhgribsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, paftidy during the period in which this report isifige prepared

b. Designed such internal control over financing réipgr or caused such internal control over finah@gorting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide readeredsurance regarding the reliability of financggorting and the
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples;

C. Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentadsineport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conantsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougrehis report based on
such evaluation; an

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the Regid’s internal control over financial reporting thatowed during th
Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the Regigls fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annyabrg that has material
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaff, the Registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5.  The Registrant’s other certifying officer(s) drftave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuaf internal control over
financial reporting, to the Registrant’s auditonslahe audit committee of the Registrant’s boardigctors (or persons performing
the equivalent functions

a. All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectRegistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaiaé report financial
information; anc

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvearmmagement or other employees who have a significdain the
Registrar’s internal control over financial reportir

Date: February 29, 2012

By: /s/ CHRISTINEM. G ORJANC
Christine M. Gorjanc
Chief Financial Officer
NETGEAR, Inc.




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of NETGEARg lifthe “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year endimtember 31, 2011, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ordéte hereof (the “Report”), Patrick C.S. Lo, Chairman and Chief Executivéi€2f of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section01 25 adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sasb@mley Act of 2002
(“Section 906"), that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeotsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exg®Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m);
and

(2) The information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: February 29, 2012

By: /s/ PatrickC.S. Lo
Patrick C.S. Lo
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
NETGEAR, Inc.

A signed original of this written statement reqditey Section 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to the Company
will be retained by the Company and furnished ® $ecurities and Exchange Commission or its spafiirequest.

This certification accompanies the Form KGe which it relates, is not deemed filed with 8exurities and Exchange Commission and is
be incorporated by reference into any filing of thempany under the Securities Act of 1933 or tleei®es Exchange Act of 1934 (whether
made before or after the date of this Form 10-Kgdpective of any general incorporation languagatained in such filing.



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of NETGEARg lifthe “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year endimtember 31, 2011, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ortéte hereof (the “Report”), I, Christine M. Gorja@hief Financial Officer of the

Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section012& adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sasb@mley Act of 2002 (“Section 906”),
that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeotsSection 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Aa@%84 (15 U.S.C. 78m); and

(2) The information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finanaaldition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: February 29, 2012

By: /s/ CHRISTINEM. G ORJANC
Christine M. Gorjanc
Chief Financial Officer
NETGEAR, Inc.

A signed original of this written statement reqditey Section 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to the Company
will be retained by the Company and furnished ® $ecurities and Exchange Commission or its spafiirequest.

This certification accompanies the Form KGe which it relates, is not deemed filed with Becurities and Exchange Commission and is n
be incorporated by reference into any filing of thempany under the Securities Act of 1933 or tleei®es Exchange Act of 1934 (whether
made before or after the date of this Forn-K), irrespective of any general incorporation larmge contained in such filin



